

COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF PHILADELPHIA
COMMITTEE ON LABOR AND CIVIL SERVICE

Room 400, City Hall
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
Monday, October 27, 2025
10:08 a.m.

PRESENT:

COUNCILMAN JIM HARRITY, CHAIR
COUNCILMAN BRIAN J. O'NEILL, VICE-CHAIR
COUNCILWOMAN NINA AHMAD
COUNCILWOMAN KENDRA BROOKS
COUNCILMAN CURTIS JONES, JR.
COUNCILWOMAN RUE LANDAU
COUNCILWOMAN QUETCY M. LOZADA
COUNCILMAN ANTHONY PHILLIPS

RESOLUTION: 250028

1 - - -

2 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

3 Good morning, everyone. We're
4 going to bring this to order to get
5 through here today. Good morning,
6 everyone. This is the public
7 hearing of the Committee on Labor
8 and Civil Service regarding
9 Resolution No. 250028.

10 I note for the record
11 that a quorum of the committee is
12 present. This hearing is now
13 called to order.

14 Mr. Kunkel, will you
15 please read the title of the
16 resolution being considered today.

17 THE CLERK: Resolution
18 No. 250028 titled, Authorizing the
19 Committee on Labor to hold hearings
20 exploring the Sugar-Sweetened
21 Beverage Tax and its impact on
22 Philadelphia businesses, trades and
23 consumers.

24 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

1 Mr. Kunkel, will you please call
2 the roll.

3 THE CLERK:
4 Councilmember Ahmad.

5 (No response.)

6 THE CLERK:
7 Councilmember Brooks.

8 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:
9 Present.

10 THE CLERK:
11 Councilmember Gilmore Richardson.

12 (No response.)

13 THE CLERK:
14 Councilmember Harrity.

15 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
16 Present.

17 THE CLERK:
18 Councilmember Landau.

19 COUNCILWOMAN LANDAU:
20 Present.

21 THE CLERK:
22 Councilmember Lozada.

23 COUNCILWOMAN LOZADA:
24 Present.

1 THE CLERK:

2 Councilmember O'Neill.

3 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL:

4 Here.

5 THE CLERK:

6 Councilmember Phillips.

7 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:

8 Present.

9 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

10 Okay. I want to start off with my
11 opening remarks. I wanted to talk
12 about why I have introduced this
13 resolution. I have been hearing
14 firsthand from my community that
15 the consequences of this tax have
16 been more bad than good,
17 particularly for our most
18 vulnerable residents.

19 I have heard from the
20 labor community about significant
21 job loss and layoffs that have put
22 their members in bad financial
23 situations. I have heard of large
24 businesses and local mom-and-pop

1 shops, many small businesses are
2 facing an uphill battle with
3 customers opting for alternatives
4 outside of our city or cutting back
5 on spending altogether. The result
6 has been a ripple effect of
7 closures and reduced economic
8 activity, which hurts our
9 communities.

10 I cannot emphasize
11 enough that the most concerning is
12 how this tax is perceived as a
13 strain on the most vulnerable and
14 poorest communities living in food
15 deserts. These neighborhoods lack
16 access to fresh, affordable food.
17 This added financial strain from
18 the beverage tax has put an extra
19 burden on our constituents. As
20 they face a loss of the SNAP
21 benefits due to federal shutdown
22 and the ongoing PA budget crisis,
23 our low-income residents need
24 support, not more financial

1 burdens.

2 I also know that this
3 tax is intended to curb childhood
4 obesity and to fund the important
5 public resource universal PreK. I
6 wanted to make it clear I and this
7 Council body recognize the critical
8 need for funding for PreK education
9 in our city. However, I would like
10 to explore ways to secure funding
11 and elevate more stable, equitable
12 funding resources that do not harm
13 our most vulnerable communities.

14 That being said, I just
15 want to make sure people know I do
16 believe that we should be paying
17 for PreK. It gives children a
18 leg-up. What I'm trying to do is
19 just figure out a more stable
20 funding source because the funding
21 source that we have right now with
22 this soda tax will not be able to
23 sustain it in any kind of a way
24 just to keep the 5200 kids that we

1 are serving now.

2 A bunch of states have
3 already gone to universal PreK:
4 Florida, Iowa, Oklahoma, Vermont,
5 West Virginia, Wisconsin as well as
6 the District of Columbia,
7 Washington, D.C. I believe the
8 state should be funding it. But
9 with what they have going on right
10 now, they can't even pass a budget.

11 So the bottom line is
12 that we have to figure this out for
13 ourselves because I don't believe
14 anybody is going to come and help
15 us. We're not going to get any
16 help from the federal government.
17 As a matter of fact, it's just
18 going to put a bigger burden when
19 they cut off everybody's SNAP
20 benefits.

21 For me, again this is
22 about stable funding, being able to
23 give our kids the education they
24 deserve. PreK is no -- it's a

1 leg-up for everyone. I think we
2 need to look at who is actually
3 getting the services of the PreK.
4 Not everybody actually should be
5 getting it. If you're making 150 a
6 person in your house, two-family
7 household, that's \$300,000. You
8 should not be getting this subsidy.
9 But there are people getting this
10 subsidy who are making more than we
11 make right here on City Council.

12 So that being said, I
13 would like to turn it over to the
14 co-sponsor of this bill, first
15 Councilman O'Neill, if he has any
16 opening statement.

17 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL:
18 Yes, I'll try to be brief. It's
19 very difficult on this subject.
20 This was a mistake from the get-go.
21 Let's face it, it was aimed at the
22 Teamsters, not the stores. It's
23 regressive to the point of we
24 couldn't find a more regressive

1 tax.

2 And just the other day,
3 there was something introduced in
4 Council and the Administration
5 supported it because it was
6 regressive. It was a 1 and this is
7 100 in terms of regressive. You
8 can't get more regressive. And
9 then you take the money from it,
10 which is enormous.

11 I represent the border
12 of Bucks and Montgomery Counties to
13 a large extent. Jobs are gone,
14 Pepsi plant. Why are they going to
15 keep those jobs in Philadelphia?
16 Businesses react. But the stores
17 that used to have a loss leader of
18 a two-liter bottle, and almost
19 every cart would have one in it,
20 that's still the same way in Bucks
21 County and Montgomery County.

22 In Philadelphia, you
23 need a second job if you're buying
24 that two-liter bottle. So it was a

1 mistake. PreK, everyone was for
2 PreK. Had there been a suggestion
3 of a tax increase for PreK, it
4 would have passed unanimously 10
5 years ago or whenever this fiasco
6 started. It's a job killer. It's
7 regressive. It's the most
8 regressive tax you could imagine.

9 It hurts people that
10 don't have cars, that are
11 homebound, people that are poor and
12 it shifts a shopping trip out of
13 Philadelphia to the surrounding
14 counties. It doesn't -- people
15 don't go there for soda. Once they
16 make that trip, they're buying
17 their weekly groceries.

18 The big purpose of this
19 was something that was made up,
20 made up out of thin air. We're
21 going to have these mega projects,
22 and we'll hear more about this, I'm
23 sure. But everyone in this Council
24 that represents a district has a

1 capital budget for their
2 playgrounds. It's split evenly.
3 It has been forever.

4 And this program,
5 Rebuild they call it, they didn't
6 decide to bring playgrounds up to
7 some minimum level where people
8 over the years may not have spent
9 their money well on their
10 playgrounds, even though they were
11 getting a fair amount. They
12 decided to build Taj Mahals in many
13 cases, money that was way beyond
14 the entire capital budget for the
15 city, one playground.

16 You know what happens
17 when you build a playground and
18 spend tons of money on it and make
19 it the envy of everyone, all the
20 playgrounds around it look terrible
21 by comparison, but you've only
22 funded one. You've overfunded it.
23 And I personally have had
24 experience with the Rebuild

1 program.

2 It takes forever.

3 There's more red tape. A job in
4 Rebuild costs three times what we
5 can do a job for with our capital
6 budget. Don't ask me why. The
7 bulk of this soda tax is what I
8 consider a failed program. Rebuild
9 is an unnecessary program. You
10 stick with the focus on PreK and it
11 becomes a manageable expense for
12 the taxpayer.

13 Rebuild is what makes it
14 even worse than the regressive
15 part, the job loss part, because
16 we're wasting money that we borrow.
17 So we have borrowing costs and
18 issuance costs on the bonds. I
19 voted against it. I would have
20 voted 16 times if I could have.
21 That's how bad this is.

22 We're not going to fix
23 it today, but hopefully it'll be
24 some things that will come to light

1 that may help us right the wrong.

2 Thank you.

3 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

4 Thank you, Councilman. I'd also --

5 yep, hold on.

6 We also have translation
7 services available today for anyone
8 who needs it. That being said, I
9 would also like to recognize that
10 we were joined by Councilwoman
11 Ahmad and recognize Councilwoman
12 Kendra Brooks for remarks.

13 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:

14 Thank you, Councilmember.

15 As a mother and
16 education activist, I've always
17 been a strong supporter of the
18 Philadelphia PreK program.
19 Investing in the care and education
20 for young children is one of the
21 most important things we can do to
22 improve the quality of life for
23 working families. Free PreK has
24 been a major benefit across the

1 board, improving outcomes and
2 reducing disparities in areas of
3 health to literacy to financial
4 stability.

5 When the city provides
6 free PreK, it allows parents to go
7 to work, go to school, which boosts
8 household incomes and economic
9 mobility. It gives children the
10 foundation they need to succeed in
11 school and puts them on a path to
12 avoid crime and violence down the
13 line. It also creates jobs, jobs
14 for child care providers, which is
15 one of our most important underpaid
16 professions.

17 Since 2017, over 20,000
18 of the city's 3- to 4-year-olds
19 have attended preschool for free.
20 And nearly all of the seats are at
21 providers considered high quality
22 under state standards. All of
23 these issues are near and dear to
24 my heart, which is why I cast my

1 vote in support of free PreK, along
2 with 80% of Philadelphia voters in
3 2015. It is a widely popular
4 program supported by decades of
5 research.

6 The Philadelphia PreK
7 program is only possible because of
8 the revenue raised by sweetened
9 beverage tax. And while I
10 understand that some folks see the
11 tax as a burden, I know for a fact
12 that our free PreK program is
13 lifting the burden for many others.
14 Child care costs are through the
15 roof. And for many parents, single
16 parents and married parents, the
17 costs will prevent them from
18 getting the job or starting a
19 degree.

20 The same families who
21 are paying an additional few
22 dollars for soda are also saving
23 thousands of dollars every year for
24 child care costs because of our

1 PreK program. When we provide
2 child care, we open the door for
3 parents, especially single parents,
4 to leave home and earn a paycheck.

5 As a single parent who
6 raised four children here in
7 Philadelphia, I know that free
8 childcare would have been
9 life-changing for me. And
10 continuing that support for working
11 parents is in the front line of my
12 mind today.

13 And also, when I think
14 about Rebuild, my community
15 benefited from a recreation center
16 that was rebuilt through the
17 Rebuild program. It's not a Taj
18 Mahal. It's a quality recreation
19 center in the middle of North
20 Philadelphia. It does not have
21 everything because I personally
22 went and bought a refrigerator so
23 the kids could have refrigeration
24 for snacks. So the investments

1 that we make in our city help the
2 people in communities.

3 (Applause.)

4 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:

5 And I want to say that families in
6 North Philadelphia, West
7 Philadelphia and across the city,
8 whether you're low income, moderate
9 income or well-to-do deserve
10 quality out-of-school-time places,
11 parks and recreation centers that
12 are available to them in their
13 neighborhood, that aren't decrepit,
14 smelling like piss, ceilings
15 falling down and safe places for
16 kids to play.

17 (Applause.)

18 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:

19 These are not Taj Mahals. These
20 are quality investments in the
21 communities where we live around
22 the city, not just Northeast. I'm
23 talking about North Philly,
24 Southwest Philly and West

1 Philadelphia. So I didn't want to
2 debate that, but I can't agree to
3 the fact that we're building Taj
4 Mahals. Yes, they could be better.
5 Yes, they're overpriced, but
6 there's something that we need to
7 prevent violence and provide safe
8 spaces for our young people to
9 thrive. So I can't go with the
10 notion that we're building Taj
11 Mahals.

12 (Applause.)

13 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

14 Thank you, Councilwoman.

15 Now, I'd like to
16 recognize Councilwoman Nina Ahmad.

17 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD:

18 Thank you, Chair.

19 Good morning, everyone.

20 It is great to see our young
21 visitors here. Welcome to all of
22 you and thank you for being
23 involved in our civic process to
24 see how we safeguard your health

1 and welfare. This hearing from my
2 perspective is to reiterate that we
3 are making sure you have a brighter
4 future. We are making sure your
5 health is well. We are making sure
6 you have an educational start in
7 life that is going to give you
8 prosperity and wealth later on.

9 So I thank you for all
10 your teachers for bringing you here
11 because it is a testament of how
12 this beverage tax has benefited our
13 communities.

14 (Applause.)

15 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD: Let
16 me be clear, benefited our
17 communities. This investment in
18 our economic infrastructure has
19 opened doors for small businesses,
20 women-owned small businesses who
21 had no ability prior to this to
22 participate in the economic cycle
23 of Philadelphia.

24 (Applause.)

1 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD:

2 They are contributing to our
3 revenue base every single day. And
4 I want to thank them more than just
5 the economics. They are changing
6 lives. They are allowing parents
7 to go to work with the clear
8 conscience that their children are
9 being taken care of. They are
10 allowing parents to advance in
11 different kinds of jobs that they
12 wouldn't have considered but for
13 this ability to have such extended
14 PreK resources for them.

15 So I want to thank this
16 community who has stood up and used
17 this opportunity in an excellent
18 way to transform what the future
19 looks for our children. This is
20 also an anti-violence effort,
21 right. And when you look at the
22 actual economic impact, we have to
23 count all of these things, all of
24 these things. The fact that we are

1 stopping gun violence, the fact
2 that we don't have victims and
3 perpetrators, the fact that those
4 perpetrators don't have to go to
5 jail, all of that costs money. So
6 your work is causing us to have
7 more revenue to give more services
8 to the City of Philadelphia.

9 So I thank you, and I
10 want to underscore very clearly
11 that big corporate structures know
12 how to pivot and change their
13 business model. You have to
14 change. Things happen. You can
15 absorb it and you can make sure
16 that your workers are taken care
17 of, right.

18 (Applause.)

19 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD: We
20 want to make sure people understand
21 that, that big corporate entities
22 have the ability to pivot unlike
23 our families who have no
24 opportunity to pivot if they want

1 to go to work and put food on the
2 table. So this is the pivot we
3 have given Philadelphians, everyday
4 Philadelphians.

5 And let's talk about
6 community schools. Those are the
7 wraparound services that are
8 needed. We need more community
9 schools. We need to make sure
10 those are the kinds of services
11 that our families have to make sure
12 they are co-located with services
13 they can use when they go to drop
14 off their children to school.
15 That's an excellent model. We need
16 to increase that. We need to make
17 it for all schools to have
18 community resources co-located with
19 our schools.

20 And then let's talk
21 about Rebuild. I missed part of
22 the testimony about it being Taj
23 Mahals, right. Why not Taj Mahals
24 for all our folks? Why not have

1 the best quality, you know, best
2 quality recreation centers so our
3 children want to go there, our
4 children want to spend time there,
5 our children can do things there
6 that everybody else in the
7 developed world do. Why are we
8 going to scrimp and cheat our
9 children?

10 We want to make sure our
11 children have the very best. We
12 live in the first world country and
13 yet we are begging for scraps for
14 our youngest citizens. We don't
15 need to do that. So thank you all
16 for being here, for giving a face
17 to who is benefiting from this.

18 Thank you, Chair.

19 (Applause.)

20 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

21 Councilmember Rue Landau.

22 COUNCILWOMAN LANDAU:

23 Thank you so much. I don't want to
24 take up more of our time because I

1 want to get started here in this
2 great hearing. But I too want to
3 thank everybody who showed up,
4 especially our little people, to
5 make sure that we can see who is
6 benefiting from this tax, to know
7 that this is extremely important
8 for the health and the welfare of
9 our children and our communities.

10 And sometimes we in a
11 city that is our large size with
12 our high poverty rate, we have to
13 make tough decisions that will
14 actually benefit the greater good,
15 and that's what we did here. We
16 made this decision to actually
17 benefit our communities, our
18 families, our little people, our
19 children and they are going to grow
20 up, whether it's just even watching
21 here today or knowing that
22 Philadelphia took a stand in order
23 to better their lives. So I see
24 the benefits.

1 Thank you for bringing
2 them here as Exhibit A as to what
3 we're doing here. And thank you so
4 much. I think it's going to be a
5 great hearing.

6 (Applause.)

7 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

8 Thank you, Councilwoman.

9 Will the Clerk please
10 call the first panel of witnesses
11 to testify.

12 THE CLERK: Rob Dubow.

13 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

14 Good morning.

15 MR. DUBOW: Good
16 morning.

17 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

18 Before you state your name and get
19 started, Mr. Dubow, I'm glad
20 you're the first person to testify
21 because this is about the money.

22 2023, \$73.4 million; FY24, \$69.6
23 million; FY 25, \$65.7 million.

24 What was the projected was \$71.2

1 million, big difference there.

2 FY26, \$64.6 million. Just so you
3 could see that the numbers are
4 there. I like numbers.

5 I looked at your
6 testimony. Some of the numbers are
7 different. I'd like to know why
8 that is, so please begin.

9 MR. DUBOW: Good
10 morning, Chairperson Harrity,
11 members of the committee. I'm Rob
12 Dubow, Finance Director. Thank you
13 for the opportunity to testify
14 regarding Resolution 250028,
15 authorizes the Committee on Labor
16 and Civil Service to hold hearings
17 exploring the sweetened beverage
18 tax. I'm joined by representatives
19 from various departments. They
20 have provided written testimony and
21 they're available to answer
22 questions.

23 And as has been
24 discussed, the beverage tax funds

1 invaluable programs, including
2 Philly PreK, Community Schools and
3 the Rebuild Initiative. The start
4 of these programs predicated on the
5 receipt of these funds. In the
6 rest of my testimony, I'll give
7 detail on how the tax works, how
8 much revenue is generated and quick
9 highlights of the programs that it
10 funds.

11 The tax is a tax on
12 distribution of non-alcoholic
13 beverage, syrup or other
14 concentrate used for bare beverage
15 that lists any form of caloric
16 sugar-based sweetener or sugar
17 substitute as an ingredient.
18 Beginning in 2017, the tax is at
19 1.5 cents per ounce of sweetened
20 beverage distributed for retail in
21 Philadelphia.

22 In FY18, the first full
23 year the beverage tax was in
24 effect, the tax generated about \$77

1 million and as was projected when
2 the tax was enacted, the beverage
3 tax receipts have gradually
4 decreased in most years since, but
5 not all. The tax is estimated to
6 have generated about 68 million in
7 FY25. I think you had an earlier
8 number. We've updated that as we
9 got to the end of the year, and
10 it's projected to generate 64
11 million FY26.

12 The trend aligns with
13 national patterns of reduced
14 consumption of sweetened beverage.
15 The FY26 to FY35 year plan projects
16 continued modest annual decline in
17 the tax. In the nine fiscal years
18 since the beverage tax began, it's
19 generated about \$620 million in
20 total revenues.

21 Revenues from the tax
22 help fund the following programs
23 and we have talked about these:
24 PreK, which increases access to

1 quality early learning by offering
2 free PreK programming to
3 Philadelphia children who were 3
4 and 4 years old. Since the
5 program's inception in 2017, PreK
6 has served over 30,000 children.

7 Community Schools, which
8 is a partnership among the City of
9 Philadelphia, the School District
10 and school communities to remove
11 barriers to learning and to support
12 the success of each student. There
13 are currently 20 city-designated
14 community schools serving nearly
15 13,000 students, and the Rebuild
16 Initiative, which supports the
17 design and construction of critical
18 improvements to parks, libraries,
19 rec centers and other public spaces
20 through a combination of grants,
21 partnerships with nonprofit
22 organizations and direct city
23 investment.

24 To date, 41 neighborhood

1 sites have received completed
2 Rebuild projects, including 11
3 completed in '25 alone. That
4 represents a \$90 million
5 investment. And Rebuild expects to
6 complete 14 additional projects by
7 the end of FY26.

8 The city's Capital
9 Program Office, Parks & Rec, Free
10 Library, Mayor's Office of
11 Education, the Office of Children
12 and Families and the Department of
13 Public Health have all submitted
14 written testimony and have
15 representatives here to answer any
16 questions. Thank you for the
17 opportunity to testify and I'm
18 happy to answer any questions or
19 have the appropriate
20 representatives to answer them.

21 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
22 Thank you, Mr. Dubow, for your
23 testimony. Right off the bat I'd
24 like to talk about the -- in your

1 testimony, you have the tax
2 estimated to have generated 68.2
3 million in FY25.

4 MR. DUBOW: Yes.

5 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: But
6 the Controller's Office number is
7 66.7. Your projection was 71.2
8 million, but we actually only
9 brought in 68 --

10 MR. DUBOW: 68 -- yeah,
11 our number is the most up-to-date
12 number.

13 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: So
14 you're saying -- the Controller's
15 number you're saying is wrong?

16 MR. DUBOW: It's dated.
17 Yeah, we have the most up-to-date
18 numbers.

19 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
20 It's dated. Okay.

21 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: The
22 decline has been averaging looks
23 here '23 to '24 and then '24 to '25
24 about 2 to 3 million every year.

1 If we pick up -- if we continue
2 that decline, right, before we know
3 it we're going to be having to come
4 up with a lot of money just to keep
5 this program the same. From the
6 inception, the city has allocated
7 more money to the General Fund than
8 to direct funding of PreK.

9 The Controller, Christy
10 Brady's, testimony suggests that
11 for tracking and transparency that
12 we allocate less to the General
13 Fund and more to its intended
14 beneficiaries. Why are we
15 allocating so much to the General
16 Fund? And do you agree that we
17 should spend more of this money on
18 the intended beneficiaries?

19 MR. DUBOW: So when the
20 program was first put in place,
21 what we always said was that the
22 programs were going to scale up,
23 that our costs would scale up.
24 That in the early years of the

1 program, there would be more
2 revenue coming in than the cost of
3 those programs and that would
4 eventually flip. FY24 was the year
5 it flipped. So we actually spend
6 more on these programs than is
7 generated by the beverage tax.

8 So right now, there is a
9 General Fund component that's going
10 in and that's always what we
11 expected. And it's working out as
12 we projected, in that way.

13 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: But
14 that wasn't actually the question.
15 The question is why are we
16 allocating to the General Fund?
17 And do you agree that we should be
18 spending more money on intended
19 beneficiaries? I just don't
20 understand why it goes into the
21 General Fund to then be paid out,
22 when it would probably be easier to
23 have a separate fund so we know
24 exactly what's there and what's

1 going to what.

2 MR. DUBOW: This is kind
3 of the way we do our --

4 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: How
5 much is actually needed to pay for
6 the 5200 kids that are enrolled in
7 the child care right now?

8 MR. DUBOW: So for the
9 5200 kids in FY26 we're estimating
10 that the cost would be about 73
11 million. When you add in Community
12 Schools and related costs, that
13 takes the cost up to about 83
14 million. When you add --

15 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
16 Another 3 million that was?

17 MR. DUBOW: It takes it
18 up to 83.

19 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: 83
20 million?

21 MR. DUBOW: Yep. And
22 then when you add in Rebuild and
23 related costs, it's up to about 110
24 million. So you can see the costs

1 of the programs are more than what
2 the tax is generating. So we're
3 not taking --

4 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: I
5 understand. We pay more for PreK
6 than we --

7 MR. DUBOW: -- beverage
8 tax money to General Fund. It's
9 going the other way really.

10 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
11 Yeah. We pay more for PreK than we
12 do to actually educate our kids.

13 (Background
14 interruption.)

15 MR. DUBOW: I'm not sure
16 I understand that comment.

17 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
18 Well, we're paying on average about
19 9 to 11 to actually educate a child
20 in the public school system and we
21 pay about 23,000 a year for the
22 PreK. That's just a statement.
23 It's nothing to do with nothing.

24 Is this tax a

1 sustainable way to pay down the
2 Rebuild bonds? Because this here,
3 we got 83 million, right. 65
4 million to pay -- 67 million to pay
5 for child care, right. So you're
6 talking what, we're already at a
7 deficit of money coming in. You're
8 saying in the General Fund we need
9 83 million to pay, but we only are
10 bringing in 66 million.

11 MR. DUBOW: And as I
12 said, this is what we always
13 projected was going to happen, that
14 eventually the General Fund would
15 be paying for a portion of the
16 cost. But without the beverage tax
17 money, that would be over \$60
18 million less a year and we wouldn't
19 be able to afford the programs. It
20 still is providing its intended
21 resource.

22 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
23 It's going to be up to 20 million a
24 year within the next six years by

1 the time the Mayor is out of
2 office. All I'm asking is how can
3 we better fund this? This isn't
4 stable. This tax isn't stable.
5 Your own numbers show that.

6 MR. DUBOW: So we're
7 doing what we project we were going
8 to do from the beginning, which is
9 fund it with a combination of the
10 new beverage tax money and other
11 existing resources. And we would
12 not have been able to fund these
13 programs without that beverage tax
14 money.

15 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
16 Well, that was fine and dandy when
17 it was 73 million and we were
18 bringing it in. But the actual
19 fact of the matter is now that
20 we're already getting towards --
21 this thing's not feasible. Within
22 the next few years your own numbers
23 show that we're going to end up
24 putting in -- before the Mayor's

1 out of her office, we're going to
2 end up putting in at least \$20
3 million. At that point what do we
4 do? This isn't about the soda tax.
5 This is about how do we fund these
6 kids.

7 MR. DUBOW: Yep, and
8 that's shown in our five year --

9 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
10 It's not going to be funded by soda
11 tax. We're going to keep on
12 putting more money out of the
13 General Fund each year taken away
14 from other programs. That's what
15 I'm saying.

16 MR. DUBOW: So our Five
17 Year Plan includes these costs and
18 shows how we fund them each year
19 and maintain a balanced plan.

20 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: If
21 we were in business and these
22 numbers were the numbers of the
23 business, we wouldn't be in
24 business long.

1 MR. DUBOW: Well, if we
2 were a business, we'd be looking at
3 all our revenues which is what we
4 do.

5 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
6 Okay. I'm just trying to get to
7 some real numbers here, is all I
8 want, Rob. All I want to know is
9 how do we fund this thing. All
10 right.

11 MR. DUBOW: Yeah.

12 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: The
13 kids are the kids that live in my
14 neighborhood and I want to be able
15 to fund it, but with the costs keep
16 going up and the take keeps going
17 down more and more, we have to put
18 out of the General Fund. As of
19 right now, we're coming up out of
20 the General Fund, what, \$15 million
21 already?

22 MR. DUBOW: Yep.

23 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
24 That's all I'm saying. I'm not

1 trying to -- I want to know what we
2 do.

3 MR. DUBOW: We pay for
4 it out of the General Fund, which
5 is what we always anticipated we
6 would do and we show how we pay for
7 it over our Five Year Plan.

8 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD:
9 (Inaudible).

10 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
11 Would you like --

12 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD:
13 Yes. Thank you.

14 Good to see you,
15 Mr. Dubow. Do you have any sense
16 of what the revenue generated from
17 these small businesses that have
18 sprung up since we invested in this
19 space?

20 MR. DUBOW: I do not.
21 That's a good question. We can
22 look at that and try to --

23 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD:
24 That would be very helpful to

1 actually see what is the General
2 Fund getting from having this
3 ecosystem of small businesses
4 spring up. And to the point of
5 General Fund being used to give
6 services, that's what we're
7 supposed to do. And I think the
8 City of Philadelphia is not a
9 business. That is not how we
10 operate. We look at the needs of
11 our people and we find ways to
12 underwrite those.

13 And when we get to a
14 place we don't need to do that,
15 that's when we know things are
16 working. We are still struggling
17 to get there. So for us, we should
18 not be operating as a business.
19 Government is not equal to
20 business. So let's be very clear
21 that we invest in our people. That
22 investment we want to see giving
23 rise to revenue, which is the
24 question I was asking you. And I

1 think that should be true of
2 everything we invest in, right,
3 what is the impact.

4 So I want in that
5 revenue calculation how much
6 violence has been impacted, how
7 much parents are generating and
8 giving taxes, paying in taxes
9 because they're paying wage tax and
10 they're paying, you know, taxes to
11 support our revenue base when they
12 go out and get jobs because they
13 have daycare for their children.
14 So we need an analysis that
15 actually factors all those things
16 in that tell us that this
17 investment of, what, now 68
18 million, which is putting back the
19 money we got and adding some to it
20 is beneficial because at the end of
21 the day we win.

22 And lastly, we have not
23 talked about this. Drinking pure
24 sugar has reduced in the city of

1 Philadelphia. That's what that
2 says to me.

3 (Applause.)

4 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD: As
5 the Chair of the Public Health
6 Committee, that's not how this
7 tax -- I used to be in the
8 (inaudible) government when we
9 worked very hard to pass this tax.
10 So I feel very connected to this
11 sweetened beverage tax because we
12 worked very hard to pass it,
13 understanding that we would benefit
14 people, but there's also health
15 benefit.

16 The fact that we have
17 reduced the revenue means people
18 are not buying this to drink it.
19 When I was little, soda was not in
20 my refrigerator. It was a special
21 dessert once in a blue moon I got,
22 not every day to have with your
23 meals. And we have a whole
24 epidemic of health issues that

1 comes with this. So we're not even
2 touching that in this conversation.
3 We're just talking numbers. But
4 there's a benefit to that. And I
5 would like you to calculate that
6 benefit, that what is happening to
7 our health outcomes because we have
8 less of this and that has an
9 economic value as well.

10 MR. DUBOW: There are
11 people from health here who can
12 talk to that, if you'd like. They
13 can come up now and talk to that.

14 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD: And
15 I would like a whole analysis to
16 take all these factors in to see
17 how this tax has benefited our
18 revenue bottom line.

19 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
20 Rob, before we bring somebody else
21 up, we have questions up here for
22 you from the other people on this
23 board. So if they want to come up
24 and join you, we can go back to

1 that.

2 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD: I'm
3 done. Thank you. Thank you,
4 Chair. Thank you,
5 Mr. Dubow.

6 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
7 Councilman O'Neill.

8 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL: A
9 quick question. Rob, from your
10 testimony soda tax doesn't cover
11 PreK?

12 MR. DUBOW: Sorry. Can
13 you say it again?

14 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL: It
15 clearly doesn't even get to cover
16 Rebuild.

17 MR. DUBOW: So it
18 generated last year \$68 million.
19 So it generates not all the costs
20 of the programs, but a part of the
21 costs.

22 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL:
23 Right, so there's no money left for
24 Rebuild.

1 MR. DUBOW: Well, as I
2 said to Councilman Harrity, we are
3 supplementing the beverage tax
4 revenues with General Fund revenues
5 and that's what we always thought
6 we were going to do --

7 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL: For
8 Rebuild, we're supplementing it
9 100%.

10 MR. DUBOW: So we look
11 at all the programs together. So
12 you can slice and dice that --

13 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL:
14 Rob, I'm going to go real slow for
15 me, not for you. 68 million comes
16 in, 73, whatever, 83, the cost. So
17 the beverage tax is not covering
18 PreK, Community Schools entirely.

19 MR. DUBOW: It's not
20 covering the cost of the three
21 programs entirely. The General
22 Fund is supplementing.

23 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL:
24 Right, but clearly it's not paying

1 for Rebuild unless you put Rebuild
2 first and then we subsidize more.

3 MR. DUBOW: Right, you
4 can put it in whatever order.

5 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL: But
6 we're putting PreK first. You put
7 it first. Everybody in this room
8 puts it first. So we actually have
9 a Rebuild program that we're paying
10 now out of the General Fund. I
11 mean, you can call it what you
12 want. You start with Rebuild, but
13 \$83 million is needed. Less than
14 that comes in just for PreK and
15 Community Schools and whatnot, on
16 that end of things.

17 Rebuild, no matter how
18 you cut it, no matter what the
19 Controller says, you say it doesn't
20 matter. We are paying for Rebuild
21 now that started as a soda tax
22 program. That justified the soda
23 tax program because PreK was a lot
24 smaller in terms of what the

1 projections were. And now, we're
2 actually for a capital program in
3 Parks and Recreation, we are paying
4 for it borrowing like we do for the
5 capital budget, but paying those
6 bonds now as a subsidy with
7 operating money.

8 Now, isn't there a limit
9 on how much we can borrow for the
10 capital budget based on tax
11 revenues or something like that?

12 MR. DUBOW: There's a
13 limit that's based on the 13-year
14 average of its best value but --

15 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL:
16 Right, but some formula.

17 MR. DUBOW: -- we're
18 well below that.

19 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL:
20 Okay. So we could actually just
21 move that over to capital. We're
22 only doing the same thing, but
23 we're using operating money. So
24 the biggest part of this is that

1 each Councilmember on the
2 Recreation Department controls
3 their own capital budget.
4 Everybody gets 1/10. But when you
5 take the Rebuild capital program
6 now subsidized entirely by the --
7 paid for by the -- bonds being paid
8 for by the operating revenues of
9 the city, the Administration now
10 has a fund for capital for
11 playgrounds. So I think it opens a
12 whole new area of discussion, not
13 for today, but how the money is
14 being spent by the Administration,
15 and obviously this Administration
16 hasn't had a lot of time in office
17 to get involved with this but there
18 was eight full years beforehand.
19 And I think that's where we really
20 have to go because we have a second
21 capital budget here that is not
22 called the capital budget. It's
23 called the soda tax budget, but the
24 soda tax isn't paying it. Because

1 capital budget bonds get paid out
2 of the General Fund. Now, Rebuild,
3 those bonds are getting paid out of
4 the General Fund. We're just
5 calling it something else. It's
6 capital budget. So I think it's
7 another discussion for another
8 time, but something's not looking
9 right here.

10 MR. DUBOW: So I just
11 want to take a couple of things.
12 One -- and there are people from
13 Rebuild here. They can talk to you
14 about how closely they work with
15 Councilmembers on picking the
16 projects. They're not doing that
17 all on their own. So I don't think
18 it's just the Administration
19 figuring out where those dollars
20 go.

21 And again, yes, you can
22 slice it and dice it to kind of
23 label it however you want. But the
24 key thing for us is that we are

1 getting funding from the beverage
2 tax that makes these things
3 possible. And without it, over our
4 Five Year Plan, for example, we'd
5 have over \$300 million less in
6 revenue. We wouldn't be able to do
7 the things that we're doing.

8 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL:

9 Okay. Could you do this for me,
10 not when you go back to the office
11 but within the next couple of days.
12 Just get me a list of every project
13 under Rebuild since the soda tax
14 started that program. Project-by-
15 project and cost. Okay?

16 MR. DUBOW: Yes.

17 COUNCILMAN O'NEILL:

18 Because we get under \$2 million a
19 year for capital budgets for our
20 whole district. I think it would
21 be interesting for Councilmembers
22 to see what those numbers were,
23 particularly in the previous
24 administration.

1 MR. DUBOW: Yep. And
2 Rebuild provides regular reports so
3 we can get you that.

4 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: I
5 got Kendra. Then you will, Rue.

6 Councilwoman Kendra
7 Brooks.

8 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:
9 Good morning, Rob.

10 MR. DUBOW: Morning.

11 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS: I
12 have one question. Can you tell us
13 about the funding for programs like
14 PreK, Rebuild or Community Schools
15 prior to the establishment of the
16 soda tax?

17 MR. DUBOW: Yep. They
18 didn't exist because we didn't have
19 sufficient funding to pay for them.

20 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS: So
21 there were no such programs. None
22 of these programs existed. And had
23 we not had this, those slots for
24 PreK wouldn't be available; am I

1 correct?

2 MR. DUBOW: Correct.

3 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:

4 And the rec centers that have been
5 built with Rebuild funds would not
6 be available; am I correct?

7 MR. DUBOW: Correct.

8 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:

9 And the Community Schools, programs
10 that I think we're up to, what, 26
11 around the city that are providing
12 extended out-of-school-time
13 program, educational programs for
14 young people around the city would
15 not exist?

16 MR. DUBOW: Correct.

17 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:

18 Okay. Thank you so much.

19 MR. DUBOW: Thank you.

20 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

21 Councilwoman Rue Landau.

22 COUNCILWOMAN LANDAU:

23 Thank you. Just want to be clear
24 that these three initiatives of

1 PreK, Community Schools and Rebuild
2 playgrounds, these are all part of
3 the Mayor's priorities, right?

4 MR. DUBOW: Correct.

5 COUNCILWOMAN LANDAU:

6 And I think Councilmember Brooks
7 just asked the most important
8 question I was going to ask is,
9 would we be able to fund this
10 without the tax?

11 MR. DUBOW: We would
12 not.

13 COUNCILWOMAN LANDAU: I
14 do not think we would be able to.
15 I would also suggest that more
16 playgrounds are great for
17 Philadelphia neighborhoods. But I
18 want to underscore the important
19 accounting that we want to see when
20 you break down the actual cost for
21 Councilmember O'Neill, that we
22 really do want a holistic look at
23 all of this; the reduction of
24 violence, the reduction maybe in

1 DHS placements in homeless
2 shelters, the entire reduction and
3 cost savings that we have from our
4 police department and others that
5 might be the benefit of having
6 these programs. It's really
7 important that we get the holistic
8 approach and that we get to look at
9 this all so we can see the cost-
10 benefit analysis. Because I think
11 the majority of us up here on this
12 panel think this is a great
13 investment. Thank you.

14 MR. DUBOW: So what
15 we'll do, if this works, is put
16 together what we think the analysis
17 should look like and then come back
18 to the committee and make sure that
19 we're capturing what people want to
20 capture.

21 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: All
22 right. Anthony Phillips.

23 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:
24 Thanks, Rob, for your testimony. I

1 just have a question regarding
2 something just numbers-wise. I
3 just want to be very clear for the
4 record, what percentage of the
5 total beverage tax, revenue
6 support, how many PreK seats are
7 available as a result of the
8 beverage tax and how many children
9 directly benefit from these funds?

10 MR. DUBOW: So there are
11 5250 slots. We wouldn't have those
12 slots without the beverage tax.

13 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:
14 Absolutely. And then how many more
15 slots are needed to fully fund
16 young people in the city of
17 Philadelphia when it comes to PreK?

18 MR. DUBOW: So that
19 would be a question for the PreK
20 folks who are here. So when
21 questions are done with me, I'll
22 also ask them to come up to answer
23 that.

24 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:

1 Yeah, I was wondering if they
2 could. I'm not sure if they can
3 answer that question.

4 MR. DUBOW: Do you want
5 to do that now or when they --

6 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:
7 Are they coming -- is that a panel?

8 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
9 (Inaudible).

10 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:
11 Oh, okay. I thought they were with
12 you. I don't think it's a panel.
13 I think they're with the
14 Administration.

15 Thank you, Sean. Sean
16 Perkins, he's with the PreK
17 Department with the City.

18 MR. PERKINS: Good
19 morning, Councilman Phillips. My
20 name is Sean Perkins. I am the
21 City's Chief of Early Childhood
22 Education. The question you asked
23 I believe was how many children do
24 we have in Philadelphia who are not

1 in kindergarten. Every year
2 Philadelphia has somewhere around
3 20,000 children born. That number
4 has been decreasing rapidly. Like
5 most metropolitan regions across
6 the United States, that number has
7 been decreasing.

8 I think in 2025 it was
9 somewhere around 17,000. So there
10 were about 20,000 children born who
11 are currently 3 or 4 years old each
12 year. So there's about 40,000 3-
13 and 4-year-olds.

14 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS: So
15 the City of Philadelphia --

16 MR. PERKINS: We put up
17 5250. Federal Headstart seats is
18 the other free preschool initiative
19 that's funded by the federal
20 government. They have about 6000
21 seats in Philadelphia. The
22 Commonwealth of Pennsylvania puts
23 up a program called PreK Counts.
24 That's about 5200 seats as well.

1 So we're at about 16,000 free full-
2 day preschool options for families
3 and we have about 40,000 3- and
4 4-year-olds.

5 It gets a little bit
6 more complicated, but I'll just
7 stop right there. It's like free
8 full-day preschool. The federal
9 Headstart, you know, that has a
10 financial requirement. You have to
11 have a certain income threshold.
12 It's at or below 110% of the
13 federal poverty level.

14 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:
15 So, Sean, is it 20,000 or is it
16 40,000?

17 MR. PERKINS: We're
18 using 20,000 for each age. So it's
19 about 40,000 3- and 4-year-olds.
20 PHL PreK, Headstart, PreK Counts,
21 those all fund 3 and 4-year-olds.

22 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS: So
23 16,000 slots between the federal
24 government, state government and

1 local government?

2 MR. PERKINS: Correct.

3 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:

4 And there's about 40,000

5 altogether -- well, if you wanted

6 to collectively pay for 3- and

7 4-year-olds.

8 MR. PERKINS: We aren't

9 even talking about infant, toddlers

10 yet. And I think that's a very

11 good discussion eventually to bring

12 up, but right now we're just

13 talking 3- and 4-year-olds.

14 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS: So

15 we don't even fund nearly half of

16 the need?

17 MR. PERKINS: No, sir.

18 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:

19 Okay. Thank you. That's all I

20 have.

21 Thank you, Councilman.

22 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

23 We're going to bring back up --

24 but, Rob, what I'm saying you keep

1 on saying it. This is like a play
2 on words here, you understand. But
3 the bottom line is the soda tax is
4 not paying for child care. It's
5 not paying for the Rebuild.

6 The fact of the matter
7 is that 83 million is what we need
8 for child care. 67 million is what
9 we took in this year. So already
10 you got the numbers, you're the
11 accountant. Within the next six
12 years, we're going to be putting
13 out over half of what we need just
14 to pay for child care. And again,
15 as my colleague Councilman O'Neill
16 said, Rebuild, forget about it.
17 That's all done with loans out of
18 General Fund anyway. I don't even
19 want to count Rebuild. Rebuild is
20 Rebuild. We're doing that anyway
21 because we're doing it with loans,
22 we're doing it with bonds. None of
23 this money pays for any of that.
24 We barely make enough to pay for

1 the child care. We need a more
2 stable funding.

3 Councilwoman Ahmad, who
4 was it that was supposed to answer
5 your last question?

6 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD:
7 (Inaudible).

8 MR. DUBOW: I just want
9 to say again that we would not be
10 able to do these programs without
11 that \$60-something million a year
12 we get.

13 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: But
14 I'm saying is we need to find a
15 more stable thing because it's 67
16 now. In six years, it's not going
17 to be 67. It's going to be
18 40-something. And then what? Now,
19 we're putting over half of the
20 money that we need just for PreK.
21 Forget about Rebuild. None of
22 that's getting paid. That's coming
23 out of the General Fund. That's all
24 I'm saying and you keep on jumping

1 all over the place. Bottom line is
2 this is the numbers. The numbers
3 are the numbers.

4 MR. DUBOW: You keep on
5 asking how it's funded and I'm keep
6 on telling you. It's funded in our
7 Five Year Plan. In the Five Year
8 Plan we do project that the
9 collections go down each year --

10 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: I
11 get that, Rob. I get that. I get
12 all the projections. I get all
13 that stuff. What I'm saying is
14 reality. Reality is that we have
15 67 million this year to put up
16 towards the 83 million. Within six
17 years, we're going to have to put
18 up almost half of it. So at that
19 point, what do we do, Rob? That's
20 all I'm trying to get at.

21 The money's not there.
22 The program isn't working anymore.
23 Look at the studies. You're a
24 numbers guy. All the Pew studies

1 say when you do something like this
2 out of taxes, you get about two
3 years out of it. We're almost 10
4 years in. And the fact of the
5 matter is the numbers show that we
6 cannot keep up with this. We're
7 going to end up paying for it
8 anyway.

9 So what is our recourse?
10 Are you guys thinking about how we
11 get more stable funding? I don't
12 want to mention stuff that's coming
13 down the pike, but I believe we
14 need to be ready for when some of
15 these state laws get passed on
16 different issues that we can go in
17 and say, okay, that's a more stable
18 way to fund this program. Because
19 right now the way I see it, at some
20 point we're going to have to make
21 hard decisions.

22 Now, granted I might not
23 be here for those hard decisions.
24 Okay. But I don't want to leave a

1 burden for future of the City of
2 Philadelphia. I want to find a way
3 to pay for this program and expand
4 the program. Right now we can't
5 expand shit. I'm sorry. Thank
6 you.

7 (Background
8 interruption.)

9 MR. DUBOW: So two
10 separate things there. One, how we
11 pay for it, that's why we have a
12 Five Year Plan, right, so we can
13 show how we pay for things over
14 time. Our Five Year Plan includes
15 the cost of these programs going
16 forward. If you're talking about
17 the risk from the state and federal
18 government, that's much larger than
19 just this question.

20 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: I'm
21 not talking about that.

22 MR. DUBOW: That is
23 something that does create enormous
24 risk for us and that is beyond what

1 we're talking about here.

2 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

3 Councilwoman Lozada.

4 COUNCILWOMAN LOZADA:

5 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

6 PreK, education spaces,
7 safe places for our kids to be able
8 to spend time with each other in
9 community, jobs, you know, so I
10 think for somebody like me having
11 one of the manufacturers in my
12 district is also important, right,
13 because they hire and they employ
14 from my district.

15 So I'm just trying to
16 figure out -- I guess my question
17 is have we had a conversation with
18 everyone at the table to discuss
19 how do we protect and preserve PreK
20 programs? How do we continue to
21 invest in our recreation centers,
22 many who across the city of
23 Philadelphia but, you know, of
24 course I'm going to focus on

1 districts like mine where there has
2 not been the necessary investment
3 to be able to upkeep some of those
4 spaces. And so, Rebuild was
5 extremely important and continues
6 to be an important program in
7 districts like mine.

8 And how do we protect
9 and preserve the jobs in our city?
10 How do we attract more jobs to our
11 city? And I ask that question
12 because sometimes the things that
13 make the most sense, sometimes the
14 things that are common sense are
15 not the things that we do and I've
16 experienced that in government.

17 And so, my question is
18 as soda tax continues to see a
19 decrease in revenue have we had a
20 conversation with both sides where
21 we can figure out how we make up
22 some of this money while still
23 protecting the programs that are
24 absolutely necessary because

1 Councilmember Brooks just mentioned
2 without this tax, these programs
3 would not exist, right.

4 And I have had the
5 question with some of our
6 manufacturing partners that say
7 because of this tax we've lost
8 jobs, right. And we are impacting
9 some of the very same people that
10 live in our communities that depend
11 on some of these very same
12 programs, right, because they don't
13 qualify for things like CCIS or
14 maybe we don't get the investment
15 we need in certain neighborhoods
16 because other people do qualify for
17 CCIS. So has that conversation
18 been had?

19 MR. DUBOW: We're happy
20 to have that conversation. I know
21 there were lots of discussions
22 about that at the time the tax was
23 initially enacted. I don't think
24 we've had those recently and we're

1 happy to have them again.

2 COUNCILWOMAN LOZADA: So
3 we have not had those
4 conversations. You're saying, no,
5 we have not had those --

6 MR. DUBOW: Not in the
7 last couple of years. When we talk
8 about these programs during the
9 budget process and they are part of
10 what we fund in the budget. So I
11 mean, we in essence have been
12 making up that gap through our
13 budget each year.

14 COUNCILWOMAN LOZADA:
15 Okay. I'm going to ask, you
16 know -- those conversations need to
17 be had, right. I think that's part
18 of our problem, is that we wait
19 until we get into committee
20 hearings, we wait until the problem
21 is so severe before we do the
22 basic, right, the basic thing,
23 which is have a conversation with
24 both sides.

1 Let's figure it out.

2 The City of Philadelphia has seen a
3 lot of crime. We've lost a lot of
4 young people as a result of violent
5 crime in our city. I represent
6 three of the five most violent
7 crime police districts. And so,
8 safe spaces, programs that allow
9 for a safe place for young people
10 to be able to play and grow and
11 learn and be in community are
12 extremely important to me.

13 Manufacturers and jobs
14 in my district are extremely
15 important to me. And I don't
16 understand how something as simple
17 and as basic as a conversation with
18 everybody at the table to figure
19 out how do we balance this out and
20 be able to respond to both has not
21 been had. I think that that has to
22 be prioritized, right.

23 You're looking at the
24 numbers. You're seeing the numbers

1 go down, so I understand my
2 colleagues, right. But you're also
3 seeing the need -- because you've
4 been in government for very long,
5 you understand the need that we
6 have here in the city of
7 Philadelphia as it relates to young
8 people and safe places. And so,
9 I'm going to respectfully ask that
10 a conversation between both sides
11 be had, that it is prioritized
12 because we can't do without either
13 one of them.

14 MR. DUBOW: Always happy
15 to discuss it. I just want to
16 emphasize again these programs are
17 funded in our Five Year Plan. I
18 want to make that clear. It's not
19 like we're facing a cliff where
20 we're going to stop funding these
21 programs. They are all funded
22 throughout our plan.

23 COUNCILWOMAN LOZADA:

24 Thank you.

1 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD:

2 Just to piggyback on what my
3 colleague said about these
4 conversations, this is a private
5 industry, right, who makes a
6 beverage. So isn't it the
7 responsibility on them when their
8 business model has to change to see
9 how they take care of the workers?
10 So while it's great for the city to
11 be part of the conversation and
12 maybe other corporate sectors,
13 philanthropic sector to get
14 involved, but the onus is on the
15 beverage industry to make sure
16 their business model pivots when
17 their product is having different
18 kinds of outcomes in what they
19 sell.

20 So I just wanted to go
21 on the record to say this is a
22 private business and the private
23 business has to figure out their
24 business model because of these

1 buffeting wins that they're facing.

2 That's one.

3 Two, what we fund in
4 terms of services we don't look for
5 revenue sources to fund cleaning of
6 the streets. We pay for that.
7 Those are services we pay for,
8 right. Similarly, you have a model
9 where it shows reducing revenue
10 from beverage tax but still we're
11 buttressing to make sure that we're
12 fulfilling the need of our
13 children.

14 How is this different
15 than our whole response to opioid
16 crisis and making sure we're
17 putting millions of dollars into
18 addressing that? No one is asking
19 a question how is that a revenue
20 neutral, who's giving us money to
21 do that.

22 So all I'm saying is the
23 City of Philadelphia is faced with
24 issues for our communities, and

1 this is a fundamental issue of
2 making sure our children get a good
3 start in life. That we know has
4 dividends that pay across the board
5 for generations, for generations,
6 not just in our lifetime, right.
7 So that's what we're investing in.

8 We are telling the world
9 that we value our children and
10 we're investing in them. We had a
11 revenue source coming from a soda
12 tax. It is a declining revenue
13 source. So we're going to build in
14 and replenish that to make sure our
15 children get their services they
16 need. And you're going to get us
17 the numbers of what that investment
18 actually has produced in revenue so
19 we can plug that number in to say
20 the General Fund is receiving
21 revenue from parents going to work,
22 from businesses opening this, from
23 teachers getting paid. All of that
24 creates revenue for us. So I want

1 that number.

2 The police being used
3 less, the incarceration is less so
4 we don't have services to give
5 there. All of that adds to revenue
6 being generated to fill the gap
7 that the soda tax is declining.
8 That's the hypothesis we need to
9 prove. I need those numbers from
10 all of you. Thank you.

11 MR. DUBOW: Understood.

12 (Applause.)

13 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

14 That's actually part of it too.
15 Every department's budget has gone
16 up, you understand what I'm saying.

17 Councilwoman Anthony
18 Phillips.

19 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:

20 Councilman.

21 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

22 Councilman. I'm sorry.

23 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS: I

24 just want to say that I couldn't

1 agree more with Councilwoman
2 Lozada. I think it is time. It's
3 very important that we have people
4 in this room who also -- they may
5 be on the other side of like
6 getting rid of the tax, but they
7 also believe in universal PreK,
8 they believe in the Community
9 Schools, they believe in the rec
10 centers and libraries. Yet it is
11 troubling for them.

12 And this is something in
13 our district, about half of our
14 district we shop at Fresh Grocer in
15 Montgomery County and ShopRite in
16 Montgomery County, Jeff Brown's,
17 you know, stores. So in some ways
18 it's like -- because it's at that
19 border and it's close to us. But
20 then there's a part of our district
21 that has to shop in Philadelphia.
22 And I get it in that capacity how
23 that impacts us.

24 Just like anyone, I

1 don't think any of us here are
2 willing to give up universal PreK
3 and Rebuild, but I think that the
4 analysis, the next step, level of
5 conversation needs to happen is how
6 can you work with the business
7 owners and so forth, the union to
8 help dive into the books and so
9 forth to really decide upon what is
10 feasible, what can be given, is
11 there something that they can give,
12 you know, is there a way to make
13 this all work.

14 So it's not as much of
15 a -- but the idea of giving up PreK
16 and all the other fabulous things,
17 we can't have. But I do think that
18 conversation needs to be had. It
19 needs to be not just one little
20 meeting. It needs to be ongoing
21 until you solve the problem
22 comprehensively. And I just don't
23 think that's fair that we just shut
24 them out like that. They're our

1 neighbors too. Thank you.

2 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

3 Thank you for your testimony. I
4 just wanted to reiterate this is
5 about trying to find out how we
6 find more stable funding to pay for
7 these kids going to school. I'd
8 like to see us expand this but
9 right now we can't expand it. And
10 the harsh reality is at some point
11 we're going to have to start
12 cutting things. It may not be the
13 priority of this Mayor, but this is
14 a program that's losing 3 to 4
15 million every year in the beverage
16 tax.

17 At the rates that we're
18 going, we need to figure out how we
19 come up with that money. I agree,
20 if we got to take it out of the
21 General Fund, take it out of the
22 General Fund. The God's honest
23 truth is we should be paying for
24 all of it, right. It shouldn't

1 have to be a tax. We need to make
2 our priorities where those
3 priorities need to be and pay for
4 our kids. I'm for that.

5 I don't want to get rid
6 of PreK. I want to expand PreK. I
7 want to see the City of
8 Philadelphia paying more towards
9 PreK and shifting some of our
10 stuff. Like some of my colleagues
11 said, things are happening and we
12 need to move with the thing.

13 This isn't about what we
14 do right this second today about
15 the soda tax. This is about how do
16 we fund this program for our kids
17 for the future. And that's all I'm
18 trying to get to the bottom here.
19 I'd like to see some of your
20 answers that were supposed to give
21 us in writing about the numbers and
22 stuff like that. Thank you for
23 your testimony here today.

24 Mr. Kunkel, will you

1 please call the next people to
2 testify.

3 THE CLERK: Leonard
4 Purnell, John O'Rourke and Jeff
5 Brown.

6 (Witnesses approached
7 witness table.)

8 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
9 Hello. Please state your name for
10 the record and proceed with your
11 testimony.

12 MR. PURNELL: My name is
13 Leonard Purnell. I'm the
14 Southeastern Pennsylvania Division
15 Director for UFCW Local 1776. Good
16 morning, members of Philadelphia
17 City Council. Our union is a
18 statewide union throughout
19 Pennsylvania and in small parts of
20 West Virginia, Ohio and New York.
21 We represent over 5000 members who
22 live in the city of Philadelphia,
23 with more workers who live outside
24 the city and travel into

1 Philadelphia for work.

2 Our largest bargaining
3 units in the city are the workers
4 at Acme Markets, ShopRite, Fresh
5 Grocer and Fine Wine and Good
6 Spirit stores. Our interest in
7 this hearing is the enactment of
8 the sweetened beverage tax back in
9 2017 and the impact it has had on
10 our members and the retail grocery
11 industry.

12 To be on record, our
13 union did not take a position on
14 this issue a number of years ago.
15 We are also not here today to call
16 for the full elimination of the
17 beverage tax. In addition, we
18 commend the City of Philadelphia in
19 its advocacy to secure more funding
20 from our state legislature for
21 Philadelphia's public schools.

22 Public School funding is
23 something we have worked on with
24 the entire labor movement in our

1 state capital to support our
2 teachers, students and our members
3 who benefit from a strong public
4 education system. We will always
5 continue to fight that fight with
6 you all and with our partners in
7 labor.

8 However, we do want to
9 highlight the impact these types of
10 broad taxes can have in a
11 traditional low wage industry like
12 retail, especially workers in our
13 membership who receive higher
14 wages, benefits and retirement in
15 this industry compared to their
16 non-union counterparts.

17 When you evaluate total
18 compensation packages for a
19 majority of the workforce in the
20 retail grocery industry, our
21 members at Acme and ShopRite do
22 much better than those in the
23 non-union spaces. Due to the fact
24 that many union employers carry

1 higher labor costs than their
2 competitors, taxes like these have
3 a larger negative impact on their
4 ability to absorb that cost.

5 This in turn impacts
6 their workforce, such as our
7 members. The beverage tax has not
8 only led to a slow-down in the
9 hiring of our members in the city
10 of Philadelphia, but also hours
11 reductions, less access to full-
12 time positions and in some
13 instances, store closures.

14 When you are a retail
15 grocer in the same industry that
16 isn't paying workers well, is not
17 providing affordable benefits and
18 does not have a healthy work
19 environment, you can absorb that
20 cost a lot better. Therefore, a
21 uniform beverage tax creates an
22 unlevel playing field. Your bad
23 actor employers absorb the costs
24 better due to their exploitation of

1 those very same workers, while your
2 good actor employers must make
3 tougher decisions that are largely
4 passed on to the workforce due to
5 cut labor costs.

6 We ask for a more
7 strategic approach as the City
8 Council examines the effectiveness
9 of the beverage tax. We should be
10 striving to lift up workers in
11 low-wage industries that are able
12 to secure good wages, benefits and
13 working conditions. Uniform taxes
14 such as the beverage tax create
15 larger hurdles for those specific
16 workforces, while employers who
17 take advantage of their workforce
18 reap the benefits of seeing a race
19 to the bottom.

20 Our union and members
21 commit to work with City Council
22 and all involved on a solution that
23 can support secure funding for
24 public education while also

1 protecting family-sustaining jobs
2 in impacted industries. We look
3 forward to see what ideas this
4 hearing will bring forth. Thank
5 you.

6 MR. BROWN: Good
7 morning. My name is Jeff Brown.
8 I'm the founder, Executive Chairman
9 of Brown Superstores. We operate
10 19 food stores in the Philadelphia
11 area, majority of which are in the
12 city, although we do have some in
13 the suburbs right outside the city.
14 That includes 12 Shop Rites, 2
15 Fresh Grocers and 5 Di Bruno
16 Brothers. We're from Philadelphia.
17 I'm not from enough state or not
18 aware of what goes on here.

19 I live in the city with
20 my wife Sandy and we're a union-run
21 business. Our pay and benefits are
22 much higher than most of my
23 competitors. We're among the
24 highest in the industry and we have

1 people that have been with us a
2 real long time. We just remodeled
3 our Roxborough store and I have
4 employees that have been with me
5 close to 40 years, one single
6 employer that watched after them,
7 they watch after me and we serve
8 our customers.

9 I think our values are
10 the values of Philadelphians.
11 Stand up for workers, stand up for
12 customers, even customers who
13 struggle and we have not been on
14 the sidelines. With my wife Sandy,
15 we formed Uplift Solutions, which
16 is the leading nonprofit to help
17 returning citizens get trained and
18 find good employment. We work
19 behind the walls. We work when
20 they get out in halfway houses.
21 And our firm employs an incredible
22 number of returning citizens that
23 has helped them turn their lives
24 around.

1 I'm a believer in PreK.
2 I was from the beginning. I never
3 once said anything otherwise. When
4 the pandemic hit and the PreK
5 operators -- by the way, the
6 operators are a key part of the
7 strategy because they are a lot of
8 small minority businesses. That's
9 a value that we have here in
10 Philadelphia. We want to help
11 small minority businesses. I'm a
12 believer in that strategy.

13 When no one else was
14 there, I raised money to help them
15 and keep them in business. I
16 talked to many of them. So it's
17 not like I'm here trying to hurt
18 PreK. I am for PreK and for those
19 operators and for those young
20 people because I'm their grocer,
21 and we're going to sink or swim
22 together and I know those young
23 people need that education.

24 I'm also an officer of

1 pulse, because when people have a
2 criminal record it's like a noose
3 around their neck. And we're a
4 nonprofit law firm and we fight to
5 get those records expunged or get
6 pardons for them so they could
7 reach their full employment. So I
8 am with this Council. I know this
9 Council is from the neighborhoods
10 and we all share values that I
11 think should make this a lot easier
12 because we know we got to do both
13 things.

14 Now, we put food stores
15 in food deserts. Most people
16 don't. It's hard. It's hard work
17 to do it. We lost one food store
18 and the beverage tax really hurt me
19 there, because it was right on the
20 borderline, on the Philly side.
21 But I have a competitor on the
22 suburban side. And a lot of my
23 business went to my competitor
24 because people, they're not rich

1 here in Philly. They struggle to
2 pay their bills and I understand
3 that if it costs you \$1 more for a
4 two liter and you want that, it's
5 your family's decision. They saved
6 that dollar when they're there,
7 they bought their groceries and it
8 hurt me.

9 We have two additional
10 stores that have struggled ever
11 since the enactment of the beverage
12 tax. But let's say roughly they're
13 break even stores. Now, this is
14 not about the beverage tax. This
15 is about the coming federal budget
16 and how it impacts us.

17 I don't know if people
18 are getting any SNAP in November.
19 It doesn't look like they're going
20 to. I don't know what we are going
21 to do, but I've been working with
22 the philanthropic community. I
23 don't have that kind of resources.
24 That's a big number. The

1 philanthropic community, the city
2 and the state do not have the money
3 to make up for the federal
4 government. That is very much on
5 my mind, what do we do for people.
6 Are we going to let them starve
7 during Thanksgiving.

8 In the same token, if
9 they get a little joy from drinking
10 the soda, we are taxing the hell
11 out of them, people who don't have
12 it. The average person who pays
13 this tax, the people have a car
14 leave. They go to the suburbs.
15 It's not far away. Sometimes they
16 go to my store in the suburbs to
17 avoid the tax.

18 The people left paying
19 the tax are the people with no
20 cars. They're often on
21 entitlements. They're about to
22 lose their entitlements, but we're
23 still taxing them. It's kind of
24 ruthless. It kind of is. The

1 people that have the money leave.

2 So at this point, it
3 started out as a regressive tax,
4 but really almost all the money is
5 paid by the poorest, most
6 vulnerable families. And they're
7 about to have a whole bunch of harm
8 to them done from the federal
9 budget, from losing their health
10 insurance. Even if the federal
11 budget is resolved, about 30% of
12 the people who rely on SNAP are
13 going to lose it because they're
14 going to have new work
15 requirements.

16 Now, these are people
17 that have tried to work, but they
18 have a lot of challenges. They
19 have criminal records often. They
20 have sick family members. It's not
21 so easy. A lot of them didn't
22 graduate high school. We've been
23 working with them. This is not
24 going to turn around overnight.

1 And these are the people we're
2 taxing. And that's the part we had
3 to reconcile.

4 Now, we made a sacrifice
5 for PreK, which I believe in PreK
6 and that is a priority. I wouldn't
7 sacrifice that. But I think during
8 the federal budget that we have, I
9 think we had to be a little
10 sympathetic to the people. We
11 really do. I think we really got
12 to think about that because that's
13 the one we're taxing. The lady who
14 goes to Starbucks -- by the way,
15 they closed all the Starbucks in my
16 neighborhood so they don't care
17 about us.

18 But the lady that goes
19 to Starbucks and puts the sugar in
20 afterwards, she pays no tax. But
21 the poor, underprivileged family
22 that lives in North Philly and West
23 Philly, they're the ones paying all
24 this tax and they're going to lose

1 their SNAP.

2 And I care about them. I

3 opened up these stores in food

4 deserts for them to help them. I

5 deal with them every day and their

6 problems, watching them buy their

7 order and then take items off

8 because they can't afford to pay.

9 We got to remember them too. Often

10 they're invisible to most people.

11 They don't hear their struggles.

12 But because I serve them, I see it.

13 So my conclusion is very

14 similar to what you guys have said,

15 let's be thoughtful about this.

16 None of us want to lose anything in

17 PreK or any of the other programs.

18 Let's sit down and figure out a way

19 to fund this differently.

20 Now, my revenues, 20% of

21 my revenues come from SNAP. So

22 November is going to be a really

23 tough month for me and a lot

24 tougher for my customers that don't

1 have that money. But if the
2 federal budget gets resolved, 30%
3 of them are going to lose their
4 SNAP anyway because of the work
5 requirements. Think about what
6 that's going to do to the beverage
7 tax. They're the ones paying the
8 beverage tax.

9 I would not be surprised
10 if your tax revenue is down 10
11 million or 12 million next year
12 because of the SNAP change. And
13 so, I think a lot of the
14 Councilpeople properly recognize
15 this money's not going to be there
16 either way. This is a smart time
17 to rethink how we're going to fund
18 this. And I don't understand why
19 the things we pay for in the
20 General Fund, like cleaning the
21 streets but our children are not in
22 the General Fund. I don't
23 understand that at all. They're
24 important. They should be just as

1 much a priority as every other
2 thing we pay for. Thank you. I'm
3 glad to answer questions.

4 MR. O'ROURKE: Good
5 morning, Council. My name is John
6 O'Rourke. I am the Vice-President
7 of Teamsters Local Union No. 830
8 headquartered right here in
9 Philadelphia. Thank you for
10 convening these important Council
11 hearings regarding the city's
12 sweetened beverage tax.

13 It is not a point of
14 pride that Philadelphia continues
15 to have the highest tax rate of any
16 major city in the country. The
17 need to reduce many of the city's
18 onerous and outdated taxes is
19 evident and long overdue. Perhaps
20 the most unfair and regressive tax
21 of them all is a sugar sweetened
22 beverage tax or SSP, more commonly
23 known as the soda tax.

24 It also has been

1 clarified that the sweetened
2 beverage tax was misnamed as it all
3 applies to all sweetened beverages,
4 including artificially sweetened
5 drinks as well as sugar sweetened
6 drinks and beverages. At last
7 count, the tax is levied on more
8 than 4400 beverage products in
9 grocery stores, corner markets,
10 bodegas and gas stations. That
11 even includes Pedialyte for
12 infants. It's beyond ridiculous.

13 The cost of the soda tax
14 to consumers, the regional beverage
15 industry, the city's small business
16 owners and our union Teamsters
17 Local Union 830 has been
18 significant, to say the least. A
19 brief history of the tax:

20 Implemented in 2017, the
21 soda tax slapped 1.5 cents per
22 ounce on every beverage that
23 contains sugar or artificial
24 sweeteners. It impacts more

1 beverages than most people even
2 know exist. Sodas, iced teas,
3 coffees, juices, mixers, sweetening
4 agents, sports drinks, energy
5 drinks, flavored milks, flavored
6 waters and many more.

7 Although the tax is
8 levied on the distributor, the pain
9 is passed on to the consumer in the
10 form of higher retail prices. To
11 make matters worse, the largest
12 consumers of the sugar sweetened
13 beverages in our city are
14 low-income people of color, those
15 who can least afford it.

16 According to a series
17 or, excuse me, according to a
18 series of studies on Philadelphia
19 Soda Tax published by Health
20 Affairs Journal in July 2020, the
21 passthrough of the tax from
22 distributors to consumers ranges
23 from 43% to 104%.

24 In addition, when it was

1 implemented here in 2017,
2 Philadelphia saw the highest
3 beverage price increase among the
4 five U.S. cities that had a soda
5 tax at that time, at 58.3%. And
6 the highest sugar sweetened
7 beverage sales decreased of 46.8%
8 in the nation.

9 Numerous other studies
10 have proven that the soda tax also
11 has failed to deliver the projected
12 annual revenue totals and health
13 benefits that it had been promised.
14 Supporters of the tax have clung to
15 the belief that the tax has at a
16 minimum made the public more aware
17 of the adverse health effects of
18 excess sugar in one's diet. That,
19 however, is a misrepresentation.

20 I work closely with the
21 member companies of the American
22 Beverage Association, better known
23 as the ABA, and know that they have
24 made a concerted effort to educate

1 the consumers on the health risks
2 associated with sugary drinks. The
3 effort is working.

4 Today 60% of the
5 beverages sold by the ABA companies
6 are zero sugar products. The
7 industry's tangible acknowledgement
8 that it must play a role in
9 protecting people's health is just
10 another reason to end the soda tax
11 that unfairly targets the beverage
12 industry to the exclusion of all
13 other categories.

14 If reducing the people's
15 consumption of sugar to improve
16 their health is your primary goal,
17 then why aren't we also taxing
18 baked goods, candy, breakfast
19 cereals and other sugary products?
20 Teamsters Local Union 830 has felt
21 the pain of the soda tax as much,
22 if not more, than any of our
23 beverage industry partners.

24 When the brunt of the

1 tax was first felt and the beverage
2 sales bottomed out, approximately
3 1000 Local Union Member 830 members
4 were laid off or reluctantly quit
5 the union altogether due to the
6 lack of beverage sales. The
7 average salary of those 1000 lost
8 Local 830 members was \$55,000.
9 Meaning, Teamsters Local Union 830
10 in membership salaries lost \$55
11 million in members' salaries.

12 The tax and its adverse
13 effect on the members' personal
14 financials took a mental toll on
15 them as well as leading to marital
16 problems, strife, home
17 foreclosures, divorces, even
18 suicides. Philadelphia sugar
19 sweetened beverage tax is blatantly
20 unfair. It punishes the citizens
21 who can least afford it. Those who
22 can afford, evade it by driving to
23 nearby suburbs or to New Jersey to
24 make their purchases. It targets

1 only one industry to the exclusion
2 of many other products that contain
3 real sugar and artificial
4 sweeteners.

5 The tax has also
6 undelivered on its projected
7 revenues. It's just one more
8 reason that our hard-working
9 citizens want to leave the city and
10 an obstacle to those considering
11 moving into town. On behalf of
12 Teamsters Local Union 830, small
13 business owners and everyday
14 Philadelphians in need of a break,
15 I respectfully ask that you use
16 your vote and your influence to end
17 or at least adjust the parameters
18 on the onerous sugar sweetened
19 beverage tax. Thank you for
20 receiving my testimony.

21 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
22 Just to get started, I'm a union
23 guy. I'm a union construction guy
24 and we get laid off. We go down to

1 the hall and they give us another
2 job when one is available. What
3 happens when your members get laid
4 off from the supermarket since your
5 union does not have a hiring hall
6 like some of the other unions?

7 MR. PURNELL: You bring
8 up a great point. Typically, what
9 we try to do is if there's a
10 situation -- well, first of all
11 let's back up. Jeff talked about
12 how sales are impacted. Sales
13 drive hours in our industry. So
14 with less sales, there's less hours
15 for our members, which
16 unfortunately could lead to layoffs
17 due to store closures, so on and so
18 forth.

19 But typically in our
20 union, what we try to do is maybe
21 try to find another employer that's
22 somewhat located in their area to
23 try to see if we can find them work
24 in one of our other employers.

1 Problem is, is that, as we talked
2 about with this particular tax,
3 like all our retail employers in
4 the Philadelphia area are
5 experiencing reductions as a result
6 of this. So it does make it
7 challenging for us to find work,
8 but we do try to find work in some
9 of the other companies that we
10 represent.

11 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

12 Right, but that's not guaranteed.

13 MR. PURNELL: No, it's
14 not guaranteed, not at all.

15 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

16 People can only take so many
17 employees, right?

18 MR. PURNELL: Exactly.

19 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

20 What does the average retail
21 supermarket worker make per year?

22 MR. PURNELL: It varies,
23 some of our contracts. I can tell
24 you that typically in some of our

1 stores anywhere between like 50,000
2 and 60,000 if they've been around
3 for a while. I can tell you it's a
4 lot more challenging in terms of
5 hours with some of the part-timers.
6 Because of the way the industry set
7 up, it's part-time in nature so it
8 becomes very, very challenging for
9 those folks to get hours because of
10 some of the things we're talking
11 about here. And that includes not
12 only the salary, but also that's
13 full compensation. So that's not
14 only wages, but benefits and
15 pension.

16 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
17 Right. Okay. I know your union
18 remained neutral in 2017 on the
19 sweetened beverage tax. What, if
20 anything, has changed in your
21 opinion after almost 10 years of
22 living with the tax for your union
23 members?

24 MR. PURNELL: As I

1 mentioned in my testimony, it's the
2 sales. The sales, as my colleague
3 Jeff Brown just talked about, we've
4 seen a reduction in sales. Sales
5 drives hours. So with the cut in
6 sales, it's a cut in hours for our
7 members so it's had an economic
8 impact on our members. And in some
9 instances, people have to -- I
10 think we had a location that may
11 have closed in that time so it has
12 created a hardship.

13 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: Do
14 you have any kind of an estimate on
15 how many jobs were actually not put
16 into the job market? I don't want
17 to say lost because of this, but
18 any, you know, we all know
19 averages. We hire so many people
20 per year, per thing. How many
21 people do you think this affected?
22 How many jobs?

23 MR. PURNELL: I don't
24 have an exact number. I can get

1 that for you, but I know that we've
2 taken a hit in our local union. I
3 don't know the exact number, but I
4 know we've taken a hit. I can get
5 those numbers for you.

6 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

7 Okay. Thank you.

8 And, Mr. Brown, how much
9 of your business depends on SNAP
10 benefits? What effect do you think
11 the loss of these benefits will
12 have on your business? What stores
13 and locations do you think the loss
14 of SNAP will affect? And can you
15 tell us how the tax has affected
16 your hiring and labor staffing?

17 MR. BROWN: So in the
18 city of Philadelphia, about 20% of
19 our revenue is SNAP. So it's going
20 to be a rough November if people
21 don't get their SNAP. Now, that's
22 short-term. Longer term of that
23 20%, Trump's plan or the Trump
24 Administration's plan is to

1 eliminate 30% of the cost. So if
2 you do the math on that, it looks
3 like long-term we're looking at a
4 6% reduction in sales after we
5 settled the budget. And the
6 problem is every store will have a
7 harder burden, but two stores in
8 particular that are just hanging
9 on. This could be the nail in
10 their coffin.

11 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: And
12 what neighborhoods are they in?

13 MR. BROWN: Southwest
14 Philly and West Philly.

15 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
16 Some of the areas where they were a
17 food desert?

18 MR. BROWN: Yeah. In a
19 non-food desert store, people don't
20 use SNAP. It's a very small
21 percentage. The lower the income,
22 the more the SNAP penetration.

23 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: How
24 about staffing and hiring, how has

1 that been affected?

2 MR. BROWN: We do have a
3 lower head count than we
4 historically had. And some of my
5 peers have kind of given up. I
6 mean, we bought out the Ammons
7 family this year. He sort of gave
8 up on Philadelphia. He said he
9 can't handle it anymore. And so,
10 we were loyal to the city so we
11 sucked that up and we acquired
12 them.

13 But I hear other peers
14 in the business saying that they
15 don't know about the future. Now,
16 you can't blame this on the
17 beverage taxes. It's been in
18 existence. It's SNAP that's one of
19 the problems. But if we didn't
20 have a beverage tax, over time some
21 of that volume would come back. It
22 may give a little relief to the
23 industry.

24 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

1 Thank you. And, Mr. O'Rourke, how
2 has the beverage tax impacted
3 health benefits and other support
4 services for your members? Has the
5 tax affected the financial
6 stability of the union? And how
7 has the beverage tax influenced
8 your bargaining power and
9 negotiating with employers?

10 MR. O'ROURKE: Okay.
11 Health and welfare, as you know, go
12 hand-in-hand with union membership.
13 Health-fare(sic) being your
14 benefits -- welfare being your
15 benefits. A moment ago I spoke to
16 the members lost in their salaries,
17 that's benefit and their resulting
18 troubles due to lack of benefits.
19 By lack of benefits, I mean once
20 the member withdraws, once they
21 lose their job, they have no health
22 and welfare. They have no medical.
23 They have no psychiatric. They
24 have none of that. Once they

1 withdraw their membership and go
2 away, they're gone. 1000 went
3 away.

4 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
5 1000 of them, that was my next
6 question. Your estimate is 1000
7 jobs were lost?

8 MR. O'ROURKE: Over
9 1000. Slightly over 1000.

10 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: And
11 just like UFCW, you guys really
12 don't have a hiring hall. Once
13 somebody loses their job, you
14 either have to try to find a spot
15 for them some place else or they
16 just lose their job; is that
17 correct?

18 MR. O'ROURKE: That's
19 correct, Councilman. The
20 membership has not recovered that
21 1000. And to be quite frank, it'd
22 be very difficult to do so because
23 our companies are all umbrella
24 under this soda tax.

1 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: Got

2 it. All right. Thank you.

3 Anthony Phillips and

4 Kendra Brooks.

5 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:

6 Thank you, Chairman.

7 So thank you all for

8 attending today. I just had a

9 couple of questions regarding the

10 beverage tax impact on your

11 business. I want to know what

12 adjustments have you had to make in

13 pricing, staffing or sourcing to

14 remain competitive, Mr. Brown?

15 MR. BROWN: So when the

16 beverage tax was first implemented,

17 we had one store that really got

18 clobbered and that store closed.

19 Basically, we have passed on the

20 cost of the tax to the consumer.

21 So that's why that two liter soda

22 is so much more expensive or all

23 the products are more expensive.

24 Whatever it costs, we passed that

1 exact amount on.

2 And we have stores that
3 lost 20% of their volume. The
4 store that closed lost 30% of its
5 volume because it's not the
6 beverages. The beverages were
7 never the problem. When they leave
8 the city to shop for the beverages
9 in the suburbs, they also buy their
10 grocery order there. That was the
11 problem. And that is -- in your
12 own life it's convenient. We're
13 time-pressed, so you won't shop in
14 two stores if you could shop in one
15 store. And we have adjusted to it.
16 So I'm not here initiating this
17 effort because we have adjusted to
18 it, except for the two stores that
19 are still hanging on.

20 But it's the added
21 federal cuts really putting a lot
22 more pressure on us. It hasn't
23 yet, but it's about to. And I'm
24 worried about the two stores. And,

1 yeah, there will be a -- we have a
2 big loss in revenue. Like the
3 union said, the hours go by the
4 revenue. It's a formula.

5 So if there's a loss in
6 revenue, there's a loss of hours or
7 positions. And then if a store is
8 losing a lot of money, then there's
9 a loss of the store. And now,
10 those are all likely things to
11 occur from the SNAP cuts. And so,
12 the one thing that's interesting
13 about the beverage tax, if we were
14 to tax a different way and got rid
15 of the beverage tax, over time some
16 of the lost volume would come back,
17 which might give a little relief
18 under these circumstances, and that
19 is a good reason to consider it.

20 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:

21 And I just also want to add based
22 off -- and thank you so much. You
23 said something earlier about how
24 can we find ways to add to the

1 General Fund, you know, support for
2 PreK and Rebuild issues and so
3 forth. That perspective was
4 intriguing enough for me to say,
5 you know, what do you think is a
6 more balanced, equitable solution
7 for this problem in a city that
8 supports both small business
9 survival and early childhood
10 education, Mr. Brown?

11 MR. BROWN: And when the
12 PreK people come up, you could ask
13 them about how it works. But prior
14 to this PreK program, when our
15 residents filled out an application
16 to get funded PreK, the application
17 will go through the state first to
18 see what they would pay for. And
19 my understanding is when we
20 implemented this new PreK, they
21 stopped that process.

22 And so, I do believe
23 that we should try to get the money
24 from the state first. And I do

1 believe because a lot of our
2 residents are low-income, our
3 residents would qualify. And then
4 what our money should be used for
5 on the city are for the things that
6 the state or federal government
7 won't pay for. I do think we
8 should take another look at that.

9 And in taxing, if you
10 pick a particular thing and you tax
11 it, you kill it and you lose the
12 business and you lose the tax.
13 General taxes, they're better for
14 the city because they get spread
15 out over a much wider base.

16 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS: Of
17 where the funds --

18 MR. BROWN: Yeah.

19 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:
20 So, yeah, I believe that this task
21 was very particular, because as you
22 know, we have yet to get the full
23 funds that we need from the state
24 of Pennsylvania. And similarly,

1 we're going to be dealing with
2 school facilities in a way where we
3 have to take care of our own
4 problem because we don't have the
5 funds in the state of Pennsylvania.
6 And so, yeah, I think this is to
7 help us solve our own problem
8 again, which is an issue.

9 Last question I have for
10 the Union Teamsters and you,
11 Mr. Brown. What conversations have
12 you and the City of Philadelphia
13 had about really preserving,
14 finding ways to mitigate this tax
15 or coming up with new solutions
16 around this issue? Have you worked
17 with the city since 2017 in a
18 working group or ongoingly about
19 this?

20 MR. O'ROURKE: Okay.
21 The tax was enacted in 2017 I
22 believe.

23 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:
24 Yes.

1 MR. O'ROURKE: Okay.

2 Prior to that, we were in active
3 roles with the then mayor talking
4 with him over issues to try to
5 resolve it and keep it at bay and
6 not go down that path. They did,
7 however, go down that path and
8 elect it in. At that point, it has
9 been a fight.

10 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS: So

11 I appreciate this. I appreciate
12 hearing the testimony today. So
13 I'm an individual that if someone
14 has a different opinion of me, I
15 don't just run away from it. I try
16 to have a conversation, to
17 understand, empathize where that
18 person is coming from and come to a
19 healthy balance. I've always been
20 that way. I can't help myself. I
21 was never like that fighter person.

22 So what I would love to
23 see is a working group between the
24 Administration, labor business as

1 well as the child advocate
2 organizations to figure out how do
3 we come into a happy medium,
4 because this conversation is going
5 to be continuing to divide our city
6 in a way that it doesn't need to be
7 hostile. I don't think it needs to
8 be hostile. Because what I am
9 hearing, which is different, is
10 that you all are interested in
11 sustaining these programs somehow
12 in the city, but I think there may
13 be a way to do that where it's not
14 harmful to anyone.

15 MR. O'ROURKE: So to
16 jump on that again, Councilman, I
17 agree with you. Okay. I am a
18 lifelong Philadelphian, 61 years.
19 My children live here. My
20 grandchildren live here. They go
21 to school. Some of them go to
22 public. Some of them go to
23 parochial school. Not against
24 PreK. We're all for PreK, all for

1 kids. Okay. Our membership, we
2 say the children are our future.
3 Our seniors are our past and the
4 children are our future.

5 We are more than willing
6 and able and have been and have
7 talked to different Councilpeople
8 over the years to try to resolve
9 this issue. And a lot of the
10 Councilpeople have been on our
11 picket lines when we needed them
12 and we will be there for you when
13 you need us. So we would like to
14 see something happen here, an
15 adjustment. Something needs to
16 change.

17 COUNCILMAN PHILLIPS:

18 Thank you so much, Chairman.

19 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

20 Councilwoman Brooks and then
21 Councilwoman Lozada.

22 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:

23 Thank you so much, Councilmember.

24 I have a bunch of

1 questions. He's shaking -- Jeff,
2 you already knew I was going to
3 have a bunch of questions. I just
4 want to start off, so before I was
5 elected into office, I was a
6 community organizer and activist.
7 My project was the soda tax as an
8 activist organizer, so I'm coming
9 from that perspective. But also
10 since I've been in office, I'm very
11 pragmatic. I believe in having
12 this conversation and not being
13 excluded because people think I'm
14 going to be an automatic no, so
15 let's start there.

16 And also, I'm happy that
17 you guys are open for a
18 conversation because the
19 conversation and the work has to be
20 done before elimination. I think
21 our Council body as a whole, and
22 I'm not speaking for everyone, but
23 what I'm hearing is we're not
24 against a negotiation towards

1 something new. We're against X-ing
2 out this program without having
3 something in place to sustain PreK,
4 Rebuild and Community Schools or
5 some iteration of that.

6 And some of where my
7 questions are coming from, I'm kind
8 of going off script so my staff can
9 just know that I'm not seeing any
10 of that. One of my questions is
11 around -- earlier someone said this
12 is about supporting small business.
13 And I just want to remind that
14 child care facilities and child
15 care is a small business. It's
16 primarily women ran and in
17 Philadelphia in general, a minority
18 women-ran industry where they're
19 gaining money and they just took a
20 huge hit off of our business,
21 \$100,000 tax exempting thing with
22 our business cuts in the city. So
23 our child care providers are
24 getting ready to be slapped in the

1 face at the end of this year anyway
2 because they have to pay taxes on
3 the first \$100,000 of their income.
4 That's one thing. So they need to
5 be a part of the conversation. And
6 they're also not unionized, so we
7 can't exclude them from that
8 conversation. So we're thinking
9 about this, all of these things
10 should be included.

11 And then also, I was
12 wondering for the union members, do
13 you know how many of your union
14 members benefit from any of these
15 programs that we're talking about
16 eliminating before a conversation?
17 How many benefit from whether it's
18 Philadelphia PreK or ELRC program,
19 which is the state program that you
20 mentioned that you can qualify,
21 especially if -- I'm not sure about
22 your members, but your members make
23 \$50,000 to \$60,000, so some of
24 them, depending on how many

1 children in their family size,
2 still will qualify for the state
3 program. However, once you hit the
4 threshold, Philadelphia PreK has
5 expanded it to include folks that
6 might have one child at \$60,000 a
7 year. That \$250 a week on that
8 income is a huge hit regardless if
9 you're working or unemployed. So
10 that's one of my questions. Do you
11 know that number and how many
12 people did it affect? That should
13 be a part of the conversation that
14 you're having, not just with the
15 government, but in union
16 negotiation because union members
17 have children and child care too.
18 It has a huge impact.

19 And my other thing is
20 around, yes, the union negotiation
21 around child care because women are
22 usually the sole caretakers or
23 worrying about that, so if there
24 are women within your industry,

1 child care hugely impacts them so
2 that can't be off the table. And
3 some of these child care programs
4 will still be impacted or available
5 to them if they're unemployed once
6 your services that -- I don't know
7 what you said, you go and look for
8 a job and check in?

9 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: The
10 Union Hall.

11 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:
12 Union Hall, whatever. In order to
13 go to the Union Hall, somebody has
14 to watch the kids for you to do
15 that, right. In order for you to go
16 to an employment office, someone
17 has to watch your children to do
18 that. So child care has to be in
19 place. And I would love if in the
20 negotiation conversation we're not
21 excluding the reality that child
22 care makes everything else work.
23 That's the root of everything else.

24 (Applause.)

1 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:

2 And I have these notes all over.

3 I've been taking it down as you

4 spoke. The other thing, I'm really

5 concerned about, you know, we all

6 are concerned about the cuts that

7 our current President, his whole

8 insight on things. And if we're

9 talking about the negotiation about

10 expanding the sugar tax because I'm

11 not -- you mentioned cakes and

12 cookies. I don't care what it is.

13 I know that we need to pay for

14 child care, right.

15 We can expand the sugar

16 tax, increase the sugar tax

17 decrease the percentage, expand the

18 percentage. We can figure that out

19 in negotiation. But my fear is

20 he's talking about eliminating you

21 from being able to buy any of this

22 stuff on SNAP. So I think that's

23 part of the conversation but not

24 the only conversation, because the

1 reality is we don't know what food
2 stamps is even going to look like
3 over the next three years, whether
4 we're talking about SNAP benefits
5 or someone's paying out of pocket.
6 So I think that has to be factored
7 into the conversation because our
8 current President is unstable and
9 kind of randomly makes decisions
10 that affects all of us. And that's
11 why this conversation, it can't
12 just be about business industry, it
13 can't just be about union. It has
14 to include the people. Because at
15 the end of the day, we're all
16 collateral damage to him.

17 And I think if we don't
18 include everyone in this
19 conversation, the elimination of
20 food stamp benefits is huge. We
21 see it coming in November. Even if
22 he does reinstate it, he's talking
23 about eliminating you being able to
24 buy sugary products in general,

1 which is still going to impact your
2 bottom line, which is still going
3 to impact union membership. So we
4 can't just allow this to be the
5 conversation.

6 (Applause.)

7 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS: It
8 has to be all inclusive of all the
9 things that are coming down the
10 pike. And I know it was a bunch of
11 questions and a bunch of thoughts,
12 but these are the things that I'm
13 walking away from this hearing
14 with, because I'm going to have to
15 run off to a picket line, but the
16 reality is all of these things have
17 to be taken in consideration.

18 And I don't want us to
19 feel that we can eliminate certain
20 members from this conversation just
21 because you know that they're going
22 to be not silent like -- I'm good
23 for a good confrontation. I can go
24 back and forth all day when some of

1 my members won't.

2 However, this is how we
3 get good legislation, right, and
4 then we want it to be better than
5 what we created back in 2017. You
6 said 2017 was the year, right? We
7 need to make sure everyone is at
8 the table and being realistic of
9 all of the impacts we see coming
10 down the pike, from the federal
11 government to the loss of education
12 benefits across the board.

13 And we're talking about
14 the state is going to fund it. The
15 state can't even set a budget. The
16 federal government is talking about
17 cutting education in general. So
18 we're at the brink of a crisis and
19 the people who are going to be hit
20 most are our poor folks and our
21 children. So I would love for this
22 conversation to continue, but we
23 can't start with the elimination of
24 the soda tax.

1 We have to start with a
2 conversation of all these other
3 intricate issues that can get us to
4 a good place where our industry and
5 economy could grow, and the
6 industry people that keep you
7 making money and keep the industry
8 growing are able to take care of
9 their families at the same time.
10 Thank you.

11 (Applause.)

12 MR. BROWN:
13 Councilwoman, before you leave I
14 don't think anyone expects any
15 changes unless we figure out a
16 better way to do it because that
17 wouldn't make any sense. We don't
18 want PreK to fall apart. I
19 understand that. I think everyone
20 understands that. It's about a
21 conversation of how could we do
22 this in a better way, a more
23 sustainable way, so I agree with
24 you there.

1 The problem with the
2 city taxing items is the suburbs,
3 if they don't tax the same items
4 we're driving our consumers outside
5 the city. So a broad-based tax,
6 which makes it very small and a lot
7 of things, is more palatable where
8 you don't kill an individual
9 industry. I think whatever we do
10 probably has to be more broad-
11 based.

12 And I wanted to mention
13 that a lot of my employees couldn't
14 work without their kids being in
15 PreK or daycare, and it's been
16 probably 40 years as part of our
17 contract with Local 1776 we do have
18 day care benefits, so a lot of my
19 employees have included in their
20 contract paid for, paid for by us,
21 administered by the union, that
22 they could -- especially in
23 Philadelphia, a lot of my employees
24 take advantage of that. So you're

1 right about that. Other unions
2 should do it as well.

3 MR. PURNELL: And I'm a
4 trustee on that fund too.

5 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:
6 Thank you. I'm glad you guys are
7 doing that. That's very important.

8 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: And
9 I'm glad, Jeff, that you brought up
10 about different options and maybe
11 stretching it across other stuff
12 that may help or maybe doing this,
13 but that's what this is about.
14 This is figuring out how again we
15 make it sustainable. None of us
16 want to get rid of PreK. Let's
17 make that absolutely, positively
18 clear.

19 PreK is a must,
20 especially in neighborhoods like
21 where I come from and the rest of
22 our Councilpeople come from. We
23 need it. It's not a thing. I,
24 myself, believe we should be paying

1 for it as a city. I would also
2 like to see us expand it. But that
3 is a conversation on how we do
4 this.

5 Because the bottom line
6 is within a few years, the soda tax
7 is not going to be feasible. We're
8 already putting up a lot of money
9 to just get the status quo. That's
10 not advancing this any further.
11 That's not including more kids,
12 because we have more kids that need
13 it in Philadelphia. Maybe that
14 also is looking at some of the
15 parameters that we have set up
16 already for the income levels and
17 stuff like that.

18 And I know that part of
19 that reason we didn't have the
20 income levels is because we wanted
21 to make up for what the state and
22 feds were not covering. So I'm
23 glad to see that people are willing
24 to have the conversation. That's

1 what this is about, trying to put
2 some people in a room from both
3 sides to say this isn't working
4 anymore, what do we do to move
5 forward in order to keep child care
6 at least where it's at, more
7 importantly, to expand it. And
8 that's all that is.

9 And there's a lot of
10 different ways we could do that.
11 There's some big companies here,
12 you know, that might want a tax
13 deduction or just making a
14 donation. A donation for them is
15 probably cheaper than the tax, you
16 understand. So maybe we can get
17 some of these big companies to
18 throw up some money also in order
19 to cut the burden of this.

20 Is there any more
21 questions? Councilwoman, anyone,
22 no?

23 COUNCILWOMAN LOZADA:
24 I'm sorry. I don't think it makes

1 sense for us to continue to be
2 repetitive, right. I think
3 everyone has said it. There needs
4 to be a conversation as a
5 legislative body. Councilmember
6 Minority Leader Brooks and I were
7 just having a conversation about
8 the need for us to create a working
9 group within the legislative body
10 to be able to look at this and
11 create some type of analysis and
12 partner with all of you to be able
13 to bring in your expertise, right.

14 And how do we figure
15 out, you know, the last thing we
16 want to do is impact members or the
17 workforce around removing programs
18 that impact them, right, because
19 then they can't work. But to me,
20 I'm extremely frustrated because
21 we've been looking at this since
22 2017, right. There's no reason why
23 we haven't brought you to the table
24 to have a conversation about how

1 this is impacting business,
2 families and children, right.
3 There's just no reason for that.

4 And so, I would like to
5 consider myself a commonsense type
6 of individual and we shouldn't get
7 here without having had all of
8 those conversations, without
9 talking to Chamber, any of our
10 Chamber of Commerces that represent
11 businesses, without talking to
12 anyone in the industry, without
13 talking to unions about how is this
14 tax impacting us in every single
15 industry and in government and then
16 get here to have conversations
17 about what do we do and what are
18 the options, right.

19 And so, I'm hoping that
20 as a result of this hearing we are
21 able to work with everyone to
22 figure out how do we make this
23 better. I don't want my bodegas to
24 close because they hire local. I

1 don't want the manufacturers to
2 figure out how they take their
3 roots to other places because we
4 lose revenue here, right.

5 And so, I think that a
6 conversation needs to be
7 prioritized. We need to prioritize
8 this conversation before we move
9 forward, right. And it doesn't
10 have to be a toxic type of a
11 conversation. We don't have to
12 fight with one another. We don't
13 have to fight with the Admin. We
14 need to figure out respectfully how
15 do we protect and preserve programs
16 and how do we protect and preserve
17 jobs.

18 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
19 Thank you, Councilwoman. Thank
20 you, everyone.

21 Does anyone else have
22 any questions for this panel?

23 (No response.)

24 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

1 Thank you for coming in today and
2 giving us your views of what's
3 going on here and thank you for the
4 willingness to actually get back
5 into a room and try to work this
6 out. Again, I think that bringing
7 everybody together to come up with
8 a plan, especially Coca-Cola and
9 Pepsi and people like that, that
10 actually can help us.

11 The fact of the matter
12 is that the loss of their
13 business -- on top of the soda tax
14 with the loss of the business, we
15 need to figure out how we keep our
16 stores, how we keep the kids in
17 child care because that's important
18 for their growth for expanding.

19 We need to figure out
20 how we expand it. And if that is
21 partnering with some people in the
22 philanthropy sector to try to come
23 up with a plan that involves
24 everything, not only a soda tax or

1 whatever it is, whether we stretch
2 it across all the products, whether
3 we -- but how do we come up with
4 this money to pay for these kids.
5 And I think there is a way there.

6 I think negotiations
7 work. Business people know how to
8 negotiate. They know that if them
9 donating money and getting a tax
10 deduction is going to be less than
11 what their business is going to
12 lose, I think that they'd be
13 willing to do that. It just makes
14 sense.

15 So maybe we need to get
16 everybody in the room. And I'm
17 with my Council colleagues, that
18 maybe we need -- maybe that's the
19 legislation that comes next, the
20 working group to put you and our
21 people and day care and all in a
22 room together on the PreK and work
23 this stuff out. Whether it's a
24 combination of some form of a tax,

1 plus some philanthropical efforts,
2 then we know what to do.

3 One thing I know about
4 the City of Philadelphia and the
5 people and a lot of our big
6 businesses, they step up when they
7 have to step up. They step up when
8 it's the right thing to do. And I
9 think if we combine everything and
10 all those things and look at all of
11 it, I think we can come up with a
12 better plan. And that's what it's
13 about, keeping the program without
14 adding more of a burden on
15 everything that's going to come
16 down the pike.

17 Because the bottom line
18 is we don't know what's coming down
19 the pike. He may cut everything in
20 the federal government and who
21 knows when we're going to get a
22 budget in the state, so there's no
23 question that we need to pay for
24 it. The question is where the

1 money comes from. Thank you for
2 your testimony.

3 MR. BROWN: Thank you.

4 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

5 Mr. Kunkel, will you please call
6 the next panel to testify.

7 THE CLERK: Christina
8 Roberto, UPenn Center for Food and
9 Nutrition Policy.

10 (Witness approached
11 witness table.)

12 MS. ROBERTO: Hi,
13 everyone. My name is Christina
14 Roberto. I'm the Professor of
15 Health Policy at the Perelman
16 School of Medicine at the
17 University of Pennsylvania. Sorry
18 for the mouthful. Thank you so
19 much for allowing me to testify
20 today.

21 The reason I'm here is
22 that I've studied food and
23 nutrition policies for nearly 20
24 years and I have been studying the

1 Philadelphia beverage tax since it
2 started in 2017, publishing
3 multiple papers on its effects.
4 I'm just going to talk about two
5 points that my research can speak
6 deeply to. There's obviously many
7 other positive benefits of the tax,
8 but I'm going to talk about what we
9 know in terms of the economic
10 impact. I'm going to talk about
11 the health impact.

12 My research team did a
13 study after the tax went into
14 effect where we looked at changes
15 in unemployment claim filings in
16 Philadelphia versus other counties
17 in the state that don't have a tax.
18 We looked one year before the tax,
19 we looked one year after. We saw
20 absolutely no evidence of change in
21 unemployment claim filings in
22 industries directly affected by the
23 tax, like supermarkets or soda
24 companies. So we don't have

1 anecdotes about what's happening
2 with these businesses, but I can
3 tell you from the data that we
4 looked at and published there was
5 no evidence of that negative
6 impact.

7 Researchers at the
8 University of Illinois, Chicago
9 then did an even more comprehensive
10 study looking at the economic
11 impacts of the tax in terms of
12 changes in employment counts. That
13 was two-and-a-half years after the
14 tax. They published that paper
15 they see no changes in unemployment
16 counts in Philadelphia that they
17 can attribute to the tax.

18 So I do think it's
19 important to make sure that we're
20 systematically bringing data to
21 bear on these economic questions.
22 Companies have many reasons for
23 layoffs and changes in policies.
24 They can be attributed to lots of

1 things. We don't want to jump to
2 assume it's the soda tax that's
3 causing it.

4 Number two, what are the
5 health impacts. We're taxing
6 sugary drinks in part. We're
7 focused on sugary drinks in part
8 because they're making us sick.
9 They contribute to Type 2 diabetes.
10 They contribute to obesity. They
11 contribute to heart disease. They
12 contribute to oral problems, right,
13 cavities.

14 These drinks have no
15 nutritional value. They're liquid
16 sugar. Even a Snickers has some
17 nuts, right, and it'll keep you
18 fuller longer than liquid sugar.
19 The highest consumption of these
20 drinks is in the lowest-income
21 communities who are suffering the
22 most from these problems.

23 So what we wanted to
24 understand is what are the health

1 impacts of this tax. We took
2 millions of transactions from chain
3 retailer data, from pharmacies,
4 supermarkets, mass merchandisers in
5 Philly. We do see a dramatic 35%
6 reduction in the sale of these tax
7 beverages that persisted for two
8 years after up to when we had data
9 from, and that was netting out some
10 of this cross-border shopping that
11 is happening, which we fully
12 acknowledge is happening. We still
13 get a 35% decline in these drinks,
14 which is actually incredible from a
15 health perspective.

16 We then look at
17 electronic health record data,
18 dental data, data from CHOP, data
19 from the health system at UPenn.
20 We look in Philly. We need
21 comparison sites so we look outside
22 of the city. We saw a 30%
23 reduction in cavities among
24 children, a 22% reduction among

1 adults. Not in the overall sample.
2 In the Medicaid population only.
3 It's our lowest-income people.

4 We then see a small but
5 meaningful reduction in the obesity
6 prevalence in Philadelphia that we
7 can attribute to this tax that we
8 don't see in similar places not
9 impacted by the tax. I was
10 actually shocked because a policy
11 like this that is targeting one
12 harmful but (inaudible) category, I
13 did not actually expect to produce
14 health effects. As a scientist, as
15 a researcher that studied this for
16 a long time, it's actually
17 incredible that it does.

18 And when you look around
19 the world where now dozens and
20 dozens of countries have
21 implemented these taxes, when you
22 look at the eight other cities in
23 this country that have done it, the
24 research is becoming more clear.

1 They're also seeing reductions in
2 obesity. We're seeing reductions
3 in gestational diabetes from other
4 data around this country. And
5 that's why more cities and states
6 are suggesting to do these taxes.

7 In fact, one way to fund
8 SNAP is do a tax at the state
9 level, right. And, sure, if you
10 want to expand it to candy because
11 you need more revenue, great.
12 These are products that are making
13 us sick and we're seeing the
14 benefits in multiple ways of this
15 tax. I think it would be a grave
16 mistake to repeal it.

17 (Applause.)

18 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

19 Thank you for your testimony,
20 Doctor. I kind of would like to
21 know where some of your numbers
22 came from because they're telling
23 us 1000 Teamster jobs were lost in
24 correlation to the soda tax and

1 1000 UFC jobs were lost because of
2 the soda tax. But you say that's
3 not the case.

4 MS. ROBERTO: Yeah. So
5 you could use publicly available
6 unemployment claims filing data.
7 What I'm trying to convince you of
8 is, you know, I can share that --

9 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
10 Excuse me. I'm sorry. So I can
11 look at the unemployment data,
12 right. But that's taken into
13 effect everybody. Did you look at
14 directly the United Food and
15 Commercial Workers and the
16 Teamsters and the other union shops
17 that may have something to do with
18 this?

19 Because of course if you
20 look in general, it's going to look
21 like it didn't do much. But if you
22 target the businesses that it
23 affected, that's something
24 different. So could you explain

1 that to me.

2 MS. ROBERTO: So that's
3 what we're looking at. We're
4 looking within industries that
5 would be directly affected by the
6 tax. So I can tell you, hey, this
7 is what's happening for soda
8 companies. This is what's
9 happening for supermarkets. So
10 they would all be captured in those
11 very specific categories.

12 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: So
13 you're not seeing the fact that the
14 Teamsters went down 1000 employees
15 and the UFC went down
16 1000 employees?

17 MS. ROBERTO: So I'm
18 telling you we looked at this for
19 the year before and the year after
20 the tax and there was not evidence
21 of any major impacts in terms of
22 unemployment claim filings. You
23 will see in the data, for
24 example --

1 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: Oh,
2 I see.

3 MS. ROBERTO: -- leading
4 up to it when a store closes, which
5 we are not observing in our data,
6 you will see a big spike in the
7 data. The data will pick up
8 changes in unemployment claim
9 filings and we don't have evidence
10 of that in our data.

11 Now, if five years out
12 and it's job losses in this
13 industry, they can really say
14 anything. They can say it's
15 because of the tax. There are all
16 sorts of dynamic forces happening.
17 What's --

18 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
19 Well, that goes the same way for
20 you though. You can say the same
21 thing.

22 MS. ROBERTO: Well, no,
23 because what's unique about what
24 we're doing that they're not is we

1 are carefully selecting comparison
2 areas that don't have a tax as
3 opposed to providing here's what
4 happened to my business. We can
5 then look at that comparison to
6 say, here's what would have
7 happened if there wasn't a tax,
8 here's what happened when there is.
9 Without that comparison, you can't
10 causally link the tax to changes in
11 unemployment claim volume.

12 (Applause.)

13 MS. ROBERTO: So that's
14 the skill set of the --

15 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: But
16 we're still short 2000 jobs. All
17 right. I'm good with that. The
18 resource suggests that a link
19 between the beverage tax and lower
20 obesity rates, but considering
21 sugar is consumed through countless
22 other products, baked goods,
23 cereal, snacks. How can we isolate
24 that impact to be sure it's not

1 overstating the effect of the tax?

2 MS. ROBERTO: So maybe
3 it's helpful to explain. So part
4 of the way that we're able to
5 causally say the tax had this
6 impact is the kind of study design
7 we use and hopefully it's
8 intuitive. So we basically look at
9 changes in health, let's say
10 obesity prevalence several years
11 leading up to the tax and then we
12 look at it after. But we look at
13 comparison areas that don't have
14 the tax during that very same time
15 period.

16 There's a moment in time
17 when the tax goes into effect and
18 we statistically model the trend of
19 what's happening to obesity
20 prevalence relative to places that
21 are very similar but don't have the
22 tax. And that's what helps us say,
23 oh, the cause of this is the tax as
24 opposed to all the different things

1 that are otherwise happening.

2 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: My
3 question is that you did the survey
4 the year before and the year after
5 it started, right. They're the
6 numbers you're using to say that
7 this is the case. We've had eight
8 more years after that which you're
9 not taking into account or effect,
10 which is what we need to know now.

11 I would imagine that
12 what you're saying is true. They
13 didn't lose any jobs before the tax
14 because there was no tax. They
15 lost a minimum after because that
16 was the snowball going down, going
17 down, going down, going down, going
18 down. That's what I'm saying.

19 I appreciate the study.
20 I appreciate the time frame that
21 you gave us, the two years. But we
22 need to know now what those numbers
23 are. This is 10 years in. So
24 you're taking only two years, a

1 year before the tax even started
2 and the year after it started where
3 the loss of jobs doesn't happen
4 right away. Things like this are
5 gradual. As the funds start to
6 decrease, then the jobs start to
7 decrease.

8 So I'm not saying
9 anything is wrong with your study
10 or anything like that. I'm asking
11 if we can expand your study, how's
12 that, to include these eight years
13 that you're not taking into account
14 where we know jobs were lost.

15 MS. ROBERTO: But think
16 about it, right. So if you look at
17 my graph, which I don't have so
18 I'll draw it for you, we see the
19 impacts of the tax in terms of
20 sugary drink sales drop
21 immediately. And then in our
22 data -- and that study is for two
23 years after -- it just stays
24 constant. And so, there's no

1 reason to think that all of a
2 sudden five or six years later
3 there's some big change that
4 companies have to make to start
5 laying off workers, because the tax
6 effects were immediate and they've
7 basically been sustained for those
8 two years. You're right, I don't
9 have data five years out. But
10 there hasn't been huge or dramatic
11 changes.

12 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
13 Ma'am, you need the data five years
14 out because, Doctor, you can't tell
15 from the data from two years from
16 when it didn't start to when it did
17 start. That's all I'm saying. And
18 --

19 MS. ROBERTO: But we do
20 know that the revenue has --

21 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: In
22 those five years you would see a
23 steady decline from those
24 businesses and the number of

1 employees that they hire. That's
2 it. So all I'm asking is that
3 maybe you guys expand your study to
4 include the years in the thing
5 because I personally don't get it.

6 You got two years. One
7 of which wasn't even included.
8 There was no soda tax. And one
9 that there was soda tax but it's
10 the first year when it just
11 started. We know that in the first
12 couple months of the sugar tax, our
13 estimated revenues were through the
14 roof. We tripled what they thought
15 we were going to bring in. But
16 then what happened was the third
17 month came and people figured out
18 where they were going to get their
19 groceries.

20 My thing is I would just
21 like to see the study expanded.
22 And in order to see those years
23 after the sugar tax was implemented
24 because those are the years that

1 are actually going to show you
2 something. The year before and the
3 year after ain't going to show you
4 anything except what is there.
5 It's not going to show you the year
6 after they dropped a couple hundred
7 jobs. The year after they dropped
8 a couple other hundred more jobs,
9 until we're at the present right
10 now which is their numbers are 1000
11 Teamster jobs have gone out the
12 window and 1000 UFC jobs have gone
13 out the window. That's what we're
14 trying to get to.

15 No one's arguing the
16 benefits either way. The health
17 benefits, forget about it. It's
18 great. And I love the fact that
19 we're going down in obesity. I
20 don't know if we can actually say
21 that's just because of the sugar
22 tax when sugar is still on the
23 menu. You get candy bars, cereal,
24 sugars and everything. We're only

1 taxing one part of it, which is one
2 thing.

3 But my thing is that
4 those numbers, for me they really
5 don't mean anything because they're
6 not from anything that counts.
7 These are the years that count,
8 after it was enacted. So I'll give
9 you the first year. But I want to
10 know what happened to the second
11 year, the third year, the fourth
12 year, the fifth year, the sixth
13 year, the seventh year, the eighth
14 year, the ninth year and the 10th
15 year. We're 10 years in and it's
16 not the same as when we first
17 started. It's not even close to
18 the same when we first started. So
19 it's not really a question.

20 I'm just saying that I
21 don't understand where you're
22 coming from with this stuff because
23 there's nothing in there that has
24 to do with what's going on right

1 now in the City of Philadelphia
2 with the tax, with the loss of
3 income, the loss of jobs and things
4 like that.

5 MS. ROBERTO: So my
6 job -- can I just say my job -- can
7 I just say my job is to make you
8 skeptical, right. So the industry
9 was making these claims. Jeff
10 Brown was making these claims in
11 that one year after and we were
12 able to look at data. The same
13 claims --

14 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: I'm
15 sorry. I didn't hear Jeff Brown
16 quote any jobs lost. I heard the
17 Teamsters and --

18 MS. ROBERTO: The same
19 claims are being made now. So I
20 just want you to bring some
21 skepticism to say, whoa, whoa,
22 whoa, how do you know this is
23 attributed to the tax. A lot of
24 time has gone by. And I absolutely

1 take your point. It's

2 well-taken --

3 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: I

4 would if you had the other years to

5 coincide with and then I would be

6 like, okay, great, we got some

7 information here and something to

8 go on. That's all I'm saying.

9 Your numbers are not real. They're

10 not right. Unless you're going to

11 actually do the years that we've

12 been paying into the soda tax and

13 give us that information and the

14 numbers, those two years, that's

15 not -- do any of my colleagues have

16 any questions?

17 Dr. Nina Ahmad.

18 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD:

19 Professor Roberto, thank you so

20 much for your testimony. I wanted

21 to piggyback on the facts that you

22 presented the impact on health,

23 gestational diabetes. And of

24 course, this is the only source

1 that is unlike, say, the Snickers
2 bar with peanuts, this is pure
3 sugar with no health benefit
4 whatsoever, correct?

5 That is a fact that soda
6 does nothing -- not only does it
7 have the sugar, it also has
8 carbonation which wears away at our
9 dentition. Bicarbonic acid, which
10 is what carbon dioxide is when it's
11 dissolved in solution is causing
12 our dental health to also in
13 addition to the sugar get depleted.
14 So I just wanted to highlight that
15 as well.

16 I wanted to see, have
17 you had an ability or time to gauge
18 the economic model that comes from
19 this improvement in health? What
20 cost-benefit analysis is there,
21 might be there? Can we do it to
22 really drive home the point about
23 this?

24 MS. ROBERTO: Yeah.

1 Thank you for the question. And
2 so, I feel like important questions
3 are being raised. It is data that
4 we can look at, right. So we can
5 look at some of these unemployment
6 claims further out and my team can
7 tackle that and then we can try to
8 do some of this health modeling to
9 think about.

10 Right now I don't have
11 numbers for you. I haven't modeled
12 it, but we do know that there are
13 higher rates of Type 2 diabetes,
14 obesity, dental issues in lower-
15 income communities, right. And so,
16 we also know they have higher
17 consumption -- before the tax they
18 had higher consumption of sugary
19 drinks. And so, when you're
20 talking about a regressive tax,
21 well, these diseases are
22 regressive. They're
23 disproportionately impacting
24 low-income communities in

1 Philadelphia.

2 And so, if they have
3 higher rates of sugary drink
4 intake, that intake goes down
5 because of the tax. They stand to
6 benefit the most, especially in the
7 long term and have more money in
8 their pockets because they have
9 health care savings.

10 Now, that's how we think
11 this ought to work and I don't have
12 modeling data to present, but
13 there's every reason to think those
14 communities would benefit the most
15 from it.

16 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD: And
17 also, just in general about
18 scientific studies, they're always
19 lagging because it takes time to
20 collect information, to analyze and
21 then present. So I just want to
22 also across the board make that
23 point, that it is easier said than
24 done to be able to get all that

1 data and make the analysis and then
2 make a correlation, if there is
3 one, to the point that my colleague
4 was making about the impact post
5 the time that you did that
6 analysis.

7 So it might be useful at
8 this point to have a study, which
9 again will be lagging. So it'll
10 take time. It won't be available
11 tomorrow. It will take a
12 considerable amount of time to
13 gather the data and then to analyze
14 it and then present it. So that's
15 like a two-year potential time
16 frame we're talking about to have
17 real evidence one way or the other
18 to address what's being said. So I
19 think that's a good path.

20 We've all talked about
21 doing more analysis. But what is
22 immutable is that it has helped in
23 the spaces that we wanted it to
24 help, whether it's PreK, whether

1 it's Community Schools, whether
2 it's better rec centers and
3 libraries as well as health
4 benefits, we are seeing that. So
5 that's what I would like you to
6 testify to. That impact is not in
7 debate.

8 MS. ROBERTO: Well,
9 right. To me it's a win-win,
10 because you're (inaudible) PreK,
11 which in and of itself as you've
12 all said and wonderfully
13 articulated has these amazing
14 health benefits, right, and has
15 this incredible return on
16 investment. And then it's also
17 accomplishing this other goal,
18 which I understand was secondary,
19 but it's incredibly important which
20 is improving the health of
21 Philadelphians, particularly
22 low-income ones.

23 COUNCILWOMAN AHMAD:
24 Yeah. And to that point, there was

1 no such thing as Community Schools
2 before this tax was enacted. So
3 there's a lot of things that didn't
4 happen before because we just
5 didn't do it. We had no resources
6 to do it. So even though this is a
7 receding tax, meaning it's going to
8 go down as more people don't drink
9 soda, right, that's how that'll
10 happen. That was built into the
11 model, right.

12 And in the meantime, you
13 would replace that potentially with
14 the Administration to think of how
15 we create a new model to fund all
16 of this when there is a reducing
17 amount coming from the soda tax.
18 So that was built into the
19 projection. And so, this is not
20 something we're taken by surprise.

21 I just wanted to also go
22 on the record to say that, that
23 this was the model we already
24 projected would happen and would be

1 successful if the soda tax amount
2 went down because that meant less
3 people were drinking soda in
4 Philadelphia. Just wanted to go on
5 the record to make sure people
6 understand that this was just not
7 some fly-by-night thinking, oh, we
8 can do this and see what happens.

9 No, there was actually
10 projections made that Rob Dubow
11 actually spoke to during that time
12 that went on and that is bearing
13 fruit now. We are understanding
14 that, yes, are there some changes
15 in actual amounts? Of course,
16 there are because you can't predict
17 that much into the future.

18 However, the trend,
19 which is what we look for in data,
20 the trend is showing that this is
21 working. I just wanted to make
22 that point as well. So thank you
23 for your testimony.

24 MS. ROBERTO: Thank you.

1 (Applause.)

2 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: The
3 only other question I have is how
4 do you disseminate? So, for
5 instance, we know that the obesity
6 is going down, right. You're
7 saying because we have the soda
8 tax, that's a correlation to that
9 because people are not buying the
10 soda that they used to buy or
11 whatever. But that's not actually
12 the case. People are still buying
13 soda. They're just not doing it in
14 Philadelphia. So how do we know
15 that the obesity is directly
16 correlated to our actual...

17 MS. ROBERTO: Yeah. So
18 our health outcomes, this is always
19 a challenge in science to try to
20 figure out cause-and-effect. And
21 so, we think a lot about methods to
22 be able to say it's actually this
23 thing causing it, not just a
24 correlation. It's causing it.

1 And so, when you look at
2 a health outcome like weight gain,
3 obesity or dental caries, if you're
4 buying soda outside of Philly and
5 drinking it in Philly, it's not
6 going to show up in your electronic
7 health record if you see a drop in
8 obesity prevalence that's captured,
9 right. Everything you're eating is
10 translating to your health. So we
11 don't have to worry about that kind
12 of bias in these data because if
13 you're still drinking it, then
14 we're not going to see a drop in
15 obesity prevalence. If you're
16 going outside the city and still
17 drinking it, we're not going to see
18 a reduction in dental caries.
19 That's --

20 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: How
21 do we know that? That's the
22 question. How do you come up with
23 these numbers? Because like I said,
24 people are still drinking soda all

1 over the place. Now, obesity went
2 down. I get that. That's great.
3 But how do you directly -- you
4 understand what I'm saying?

5 MS. ROBERTO: Yeah,
6 yeah, like how do you draw this
7 causal conclusion. So basically,
8 we have data from clinics inside
9 Philadelphia for several years
10 leading up to when the tax goes
11 into effect. We need to compare
12 those data to clinics that are just
13 outside Philadelphia, right, still
14 in Pennsylvania bordering
15 Philadelphia, right.

16 During that same period
17 of time they don't have a tax, we
18 have a tax, right. And so, then
19 we're tracking what is happening to
20 weight in these places and we're
21 making statistical adjustments to
22 make these populations look similar
23 and we're following. And all of a
24 sudden when the tax goes into

1 effect, you start to model the
2 trend. And this is a longer-term
3 study because we don't expect
4 changes in weight to happen until
5 at least one to two years after the
6 tax. So these are data that we
7 have beyond two years, you look to
8 see what happens to obesity in
9 Philly.

10 And actually, obesity in
11 Philly is going up. It's going up
12 because of the tax at a slower rate
13 than the counties that are
14 surrounding Philadelphia. Because
15 we have that comparison, that's
16 what allows us to say this tax is
17 driving and causing these effects.

18 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
19 That's what I was trying to get.
20 You can see the numbers in the
21 county of obesity and Philadelphia.
22 That's where the comparison is?

23 MS. ROBERTO: Yeah. And
24 it's not just on a county level.

1 We have electronic health record
2 data. So it's on an individual
3 level, many, many thousands of
4 people and we can track at it. We
5 can track individuals over time.

6 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

7 Okay. Now, that makes sense to me.
8 So you're comparing the numbers
9 from the counties on obesity with
10 our numbers since the inception of
11 the soda tax?

12 MS. ROBERTO: Yeah, and
13 same thing for dental caries. If
14 it's helpful to clarify when I say
15 there's a 35% drop in sales, so
16 that is actually compared to
17 Baltimore, which is a
18 demographically similar city but
19 does not border Philly, because we
20 don't want to have this issue of
21 potential cross-border shopping
22 contaminating that comparison.

23 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: And
24 then one other question, because

1 you said that obesity is going up,
2 just not as fast as it was?

3 MS. ROBERTO: (Nodding
4 head affirmatively).

5 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
6 Okay. So it didn't actually get
7 rid of obesity. It just slowed it
8 down.

9 MS. ROBERTO: Well, of
10 course. No one policy would ever
11 do that, right. No one in this
12 room thinks that

13

14

15 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: I'm
16 trying to figure out where this
17 information comes from and how we
18 disseminate the information?

19 MS. ROBERTO: Yeah. So
20 think about it, we have a huge
21 health crisis in this city, in this
22 country, right. And so, we're
23 going to need many, multiple
24 policies to tackle it. That's why

1 taking a policy that's actually
2 made a little bit of a dent and
3 taking it away feels like a step
4 backwards.

5 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: How
6 much did the percentage drop
7 between the county and
8 Philadelphia?

9 MS. ROBERTO: The
10 obesity prevalence is about a --

11 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
12 Because it's still going up. It's
13 just dropping.

14 MS. ROBERTO: Yeah. So
15 a .4 percentage point change
16 between Philly versus the counties.

17 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: .4?

18 MS. ROBERTO: Yeah,
19 percentage point.

20 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: So
21 not even a full percentage point.
22 All right.

23 MS. ROBERTO: But if you
24 look at that in the context of

1 health outcomes and our ability to
2 impact obesity, almost nothing
3 works. So even a small change on a
4 public health scale makes a huge
5 difference. Look at COVID, right.
6 You might say 1% of the population
7 is affected. That's millions of
8 deaths. So you have to think in a
9 public health lens. .4%, that's
10 huge on a public health scale.

11 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: Any
12 questions?

13 (No response.)

14 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: No.
15 Thank you so much for your
16 testimony.

17 MS. ROBERTO: Thank you
18 so much. I appreciate it.

19 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: You
20 gave us some good information.

21 Mr. Kunkel, will you
22 please call the next panel to
23 testify please.

24 THE CLERK: Rosanna

1 Matos, First Up; Dr. Charles,
2 Co-Executive Director of Incredible
3 Kids Learning Center; and Zakiyyah
4 Boone, Wonderspring.

5 (Witnesses approached
6 witness table.)

7 MS. MATOS: Hello. This
8 is Rosanna Matos. Good morning and
9 thank you for the opportunity --
10 wait. Good afternoon and thank you
11 for the opportunity to testify
12 today regarding Resolution No.
13 250028, introduced by Councilmember
14 Harrity.

15 My name is Rosanna and I
16 come before you in a dual role.
17 I'm a proud advocate with First Up,
18 but I'm also a grandmom. First Up
19 is an organization that supports
20 early childhood education. A lot of
21 the teachers and children that you
22 saw here this morning, we support
23 them. And a lot of them do host
24 Philly PreK.

1 As a grandmom to my
2 first granddaughter Alianna, who
3 will soon turn 3 years old, our
4 family is counting on Philly PreK
5 to provide her with the high-
6 quality early education she
7 deserves. Philly PreK's inclusive
8 enrollment model gives my family
9 and many other families the
10 opportunity for early learning to
11 be accessible for them.

12 Alianna deserves to grow
13 academically, build a strong
14 social, emotional foundation and
15 receive individualized instruction
16 for a well-prepared, experienced
17 teacher, just like the more than
18 5000 children that are currently
19 enrolled in Philly PreK across our
20 city.

21 This program is more
22 about just education. It's about
23 stability, it's about equity and
24 it's a lifesaver. It's about

1 enabling the 5000 families to
2 participate in the workforce
3 because they have reliable,
4 affordable, safe care for their
5 children.

6 It's about ensuring our
7 youngest Philadelphians are ready
8 for kindergarten and beyond. This
9 is not a difficult decision. Philly
10 PreK is a no-brainer. We must
11 continue to invest in our children
12 and support working families. At a
13 time where so many programs that
14 are for the people are under
15 threat, I urge the City of
16 Philadelphia and the people in this
17 room to be brave and continue to do
18 good for Philadelphia children, for
19 my Alianna.

20 This city has big
21 homework and, that is, to look for
22 access to high-quality child care,
23 not for just the 5000 and more
24 Philly PreK children and families,

1 but for the more than 20,000
2 children that are not getting any
3 funded that do qualify in the city.

4 Now, speaking as an
5 advocate, I want to highlight the
6 broader impact of Philly PreK in
7 our local economy. First Up works
8 with small business owners, early
9 education providers. It's ironic
10 that we were under the Children and
11 Families panel, but we can also fit
12 in the Business panel and the Labor
13 panel, Health and Administration.
14 We cover all sectors. Early
15 childhood education is a holistic
16 opportunity for support for a
17 child, a family and a community.

18 These families rely on
19 Philly PreK and these families
20 include SEPTA workers, hospital
21 staff, police officers and, yes,
22 the single moms and single dads as
23 well. The very people who keep our
24 city running and safe, without

1 stable funding these providers face
2 devastating choices, closing
3 classrooms.

4 You heard about 1000
5 union workers that lost their jobs.
6 Think about the teachers who have
7 lost their jobs and the families
8 that can't get to work because they
9 don't have child care. They're
10 also losing their jobs without
11 stable education, without an
12 opportunity for families to go to
13 work. This city is not going to
14 thrive. This city needs the
15 support now more than ever.

16 If we lose Philly PreK,
17 we risk losing the infrastructure
18 that supports our children, our
19 families and our workforce. So I
20 ask what's more important, where I
21 buy my soda or whether our children
22 have access to safe high-quality
23 education. Can we really compare
24 the cost of a sugary drink to a

1 lifelong value of early learning?

2 Let's be clear I like me

3 a Diet Coke, but the sugar

4 sweetened beverage tax is not just

5 a revenue stream. It's a lifeline.

6 It funds the program that

7 transformed life. I urge you to

8 protect this tax. In doing so,

9 protecting PreK, our children, our

10 families and our city's future.

11 0 to 5 education is a

12 different type of care. It's human

13 care. It's purpose care. It's

14 care that comes from your heart.

15 It's different than K-12. K-12

16 also is needed, but the 0 to 5

17 sector, that care is totally

18 different than what K-12 provides.

19 Thank you.

20 DR. COE: I'm

21 Dr. Charles Coe, MD, the Executive

22 Director and founder of the

23 Incredible Kids Learning Center

24 organization. Thank you for the

1 opportunity to provide testimonies
2 today regarding Resolution No.
3 250028.

4 I definitely want to
5 first start off by saying that as a
6 physician and practitioner, 0 to 5
7 is the most instrumental time of
8 any child's life. The child care
9 facility is the one that will help
10 determine or sort of kind of can
11 identify if child has a disability.
12 If a child is past 5 years old and
13 entering into the Philadelphia
14 School District System, they're
15 lost. That's how instrumental an
16 ECE program is.

17 My program Keystone
18 (inaudible) I'm Philadelphia born
19 and raised and also want to say I'm
20 the first African American,
21 Hispanic Coca-Cola scholar in this
22 state. My goal today is to see
23 more Coca-Cola scholars that look
24 like me and you. I wouldn't even

1 be where I am today. Nobody in
2 this room would be where they are
3 today without a good education. I
4 am nobody without a great teacher,
5 100%.

6 My organization single-
7 handedly has educated 16,000 kids
8 in this city for the past 14 years.
9 While we're talking about this, I
10 can tell you what we're doing right
11 now. We're figuring out how to
12 feed 3800 families in my community
13 when November 1st occurs. That's
14 what I'm concerned about.

15 I'm concerned about will
16 these kids have an opportunity to
17 eat, will they have an opportunity
18 to learn. And guess where they're
19 going to get their meals from when
20 they do not have SNAP benefits?
21 Programs like mines. They don't
22 have food, buy food and you can't
23 buy it in the store. Your center,
24 your community center is going to

1 feed you and your family.

2 The reason I know this
3 is because during the pandemic I
4 fed 6000 families. I worked two
5 full-time jobs to make sure that
6 every person in my community not
7 only were their business thriving
8 because folks didn't know how to
9 get grants, we showed them how to
10 get grants.

11 Every year we take 65
12 families out of the shelter.
13 Because in a shelter system, your
14 child is separated from your mother
15 and your father so at least more
16 stress on the parent. And we take
17 them out because we know what the
18 need is in Philadelphia. We take
19 them out of those shelter systems.
20 We put them in fully-furnished
21 homes and help them become
22 homeowners. We have the luxury to
23 go back to a house. Most families
24 don't.

1 The beverage tax has
2 been such a blessing, not just for
3 my children as well as our
4 community. For our city, when this
5 developed, understood that there
6 was a need and Philadelphia sprung
7 into action to realize that the
8 youngest members of our society
9 mattered.

10 In other states, kids
11 don't matter. In other states,
12 specifically sometimes even in
13 Philadelphia, there's a price tag
14 on how valuable the Brown child is
15 versus a child in a suburban
16 community. I created Incredible
17 Kids to make sure that the same
18 private school education --
19 preschool education, when you go to
20 a preschool center in the county,
21 the kids are well-prepared. You
22 come into the city, there was a
23 lack of structure.

24 Programs like Roseanna's

1 Children First, First Up are the
2 ones who help quality -- they bring
3 quality to the city. It's
4 disheartening to say, my child,
5 your child, your child or even your
6 child shouldn't be entitled to a
7 high-quality education. If we do
8 not have the program, that is going
9 to be the root cause. No high-
10 quality education for anyone.

11 I can tell you right now
12 as a physician the hardest
13 conversation I have and as a trauma
14 specialist is when I have to go and
15 have a patient sitting in front of
16 me whose child is taken from them
17 because they don't have a resource
18 or a community center. Have that
19 conversation with the parent who's
20 lost their child. There's nothing
21 you can say.

22 Our programs save kids.
23 Our programs feed families. Our
24 programs create jobs. Our programs

1 beautify the community. We have
2 beautiful community centers because
3 the PHLPReK programs enable you to
4 have funding to beautify your
5 space, to beautify your community.
6 I shouldn't take my child to a
7 different community in the suburbs
8 because the park that we have sucks
9 or they don't have a high-quality
10 education so they leave the
11 community to take their child to a
12 different community, so that in
13 lacking our community suffers.

14 Therefore, if our
15 community is suffering, we don't
16 have high-quality programming so
17 that's another win for the suburban
18 area, not our city. I'm born and
19 raised Philadelphia. Proud to be a
20 Philadelphian. My goal is to make
21 sure that not only was I able to
22 become the first scholar in the
23 city and state, but that my young
24 brothers and sisters and all in

1 between have the same unique
2 opportunity to do so.

3 PHL PreK is educating
4 more than 5200 children by giving
5 them high-quality early childhood
6 development within their community.
7 When we talked about people losing
8 jobs, PHL PreK, PreK in general
9 created 1400 jobs. 1400 leaders in
10 the city. Our city is based and
11 built on leaders. We educate them
12 from 0 to 5 to make sure that they
13 can get a position. You, me, you
14 and my counterpart to the left of
15 me, they would not have that if it
16 wasn't for these investments in
17 these programs.

18 We've also had the
19 opportunity to develop 20 Community
20 Schools serving over 10,000
21 students. So when we think of the
22 essence of how many kids are in the
23 city, 15,000 children citywide went
24 to these PreK programs. My concern

1 is when we go to have a
2 conversation with the big business
3 leaders, can we also make sure that
4 the ECE community has a seat at
5 that table?

6 Because during the
7 pandemic I cannot tell you, 912
8 programs closed because there was
9 no funding. During the pandemic,
10 we were almost ready to lose all of
11 our PreK programs. In this economy
12 that we're in now, if we do not
13 have the support in these programs,
14 there will be no child care. I
15 guarantee you everyone that works
16 in City Hall who depends on child
17 care, they will not be able to show
18 up to work.

19 We discovered that
20 during the pandemic. I heard the
21 gentleman say \$50,000 to \$60,000
22 was the income for someone that can
23 work at a store. Teachers
24 typically makes 30. I know that

1 for a fact. I served 14 years for
2 Jevs Human Service in the Frankford
3 area and half of my case roster for
4 social workers in the 19124 zip
5 code, half of those people that
6 were teachers were getting
7 government assistance because they
8 could not make it.

9 The bigger issue, and we
10 had this enlightening conversation
11 back in April, is that a parent
12 cannot afford to take a promotion
13 at a job because they no longer
14 qualify for subsidy if you're at
15 \$0.25 over the income threshold, so
16 50,000 to 60,000 is a blessing for
17 some people.

18 When you're typically
19 making 30 if you do not qualify for
20 subsidy, you cannot take your
21 family out of poverty into promise.
22 That income threshold is a
23 nightmare. So you cannot -- how do
24 you excel. We don't want folks

1 leaving the community. If
2 anything, we want to educate our
3 people. We want to bring more
4 resources in the community because
5 in essence, that's how the
6 community wins. I'm a community
7 guy.

8 It's nothing no one can
9 tell me about what goes on in the
10 community because I work there and
11 I stay there. My programs are
12 there. I have more teachers who
13 were Welfare-to-Work recipients at
14 the Northeast Earn Center in
15 Frankford Avenue, where I so
16 proudly serve, that are now
17 Bachelor's and Master's degreed
18 individuals winning through that
19 education.

20 And guess how that
21 education was paid for? PHL PreK
22 pays for those teachers for free
23 through the Teach program. That is
24 a blessing, that you can live in

1 our city and state and get a free,
2 high-quality, not even just a PreK
3 education, a college education.
4 Where college right now is not even
5 in the reach of any person that we
6 know of. That means that family is
7 now winning. That child is going
8 to win. That child has a resource.

9 Do you know how many
10 cases I have from DHS and trauma-
11 informed cases in my center, I lost
12 count when I got to 200. Trauma-
13 informed care, early intervention,
14 all that starts at the PreK level.
15 The teacher is the therapist, the
16 cheerleader, the coach, the mascot,
17 hell, the second parent. They're
18 the ally.

19 (Applause.)

20 DR. COE: Parents don't
21 have enough resources. I am with
22 you. Parents need more resources.
23 You know who has the hardest job in
24 the world? The damn single mom who

1 can't take a promotion, who's a
2 domestic abuse survivor. I know
3 because I had a conversation with
4 one of them this morning who came
5 from the shelter system. And guess
6 how she united with her kids
7 because we fed her and her kids.
8 When you walk around with a size 12
9 blueprint of a Timberland boot on
10 the side of your face, but your
11 kids come to us to get a good
12 education.

13 Child care centers are
14 the safe haven and the essential
15 backbone of the city and state.
16 None of us will be able to be
17 functioning the way we function
18 today without high-quality PreK.
19 When we talk about solutions, ECE
20 or the practitioners are never part
21 of that conversation.

22 Decisions are made for
23 educators, keyword, educators who
24 can educate other people but

1 they're never part of that
2 conversation. That's the hardest
3 part. The most MVP people in this
4 city and state is an educator who
5 does not have a voice.

6 I get to have a voice as
7 a male. You know, I can become an
8 ECE provider, I can become a trauma
9 advocate and I can become a
10 physician. All three of those
11 roles is attributed to the
12 strongest woman I know who's no
13 longer here and who was an educator
14 herself.

15 So I look at the
16 priority that I have to have and
17 the weight of the world on my
18 shoulders, making sure that the ECE
19 community continues to thrive, that
20 we have the appropriate resources.
21 That means adequate funding. If
22 you ask any teacher within the PreK
23 setting when was the last time they
24 received a raise, they'll sit there

1 and they'll look at you and they'll
2 say they do not know.

3 They receive \$10 to \$13
4 in a salary that keeps them below
5 the poverty line. But we can have
6 someone making \$50,000 to \$60,000
7 and a teacher makes 25, 30 if she's
8 lucky with a Bachelor's degree.
9 Let alone a Master's, if she's
10 lucky she can count on 45. Lucky,
11 that's the key word.

12 We were sitting there
13 thinking, okay, maybe we can give
14 teachers an extra \$1,000, an extra
15 (inaudible) whose lights about to
16 get shut off. It will mean
17 something. We have a community
18 center that could potentially open
19 in a community that has an
20 available space, but there's no
21 funding.

22 I, myself, would educate
23 16,000. I want to educate even
24 more. It breaks my heart to see

1 938 programs closed during the
2 pandemic and they have not
3 reopened. If we continue on the
4 path, you will have several more.

5 Are we saying that our
6 kids do not matter, should not
7 matter and will never matter?

8 That's what we're saying. What we
9 have to figure out is how to make
10 sure that they know that they
11 matter, show them that they matter.
12 The best way we show them is by
13 showing up for them.

14 Our children don't need
15 anyone to keep talking. We need
16 champions in education, champions
17 for women, champion for rights. We
18 need champion for people to say I
19 believe in you, I believe in your
20 community, so we work together to
21 figure out how to strengthen this
22 community so we don't be in a
23 position where every year we
24 continue to lose. Because every

1 year we continue to lose every
2 dollar -- I'll break it down to you
3 in layman's terms. Every dollar we
4 lose, that's a child that doesn't
5 have an education. Every dollar
6 that we use, that's a person that
7 cannot go to work.

8 Unemployment, let's talk
9 about how many teachers were
10 unemployed. I know for a fact we
11 support the local grocery stores.
12 Our ECE programs single-handedly
13 create ecosystems within the
14 community to make them thrive.
15 It's the only reason somebody can
16 work at a supermarket. I know that
17 because I have more supermarket
18 employees in my program than
19 anywhere else, and we're at the
20 Northeast Corridor.

21 The only reason somebody
22 can go to work for SEPTA or to
23 clean these streets or to be
24 security at a Walmart or at a

1 supermarket where everything's
2 locked up, is because they have
3 adequate childcare. There are also
4 preschool providers that
5 exclusively provide childcare for
6 unionized workers. That means they
7 can get the work. So if they don't
8 have a program, would they be able
9 to work.

10 We have programs where
11 because of exclusive contracts
12 within the union, their kids get a
13 high-quality education. Because at
14 \$50,000 and \$60,000 a year, they're
15 over the income threshold. They do
16 not qualify for it. So strip away
17 child care and let you keep your 50
18 to \$60,000 a year salary. And now,
19 factor in \$2,400 for an infant,
20 \$1850 for a preschooler. That's
21 not even including a child with a
22 disability. Your rate doubles
23 because you now need double staff,
24 and they're not even staff.

1 They're specialists.

2 I ask and I urge
3 everyone not to take away, but to
4 contribute to. As a champion for
5 education and children, when you go
6 to have the hard conversations, I
7 know what it's like to be at the
8 D.C. level because I was just there
9 last week, so I know what that's
10 like.

11 I want to make sure that
12 our programs not only continue to
13 thrive, but our children in our
14 city no longer lose. You go to
15 other cities and states and the
16 children are winning. There should
17 be no reason why our Philadelphia
18 child should not win. It's
19 everybody's job in this room to
20 make sure that they win, not to
21 take from them.

22 What are you taking from
23 a child who doesn't have anything?
24 What do you take from the families

1 who don't have anything?
2 (Inaudible) supporting your help?
3 How do we help them is the bigger
4 question.

5 In conclusion, the real
6 question is not why we take
7 something away that is working, but
8 rather how can we build upon its
9 success. We must identify ways to
10 strengthen funding through
11 additional initiatives, which I
12 love, that ensuring greater access
13 to these vital programs while
14 setting the standard for higher
15 education are valued and treated
16 within a PreK system.

17 Every day our teachers
18 show up on a wavering dedication to
19 nurture and inspire our children.
20 I do believe it's about time that
21 we show up for the same level of
22 commitment, respect for them. Once
23 again, none of us will be here
24 without great teachers. Thank you

1 for your time.

2 (Applause.)

3 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

4 Please state your name and begin
5 with your testimony.

6 MS. BOONE: Good
7 morning, afternoon now. My name is
8 Zakiyyah Boone. I am the Chief
9 Executive Officer at Wonderspring
10 Early Education, a nonprofit
11 provider of quality early learning
12 programs for the past 60 years.
13 Thank you for the opportunity to
14 provide testimony today regarding
15 Resolution No. 250028, introduced
16 by Councilmember Harrity.

17 As has been previously
18 said, no one here is discounting
19 the importance of PreK. What I am
20 going to say, before I even dig
21 into the impact on our youngest
22 learners, is my phone number is
23 610-733-1857 for the record. I am
24 more than happy to convene all

1 parties to find stable funding to
2 increase PreK in the City of
3 Philadelphia.

4 Let me tell you why this
5 matters. This tax links
6 accountability to opportunity.
7 We've heard it. No one is saying
8 PreK doesn't matter. No one is
9 saying out-of-school-time programs
10 don't matter. What we need to
11 decide -- and thank you so much,
12 Councilwoman, for your statement --
13 is that we need an across-the-board
14 way that we can agree upon to
15 sustain this funding.

16 Let's make that happen.
17 Number one, repealing or even
18 reducing the funded tax risk
19 destabilizing the funding stream at
20 a time when, as we just heard, with
21 federal funding in jeopardy, so
22 much is unstable. We need to
23 expand, build upon what we already
24 have.

1 In the words of our
2 beautiful, illustrious Mayor, One
3 Philly, A United City. Let's come
4 to one table. Let's not point
5 fingers at whose jobs are more
6 important. Teacher jobs are
7 important. Union jobs are
8 important. Everyone has a family
9 to feed.

10 Let's not dispute data
11 and facts about the positive
12 impacts on health. I heard 30%
13 reduction in cavities. That's a
14 win all day long. No matter where
15 the funding comes from, I would
16 ask, urge, implore City Council to
17 bring together educators such as
18 myself, advocates such as myself,
19 business persons such as myself.

20 I failed to mention
21 Zakiyyah Boone, MBA. Parents such
22 as myself -- in fact, I gave birth
23 to a teacher who is now teaching
24 3rd grade because I believe that

1 much in the power of education, I
2 am willing to work. But take away
3 something that is already working,
4 that is already served children,
5 senseless.

6 I encourage that
7 conversation where we put our heads
8 together, One Philly, A United
9 City. I'm going to say it again.
10 Let's be smart enough because our
11 children are counting on us. Thank
12 you.

13 (Applause.)

14 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

15 Thank you for your testimony and
16 thank you very much because you're
17 the first person that actually made
18 a comment that actually seems like
19 you're getting what we're trying to
20 do here. This isn't about getting
21 rid of anything. This is about how
22 do we again make this thing
23 sustainable and expand it, because
24 right now it's not sustainable,

1 first off, and we cannot expand it.

2 Where do we go from

3 here. That's what it's about.

4 Nobody is arguing or debating the

5 benefits. That's why none of us --

6 you haven't heard any of us say

7 anything about getting rid of

8 anything because this isn't about

9 that. This is about how do we get

10 this to be able to go for kids in

11 the future. It's about more kids.

12 It's about setting it up so that

13 this goes into the future, because

14 this is what we should be doing.

15 We should be paying for it.

16 It shouldn't be from a

17 tax that's hurting poor people, the

18 same people we're trying to help.

19 But we can't get rid of a tax

20 unless we figure out where the

21 money is going to come from to make

22 up for the program. The bottom

23 line is my mentor John Street

24 always said, in a budget the size

1 of ours, \$6.9 billion, anything
2 under 100 million is an accounting
3 error. We need to get our
4 priorities straight. If we have to
5 move money around, we have to move
6 money around. But we need to
7 figure out how we pay for this
8 program in the future.

9 We don't have to worry
10 about it right now. This year
11 we're only going to have to put up
12 a couple of dollars. That's no big
13 deal. Next year the same thing,
14 we're only going to have to put up
15 an extra \$4 million. But then the
16 next year it's 7. And the next
17 year it snowballs from there. Then
18 what do we do right now. We're
19 already at half the cost. That's
20 what we're bringing in.

21 It's 83 million for
22 everything and that's not counting
23 Rebuild now. Rebuild, that's a
24 whole other animal. We're doing

1 that with loans and bond deals.
2 anyway. That's already coming.
3 That's not being paid by the soda
4 tax. They could say and make it
5 switch words around and make it
6 sound however the hell they want to
7 make it sound.

8 But the bottom line is
9 that this tax is not doing what it
10 was supposed to do and we need to
11 get a handle on this now. This
12 isn't something we're going to fix.
13 This is something that we have to
14 make sure that the money's there.
15 And right now the money isn't going
16 to be there and we're going to have
17 to -- and again, it's not going to
18 be under my watch. This is going
19 to be down the road when another
20 Council group is in this room and
21 they're going to have to come up
22 with that money. Just like this
23 Council right now is coming up with
24 a billion dollars this year to pay

1 off a bond deal that we did in
2 1998, and that's why we're in the
3 predicament we're in, in the first
4 place.

5 Thank you all for you
6 know all you do, because there's no
7 doubt, teachers are the first line
8 of defense for us as parents and
9 for our children. You guys take
10 care of them. And I've said it
11 before, teachers are teachers,
12 they're counselors, they're family.
13 That's for sure.

14 This isn't about any of
15 that. It's not about how good the
16 program is. It's great. This is
17 about how do we fund it for future
18 kids, because right now we're
19 losing money, money, money, money.
20 Listen, eventually we're going to
21 have to pay for it anyway. That's
22 my saying.

23 If we're going to have
24 to do that, let's throw the money

1 at it. Let's expand it. Let's
2 make it something that we can be
3 proud of. But none of us are
4 talking about getting rid of PreK.
5 That's outrageous. It's just
6 ridiculous.

7 All right. Any
8 questions for this panel?

9 (No response.)

10 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

11 Again, thank you for coming down.
12 Thank you for staying all day too.
13 We appreciate all you guys do as
14 educators and thank you for helping
15 our children.

16 (Applause.)

17 DR. COE: If I may,
18 Councilmember. When you guys are
19 having those conversations, the
20 best people I believe in alignment
21 is being able to sort of ECE
22 community, my colleagues and I are
23 more -- we had this in a meeting --

24 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

1 Absolutely. You guys need to be
2 there.

3 DR. COE: -- at that
4 table to have those conversations
5 to make sure that if we're going to
6 get some wins here, that we have
7 those universal wins that can
8 contribute to many, many more seats
9 in the future. You have a whole
10 participant. I can restructure a
11 medical schedule and be here like
12 nobody's business. And so, I know
13 what the fights like when you have
14 to go behind closed doors and know
15 for a fact that we could be two
16 different races but the same
17 mission.

18 And when you need
19 someone to go and you like you say
20 the Eagles being there for their
21 teammates, you have a whole team
22 that wants a seat at that table.
23 So when we're fighting, we know
24 we're fighting for it and make sure

1 we get to fight for it again. So

2 we thank you for your time 100%.

3 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

4 Thank you, Doctor. I'm starting to

5 think that we need to form this

6 working group asap because

7 communication seems to be the lack

8 that we're getting here.

9 Mr. Kunkel, will you

10 please call the next panel to

11 testify.

12 THE CLERK: Fran

13 McGorry, Liberty Coca-Cola;

14 Reginald Goins, the Honickman

15 Group; Michael Howells, PFMA;

16 Jennifer Rodriguez, Greater

17 Philadelphia Hispanic Chamber of

18 Commerce.

19 (Witnesses approached

20 witness table.)

21 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

22 Thank you all for being here today.

23 Please state your name and begin

24 your testimony.

1 MR. MCGORRY: Is the mic
2 on? My name is Francis McGorry
3 with Liberty Coca-Cola. Hello? My
4 name Francis McGorry, Liberty Coca-
5 Cola. So good afternoon, Chair
6 Harrity and members of the Labor
7 Committee, those that are left
8 here. I am the co-founder and CEO
9 of Liberty Coca-Cola. Thank you
10 for the opportunity to testify
11 today at this beverage tax hearing.

12 Coca-Cola has been
13 proudly served in the Philadelphia
14 and its neighboring communities
15 for, believe it or not, 123 years.
16 We employ over 3100 people across
17 our franchise territory, which
18 spans from Delaware to Southern
19 Connecticut, including New York
20 boroughs up to Upstate New York.

21 In Philadelphia, we
22 employ 600 people who live and work
23 in the city of Philadelphia. Our
24 company is deeply rooted in

1 Philadelphia and the city
2 neighborhoods and the economy and
3 the workforce. We take pride in
4 being more than just an employer.
5 We are community leaders, partners.
6 We support organizations such as
7 Police Athletic League, the
8 National Constitution Center, the
9 Philadelphia Zoo, the Franklin
10 Institute, the Special Olympics,
11 Ronald McDonald House, Children's
12 Hospital, to name just a few.

13 These partnerships
14 really reflect the belief that a
15 strong business has to be strong in
16 the community and that is really
17 something we are absolutely
18 passionate about. We're also
19 investing heavily in our community
20 in our facilities, especially in
21 sustainability. We think that's
22 important as a leader in the
23 community.

24 At our Juniata plant,

1 our production plant is one of the
2 largest in the Coca-Cola system.
3 We're proud of that. We've
4 replaced all of our plastic rings
5 with paperboard carriers, reduced
6 plastic use by 200,000 pounds. Our
7 20-ounce plastic bottles are made
8 100% plastic-recycled reused
9 bottles. We've upgraded our entire
10 fleet, reduced emissions by 30%. I
11 want to thank Councilwoman Quetcy
12 Lozada for really partnering with
13 us in the community here, our
14 Councilperson. So thank you for
15 that.

16 Despite all these
17 efforts and investments we've made
18 locally, the beverage tax have
19 really had a profound and lasting
20 impact on our business, our
21 employees and our communities we
22 serve in Philadelphia and where we
23 work and grow. And I'll explain a
24 little bit why.

1 I grew up in
2 Philadelphia. I went to school in
3 Philadelphia and I'm proud really
4 about being part of Philadelphia
5 and the community. Two of my best
6 friends are teachers in the
7 Philadelphia community, so I know a
8 lot about the Philadelphia
9 community and very, very proud of
10 it and support it.

11 Our internal data -- and
12 this is our data, it's our books
13 and we're open and transparent
14 about it -- reflects that since the
15 beverage tax was enacted, we
16 experienced the 45% decline in
17 beverage sales within Philadelphia.
18 That's within the city regions.
19 And we have tax figures that back
20 this up. While sales in the
21 surrounding suburb markets and zip
22 codes are marked, and we have all
23 that data, increased by 17%.

24 You're going to say why

1 isn't it exactly the same number.
2 It's because people can't leave the
3 city to shop. Only the affluent
4 that have cars can shop outside the
5 city. So not all those sales
6 actually can get picked up by
7 outside the city.

8 That shift reflects more
9 of a change than just taste and
10 preference. It shows consumers are
11 really just shopping elsewhere to
12 avoid tax, taking their spending
13 power and the city's revenue with
14 it. Basically we heard it today.
15 They're taking the entire basket.
16 We heard it from Jeff Brown.
17 They're taking everything with
18 them, their entire shopping basket.

19 For Liberty Coke, that
20 resulted in a reduction of more
21 than 1 million physical cases, and
22 there's math behind all that of
23 products sold in Philadelphia. And
24 that ranges from juices, sports

1 drinks, diet sodas, diet teas,
2 about 5% of our total Liberty Coca-
3 Cola beverages of our entire
4 franchise. So again, it's 5% of 90
5 million cases sold.

6 So what do we do to
7 adjust for these market changes,
8 because people are talking numbers
9 theoretically. We cut jobs in the
10 Philadelphia market, but we shifted
11 our delivery workers, and Jack
12 mentioned it. We shifted them to
13 outside the city because our sales
14 outside the city picked up. So we
15 moved our drivers outside the city.

16 They're not paying wage
17 taxes or paying taxes in Bucks
18 County, Montgomery County. And a
19 good portion of the sales went to
20 Cherry Hill and other portions of
21 Jersey. So that's where a lot of
22 our jobs went to, merchandising
23 jobs, sales jobs.

24 At the same time, the

1 Philadelphia beverage industry
2 absorbed roughly \$68 million of
3 lost wages. That's all the impact
4 of those wages that got lost,
5 nearly as much as the city collects
6 from the tax, according to an
7 updated Oxford analysis that we
8 just got back from 2024. This wage
9 loss reduces household income and
10 spending power across all
11 Philadelphia neighborhoods.

12 In addition, the same
13 study reflects lost beverage sales
14 of almost \$76 million annually. So
15 the combination of the lost wages,
16 the lost beverage sales is about
17 \$144 million. Again, a snapshot
18 until 2024. Do the math on the 2%
19 sales tax because you can't count
20 the 6% and the city wage tax, I
21 think is 3.6. That's at least \$4
22 million that just goes away, never
23 going to get back, unless the sales
24 come back. So that's pretty

1 substantial.

2 Philadelphia households
3 are also paying a lot more. You
4 heard this from Jack. I don't want
5 to be repetitive, but I'm just
6 going to go in a little bit more
7 detail. The retail price for many
8 beverages have increased between
9 32% and 40% once the beverage tax
10 and sales tax both apply.

11 So, for example, a 12
12 pack of our cans, I think it's
13 there, which is mostly what people
14 buy predominantly cost an average
15 of \$5.39 and now is 7.55. It's 40%
16 increase is what the penny and a
17 half per ounce is, \$2 increase per
18 12 pack that is added on.

19 Two-liter bottle used to
20 cost 2.80. Now, it costs 3.80. I
21 think Jeff Brown said it's a dollar
22 increase per bottle. Even the
23 20-ounce bottle used to cost 2.47.
24 Now, it's 2.77, \$0.30. This

1 increase, we don't pass it on.
2 That increase, based on the law,
3 says the retailer has to put it on
4 the invoice. The consumer has to
5 pay it. It's not the beverage
6 companies. It has to get put on
7 the invoice. So I think that's a
8 misnomer I heard today. We're not
9 passing it on. It's passed on
10 based on the law.

11 Liberty Coca-Cola
12 remains absolutely committed to the
13 city. We want the city to know
14 that these costs are real for the
15 working families and small
16 businesses that serve them. You go
17 in North Philly right around our
18 plant, the bodegas and the small
19 businesses, their businesses,
20 whether you like it or not they
21 sell beverages. It's not just
22 soda, it's juices, it's teas, it's
23 every other product. They lost
24 half their business. Half of them

1 went out of business, small
2 businesses.

3 For higher income
4 residents, I said it, they just
5 avoid the tax. They hop in the
6 car, jump over the city limits and
7 they take their whole grocery cart
8 and pile up their groceries because
9 they're doing one stop. Jeff Brown
10 said that today.

11 I just want you to know
12 Liberty Coke is absolutely
13 committed to the city. We believe
14 it's important to fund the vital
15 programs. I want you to know that.
16 We absolutely -- even the PreK or
17 even the Rebuild, just the beverage
18 tax, you see the numbers. You
19 could project it out 10 years.
20 It's going to continue declining.
21 People are going to get smarter.
22 It's Philadelphia. There's a black
23 market. It's not going to stop.
24 It'll accelerate. The wage taxes

1 will continue to decline. That's
2 not going away.

3 So we stand ready to
4 work with City Council, the
5 Administration to identify any
6 fair, long-term solutions really to
7 sustain essential programs to make
8 Philadelphia really a competitive
9 city. Right now it's not growing
10 and this is one industry that's not
11 growing. It's actually going
12 backwards.

13 Just as a note, in
14 addition Philadelphia is the only
15 major city in the U.S. with a
16 beverage tax. Chicago repealed
17 their sweetened beverage tax
18 several years ago. West Virginia
19 who had a beverage tax up until
20 last year, after 71 years just
21 repealed. So thank you for your
22 time. Thank you for your service
23 to the people of Philadelphia.
24 Thank you.

1 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

2 Please state your name and begin
3 your testimony.

4 MR. GOINS: My name is
5 Reginald Goins and I am the
6 President and Chief Operating
7 Officer of the Honickman Companies.
8 The Honickman Companies own and
9 operate beverage businesses from
10 New York all the way down to North
11 Carolina.

12 And most of our facts,
13 and I have a whole list of facts,
14 are very similar to what
15 Mr. McGorry just stated. So I
16 won't restate those because you all
17 have had a long day. I've been
18 sitting back there listening to all
19 of this. I don't know how you all
20 keep it all straight quite frankly.

21 But I want to say that
22 all the facts that Fran have are
23 absolutely accurate. I know you've
24 had people up here with

1 contradicting points of view. It
2 is an absolute fact that since the
3 tax was put in place 40% of our
4 volume in the city of Philadelphia.
5 In the surrounding areas, we've had
6 27% increase outside of
7 Philadelphia. We own and operate
8 beverage companies from New York to
9 the North Carolina border. So all
10 the folks that left Philadelphia
11 that went shopping somewhere else
12 didn't kill our business. We still
13 have it. It's outside of
14 Philadelphia.

15 So what did we do? I
16 think it was Councilwoman
17 Richardson that said it earlier,
18 businesses know how to flex. We
19 sure do. What did we do, we
20 flexed. So those people who used
21 to work in Philadelphia no longer
22 work in Philadelphia. They work
23 outside of Philadelphia. We put
24 them to work in Southern New

1 Jersey. We put them to work in the
2 suburbs because the volume in
3 Philadelphia went to other places.

4 So this is absolutely
5 100% not about trying to eliminate
6 PreK. I'm a product of PreK. I
7 grew up as the youngest of 14
8 children. My mother had a 9th
9 grade education and my father had a
10 3rd grade education. My family
11 grew up -- I'm a product of PreK.
12 I graduated high school at the age
13 of 16 because I had a fair shot.
14 We grew up poorer than poor.

15 So this absolutely has
16 nothing to do with the PreK or any
17 of that stuff. So I completely
18 commend you all for the thought of
19 doing something to help the
20 Philadelphians, especially the
21 people who are in need. I am the
22 Chairman of the Board of a
23 nonprofit as well, as well as
24 running the soft drink businesses

1 we run.

2 I chair Volunteers of
3 America of Greater New York, \$190
4 million nonprofit. We run a lot of
5 the homeless shelters in New York
6 City. The last thing I want to do,
7 the last thing our company wants to
8 do is hurt people who are in need.
9 So this absolutely has nothing to
10 do with that and we would welcome
11 the opportunity to figure out a
12 more sustainable, long-lasting
13 solution to helping the people of
14 Philadelphia, which the Honickman
15 family, who've been in business
16 since 1957 here and have given just
17 a ton of money from a philanthropic
18 standpoint, to help people in
19 Philadelphia, be more than honored
20 to help figure out a solution. The
21 beverage tax is not it.

22 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

23 Just real quick while I have you
24 two there before we move on to the

1 next one. Just very general
2 question: When they were doing
3 this, you were both around, right?
4 Did anybody ever come to you with a
5 philanthropical option to this?

6 Because in reality, what
7 you just said, which struck me as
8 new information, was the fact that
9 by law you have to pass that on to
10 the customer, right? That's
11 correct what you said?

12 MR. MCGORRY: We don't
13 pass anything on. The retailer by
14 law has to put it on the invoice.
15 By law, they have to submit it to
16 us to now submit it into the city.
17 So we act as the broker, the broker
18 of record to collect it. So it's
19 more of an accounting. We play
20 accountant for collections.

21 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: All
22 right. Thank you for that
23 clarification.

24 MR. MCGORRY: But there

1 was no real conversation. I was
2 here from the Nutter two
3 administrations and the Kenney.
4 There was never a real conversation
5 about any charitable measures at
6 all.

7 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: Is
8 that a real conversation in your
9 mind?

10 MR. MCGORRY: I think we
11 should discuss it because it's easy
12 to (inaudible) in a vacuum without
13 guidelines and parameters governing
14 it. I worked for the City
15 Controller's Office so I think
16 there should be a broader
17 conversation around that, if you
18 know what I mean.

19 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
20 Yeah. Nobody even asked you to
21 donate some of this money in order
22 to help us?

23 MR. GOINS: Reginald's
24 correct. We give a lot back in the

1 city. That's what we do, our
2 employees, everything. I mean, I
3 don't know if you saw the Jefferson
4 Hospital that has the Honickman
5 Center. That's from these same
6 people, sell soda.

7 You go down to where
8 Project HOME happens and there's a
9 Honickman Learning Center for
10 underprivileged people, that's the
11 Honickman Companies. It's the same
12 people who are donating and giving
13 in Philadelphia since 1957. It's
14 the same people so --

15 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
16 That's what I was getting at. You
17 guys are already giving millions
18 upon millions of dollars in
19 charity. Nobody actually even
20 asked you if this would be
21 something that you would be willing
22 to support voluntarily rather than
23 whatever. But thank you.

24 Councilwoman Lozada had

1 a quick question and then we will
2 proceed. I just wanted to ask that
3 question while you guys are up
4 there.

5 COUNCILWOMAN LOZADA: I
6 want to say thank you to Jack at
7 Liberty Coke and I want to confirm
8 and reaffirm that he and his
9 organization have always been
10 present. Have always been very
11 supportive of activities and events
12 and groups in the 7th and I'm sure
13 beyond when asked to support
14 anything that is happening, whether
15 it be for children, whether it be
16 for seniors, whether it be for just
17 general (inaudible). And I just
18 want to say thank you.

19 MR. MCGORRY: You're
20 welcome. And she's hard to say no
21 to.

22 COUNCILWOMAN LOZADA:
23 Yeah. I think that what we'll hear
24 and it is very consistent is that,

1 as always we have become, as the
2 Mayor likes to say, expert
3 articulators of the problem. What
4 I will add to that is that although
5 many know the problems, none of us
6 want to respond to the difficult
7 decisions that need to be made to
8 be able to fix the problem.

9 And so, I think that
10 this is the beginning of what I
11 hope are more conversations through
12 a task force or a working group
13 that will bring us together to find
14 more sustainable solutions around
15 how do we do both, right, how do we
16 protect our workforce,
17 manufacturers and small businesses
18 working, operating and thriving,
19 and how do we respond to our
20 children through PreK and
21 afterschool programs that are
22 absolutely necessary in order to
23 keep our (inaudible) working. And
24 so, thank you again for all that

1 you do in the 7th and beyond to
2 make sure that the (inaudible) are
3 supported.

4 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: I'd
5 like to make note of our colleague
6 Councilman Curtis Jones. Did you
7 have --

8 COUNCILMAN JONES: Thank
9 you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you,
10 members of the Committee. I'm one
11 of the survivors of the soda wars,
12 if you would. I was here,
13 liberated a long time and I was
14 listening to the hearing in my
15 office and I remember Mr. Hyman
16 sitting right outside my office,
17 because I think we had a plug in
18 there that he could charge his
19 battery.

20 And literally, this
21 chamber went back and forth about
22 where we were. There were eight
23 votes, there were nine votes.
24 There were times that Bill Green,

1 who used to be here, was the anti-
2 soda tax guy. And at times, I
3 picked up the banner to become the
4 soda tax guy. But we all, all of
5 us cared about the kids. At the
6 end of the day cared about the
7 kids.

8 One of the things that
9 Member Harrity, Chairman Harrity
10 wants to do is figure out
11 sustainability. He wants to figure
12 out is there a reliable substitute
13 for the soda tax. And someone may
14 argue tax it was an aggressive tax
15 and this, that and the other. Some
16 say that -- but what made me come
17 down this hallway is the word
18 flexing.

19 As a benefit, I did not
20 know that my grandkids at the time
21 could not get in preschool. And
22 the surprise came to me, the first
23 preschool class that Jimmy, Mayor
24 Kenney at the time, sat over there

1 and I'm looking in the audience and
2 guess who's there? My grandkids
3 were there. And I was so shocked.
4 I mean, it was -- I did not make a
5 call. It was organic. It was
6 original, and it almost brought a
7 tear to my eyes.

8 My grandkids are doing
9 well because of that PreK. They
10 read -- one of them suffers from --
11 she's on the spectrum, autism, and
12 she needs extra care and extra
13 time. So I care about jobs in the
14 City of Philadelphia. I love my
15 grandkids. I care about jobs
16 leaving but I love my grandkids.
17 And we always should couch things
18 as how do we get to a win-win, how
19 do we get to a win-win.

20 I visited the Pepsi
21 plant up there. I think it's in
22 your district -- no, it's Coke.
23 Sorry, the opposition. We walked
24 through and so I know what economic

1 benefit you guys bring to our city
2 and I appreciate your
3 contributions. But we got to
4 figure out a win-win. And before
5 we take our foot off of first and
6 cut soda tax, we better know
7 because it's not just about my
8 grandkids. It's about all of our
9 kids.

10 And everybody knows that
11 if a kid cannot read up to about
12 4th grade, we know how many prison
13 cells to build. It is that
14 serious. So I just wanted to come
15 down. Thank you for indulging me,
16 Mr. Chairman. You almost lost my
17 vote. I ran down the hallway. I
18 said flexing. You know I'm for it.

19 So you said that many of
20 your employees left Philadelphia to
21 go to Southern Jersey, I think was
22 the quote.

23 MR. GOINS: No, they
24 didn't leave. They --

1 COUNCILMAN JONES: They
2 moved.

3 MR. GOINS: Didn't have
4 the work because we don't have the
5 routes. The soda sales are not
6 there.

7 COUNCILMAN JONES: Then
8 I stand corrected. I thought --

9 MR. GOINS: I think you
10 misunderstood.

11 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: The
12 people they would have had there
13 over in New Jersey because the
14 sales required it. It was more
15 sales over there so they needed
16 more people.

17 COUNCILMAN JONES: Then
18 I stand corrected.

19 MR. GOINS: Councilwoman
20 Richardson said businesses are good
21 at flexing. And I said, yes, we
22 had to flex to --

23 COUNCILMAN JONES: All
24 right. I'm getting older. Soda

1 tax --

2 COUNCILWOMAN LOZADA:

3 Just for the record, it's not

4 Councilmember Gauthier or

5 Richardson. It was Dr. Ahmad.

6 MR. GOINS: Okay. Got

7 you.

8 COUNCILMAN JONES: I

9 just wanted to let you know that I

10 support the concept as long as

11 there's a win-win, as long as our

12 kids get that PreK. There are

13 people that want to -- we want to

14 expand PreK. We don't want to

15 (inaudible). We want more kids to

16 benefit from PreK. I see the

17 difference. I saw it in my own

18 household. So I want to bring soda

19 prices down, I do and I respect the

20 economic contributions you guys

21 make.

22 Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

23 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

24 Thank you, Councilman.

1 COUNCILMAN JONES: I'm
2 going to go back down the hallway
3 and listen.

4 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
5 Please state your name and begin
6 your testimony. Thank you.

7 MS. RODRIGUEZ: Good
8 afternoon. I'm Jennifer Rodriguez
9 and I serve as President and CEO of
10 the Greater Philadelphia Hispanic
11 Chamber of Commerce. I appreciate
12 the opportunity to speak today on
13 behalf of our members regarding the
14 Philadelphia beverage tax.

15 While GPHCC does not
16 currently hold a formal position on
17 the tax itself, we're actively
18 engaging with our members to better
19 understand its impact and
20 implications. Earlier this month,
21 we initiated a survey to gather
22 updated feedback from our members,
23 our business members.

24 Preliminary feedback

1 aligns with concerns raised in our
2 original survey conducted when the
3 tax was first proposed. The
4 businesses that responded,
5 primarily small enterprises located
6 in North Philadelphia neighborhoods
7 include bodegas, restaurants,
8 retail shops and professional
9 service providers. Many operates
10 with fewer than five employees and
11 are deeply embedded in their
12 communities.

13 Among those who sell
14 sugar sweetened beverages, some
15 reported raising prices to offset
16 the tax while others noted no
17 direct impact. However, indirect
18 effects such as changes in customer
19 traffic and supplier costs were
20 mentioned. In fact, notably one
21 respondent observed improvement in
22 nearby parks, suggesting that the
23 tax has had visible community
24 benefits. So the results are

1 mixed.

2 When asked about overall
3 impact of the tax, responses have
4 been mixed. 50% rated it as very
5 positive, while others express
6 concern (inaudible). Importantly,
7 75% of respondents believe that the
8 tax has supported improvements to
9 public services such as parks,
10 schools, libraries and PreK
11 programs.

12 We want to emphasize
13 that one of the original goals of
14 the beverage tax works to expand
15 high quality access to quality PreK
16 education, a goal that our
17 members -- and we have spoken about
18 this today -- strongly support. It
19 is essential that this benefit
20 continues to accrue in our
21 communities, particularly those who
22 served by Hispanic-owned
23 businesses.

24 Early childhood

1 education is a foundational
2 investment in our city's future.
3 It is one of the top challenges for
4 small business owners and its
5 sustained funding must remain a
6 priority. At the same time, our
7 members recognize the need for
8 balance. They understand the
9 importance of investing in public
10 services. But they also emphasize
11 that the burden borne by small
12 businesses, especially those in
13 underserved communities must be
14 acknowledged.

15 One respondent
16 eloquently stated that the revenue
17 from the tax should create a
18 balance supporting essential public
19 services, while also easing the
20 burden on business community. To
21 that end, perhaps there's an
22 opportunity for the beverage tax to
23 be very transparent and equitably
24 allocated and there may be an

1 opportunity for a portion of these
2 funds to be reinvested directly in
3 the businesses that have absorbed
4 the cost of the policy through
5 small business grants and other
6 economic support mechanisms.

7 This is a difficult
8 compromise our businesses have
9 made. Accepting added cost and the
10 revenue loss, we hope that their
11 sacrifice will lead to meaningful
12 community investment. And so, we
13 believe that honoring this
14 compromise is not only fair, it is
15 essential to building trust and
16 fostering inclusivity. Thank you.

17 MR. HOWELL: Good
18 afternoon, Committee members. My
19 name is Mike Howell. Thank you for
20 the opportunity to provide
21 testimony today. I will do
22 everyone in this room a favor and I
23 will be brief with my comments.

24 I'm here today on behalf

1 of the Pennsylvania Food Merchants
2 Association. PFMA has been
3 advocating for the food and
4 beverage industry across the
5 Commonwealth since 1952. Today the
6 association represents more than
7 600 members and 3000 retail food
8 stores that collectively employ
9 more than 350,000 Pennsylvanians.

10 In Philadelphia, PFMA
11 members operate more than 140
12 grocery stores, convenience stores
13 and other businesses in the food
14 supply chain, employing thousands
15 of city residents and serving
16 millions of customers each year.
17 Jeff Brown spoke earlier and he
18 really did a nice job of
19 encapsulating what our industry is
20 seeing. And all I would really add
21 to what he said is he is not the
22 exception. His experience is not
23 unique. This is something that
24 we've been hearing from our members

1 up and down the food supply chain.

2 The one thing I did want
3 to mention specifically we've
4 talked about volume here. As has
5 been mentioned, we saw an almost
6 50% decrease in beverage sales
7 within Philadelphia since the
8 prohibition came into effect. This
9 decline is not only reduced revenue
10 for businesses on those specific
11 items, but it's also decreased foot
12 traffic in grocery and convenience
13 stores, which has adversely
14 impacted other sales.

15 I think what's important
16 to understand about the grocery
17 industry is that it survives based
18 on sales volume, not on the margin
19 of individual products. We need a
20 lot of people coming through the
21 doors to make the numbers work and
22 the soda taxes hurt us in that
23 respect. The average margin in
24 food retail is between 1 and 2

1 percent.

2 So in other words, the
3 difference between a grocery store
4 ending the year in the black and
5 the red is between \$.01 and \$.02 on
6 every dollar of revenue they make.
7 That's why this tax has been a real
8 challenge. Those margins are
9 already fine and there's a limited
10 ability to absorb those costs when
11 it comes to other goods that are
12 being sold.

13 Councilmember Lozada, to
14 your point of establishing a
15 working group or task force,
16 absolutely whatever you come up
17 with in terms of continuing this
18 discussion, hopefully, this is not
19 the final word but the start, on
20 behalf of PFMA please count us in.
21 Thank you.

22 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:
23 (Inaudible) as to how we can come
24 to common ground to make this

1 happen. I do have some questions
2 that I just need some clarity on
3 and I think this is the panel to
4 help me figure this out. So I've
5 heard that folks said that when
6 they go to the stores to buy
7 beverages, unsweetened and
8 sweetened beverages are all equally
9 priced.

10 So I'm trying to figure
11 out the revenue that you would get
12 from the unsweetened beverages
13 being taxed or at the same price
14 because of the soda tax what is
15 that money, though? Is that
16 equally just go into the pot to
17 sustain what you're already doing?
18 I'm kind of confused. Where does
19 that revenue go? If everything is
20 priced at the same price point,
21 whether it's sweetened or
22 unsweetened, where does that
23 revenue go? That's one.

24 And Part 2, I'm not a

1 big soda drinker so I wouldn't
2 really know. I buy water. But I
3 was wondering what is the price
4 difference between the Wawa on
5 Limekiln Pike and one that would be
6 on Ogontz Avenue? Is it a huge
7 price difference or is it all
8 priced the same?

9 Because in my mind, I
10 figured out when I go look if it's
11 a Wawa, it's all 2 for \$4.50 or
12 whatever the number is. So I'm
13 just trying to understand this
14 argument just for clarity of if
15 it's equally being priced at
16 certain huge corporations that are
17 surrounding Philadelphia, I'm
18 confused. The point is being
19 confused to me of how are we losing
20 jobs just in Philadelphia if it's
21 all priced at the same level,
22 whether you're in Cheltenham or
23 Philadelphia? So can you give me
24 some clarity to that please.

1 MR. MCGORRY: I'll
2 attempt to take a stab at it
3 because your question is asked a
4 lot because it is a bit confusing.
5 If you go down City Line, the Acme
6 outside of the city has different
7 only because in the city it has a
8 beverage tax. On the side where
9 the Acme is, there is no beverage
10 tax.

11 So if you're buying a
12 12-pack in the city, there's an
13 extra \$2.16 of tax on it. You go
14 to the Acme, there is no extra
15 \$2.16. There's no markup by the
16 Acme. It is prescribed by the
17 actual penny and a half per ounce.
18 We don't prescribe it. The
19 retailer doesn't prescribe it. The
20 tax law prescribes it. We have to
21 put it on the invoice to Acme.
22 Acme has to submit and pay us and
23 then we pay the city.

24 So same with a Wawa.

1 The Wawa in the city sells the same
2 retail as it does outside the city,
3 except for the one in the city has
4 to add on \$0.30 for tax.

5 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS: So
6 it's priced at the register, not on
7 the shelf?

8 MR. MCGORRY: It's on
9 the shelf. They actually say --
10 and some retailers, maybe they have
11 the tax with and without the tax.
12 They may get a little cute, but
13 they try to be very transparent and
14 say, here's your tax without the
15 tax and here's it with the tax so
16 the consumer knows exactly what
17 they're paying extra for the tax.
18 And it's right on the tag itself,
19 on the shelf tag. So the Wawa is
20 an extra \$0.30 in the city. Go
21 right outside the Wawa on City Line
22 or Cheltenham, you're paying \$0.30
23 less.

24 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:

1 Okay. That was my only, like, in
2 the (inaudible) question just for
3 clarity.

4 MR. MCGORRY: And that's
5 why, especially the larger packs
6 people will drive. If you think
7 about it, \$2 is an extra gallon of
8 gas frankly. That's how people
9 think.

10 MR. GOINS: The \$2 is
11 just on one 12-pack. So if you buy
12 two or three 12-packs, it's 8
13 bucks.

14 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS: I
15 get you. I'm following you.
16 Because we have so many other taxes
17 in the city. We have cigarette
18 tax. We have taxes on alcohol and
19 all these other sin items. So are
20 you just against soda tax or just
21 all of them should be eliminated?

22 MR. GOINS: Even if it's
23 a diet soda, you're paying the tax.
24 If it's full sugar soda, you're

1 still paying the tax. So it's not
2 a -- it's a misunderstanding --

3 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS: So
4 should we do a sugar tax? Let's
5 tax all sugar items. Is that what
6 we're leaning towards?

7 MR. GOINS: I think
8 instead of just pointing out a
9 beverage tax, if you want to do
10 something to say, hey, we need
11 something on all things that have
12 sugar, then okay. But this is just
13 specifically on beverages. Whether
14 it has diet or regular, it's still
15 taxed. So it's more taxing soda
16 than it is taxing sugar.

17 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:
18 Okay. So I'm hearing we'll be okay
19 for doing a sugar tax. It's a
20 problem because it's a soda tax?

21 MR. GOINS: It's a soda
22 tax, right. It's not a sugar tax.
23 If you put a tax on everything that
24 has sugar in the whole supermarket,

1 one, it wouldn't be as drastic as
2 just on one item in the basket
3 which is soda. If it's spread
4 across all things with sugar, now
5 you don't have one impact on one
6 industry that's losing jobs. Now,
7 it's across a lot of different
8 things and you'll probably have a
9 more sustainable thing that doesn't
10 drive people out to the suburbs, so
11 you're not losing jobs in
12 Philadelphia.

13 MR. MCGORRY: Can I just
14 clarify? I think that was the
15 argument that we were trying to
16 give the Administration. When you
17 pick one item, it is a huge
18 percent. It's a huge percentage
19 increase on one item versus a
20 broad-based tax. Where if it's
21 just a little bit of a tax on a
22 bigger item, it's only a percent or
23 a 2% sales tax. Honestly, I'm in
24 the city, it's a rounding error

1 frankly. In a lot of cases, nobody
2 really blinks about 2% tax. But a
3 40% tax on something, yeah, they
4 just stop buying it.

5 So I think that's what
6 Jeff Brown was trying to say, a
7 broad-based tax would have been
8 much more palatable. And that's
9 what we were trying to kind of sell
10 the administration on something
11 that was more broad-based.

12 MR. GOINS: So same kind
13 of support for revenue, same kind
14 of support for PreK, same kind of
15 support for Rebuild. I mean, all
16 the same things, just not driving
17 people away from Philadelphia.

18 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS:
19 Okay. I'll leave it there.

20 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: Are
21 you good?

22 COUNCILWOMAN BROOKS: I
23 can live with that.

24 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

1 We're going to move on.

2 Mr. Kunkel, are we in public
3 comment?

4 THE CLERK: There are no
5 further witnesses, Mr. Chairman.

6 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: No
7 further witnesses. I'm sorry.
8 Hold on. Let me get to where I'm
9 supposed to be. Okay. I would
10 like to thank all the witnesses for
11 joining us today.

12 Clerk, will you read the
13 list of people who have provided
14 written testimony to the public
15 record.

16 THE CLERK: Capital
17 programs, the Mayor's Office of
18 Education, Office of Children and
19 Families, Department of Health,
20 Department of Parks & Rec, the Free
21 Library, Philadelphia City
22 Controller.

23 Also included as
24 beverage tax revenue and

1 expenditures, Arthur Steinberg,
2 President of Philadelphia
3 Federation of Teachers, Elizabeth
4 Ozer, First Up, and Jacob Zychick,
5 American Heart Association.

6 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

7 Thank you, Mr. Kunkel.

8 Before we conclude our
9 public hearing on Resolution No.
10 250028, are there any -- okay.

11 Here we go. There are no other
12 speakers on the public comment --
13 no, Mr. Kunkel, where am -- I'm
14 missing a sheet. That's why.

15 Sorry about the confusion here.

16 All right. There we go.

17 Hearing none, we will now
18 transition to our public comment
19 session.

20 Mr. Kunkel, will you
21 please call the first speaker for
22 public comment -- please limit your
23 comments to three minutes for the
24 sake of time. Otherwise, we'll

1 have to break and give our
2 stenographer who's been very
3 patient a break. But if we can get
4 through this, there's not many
5 public comment speakers we won't
6 have to do that. But it doesn't
7 matter.

8 Please bring up anybody
9 that's here for public comment.

10 THE CLERK: Elizabeth
11 Farwell.

12 (Witnesses approached
13 witness table.)

14 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
15 Okay. Just call them out.
16 Whoever's here will come.

17 THE CLERK: Daler
18 Khamidov, Christie Morrow and Lisa
19 Smith, Laverne Cheeseboro.

20 (Witnesses approached
21 witness table.)

22 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
23 Hello. Thank you for your patience
24 and being here. I know this has

1 been a long hearing. We got a lot
2 of information. So as far as I'm
3 concerned, it's a win. I
4 acknowledge our former colleague
5 David Oh. Thank you for being here
6 today, Councilman.

7 Please start with your
8 name and your testimony. Whoever
9 wants to go, I'm good with it.
10 Please start with your name and
11 testimony.

12 MR. KHAMIDOV: Good
13 afternoon, Mr. Harrity. Good
14 afternoon, Dear Councilmen and
15 Councilwomen. So my name is Daler
16 Khamidov. I am a resident of
17 Philadelphia and CEO of U.S.
18 Financial and Consulting Services.
19 In addition, I serve as Vice-Chair
20 of the Asian American Business
21 Alliance of Greater Philadelphia,
22 chairman of the American Uzbekistan
23 Chamber of Commerce and Industry
24 and Chair of the Pennsylvania

1 branch of the forum of
2 Uzbekistanian Americans.

3 There in Philadelphia
4 are about 442,000 Asian Americans
5 living in our three-state area,
6 Philadelphia, New Jersey and
7 Delaware, and many of them are
8 small business owners. And even I
9 am small business owner too. I am
10 in communication with many of the
11 leaders and organizations in
12 addition to Central Asians,
13 Russian-speaking people. We
14 interact cooperatively with
15 Ukrainians, Russian and other
16 different kinds of 15 ethnics,
17 ethnic groups and nations.

18 So after all this
19 discussion, I'm really confused.
20 I'm going to tell by my words
21 everything. We have to separate
22 two different things. I'm a former
23 teacher and my mom was a former
24 teacher, nobody, no one small

1 business owner against PreK,
2 against school, against all the
3 projects, against parks and
4 recreations. We support the
5 projects. We argue today against
6 soda taxes.

7 When soda taxes was
8 presented on 2017, we believe we're
9 going to reduce the amount of
10 diabetes, heart disease and
11 alcoholic disease. We got it in 10
12 years? No. All this disease was
13 increased. This is -- some
14 confused about another thing. We
15 waiting more money from soda taxes,
16 but another way we fighting against
17 disease. How is possible? It's
18 not going to work that way. It
19 must be more money to reduce the
20 disease, heart attack, diabetes and
21 other.

22 And what we have finally
23 this time in 10 years, we have soda
24 taxes. Before soda taxes was

1 approved on 2016, we had 17,500
2 cases of heart disease. Now, we
3 have 19,000. That was increased.
4 The soda taxes not affected to that
5 and other things.

6 Before soda taxes, we
7 had in 2016, 11,000 cases diabetes.
8 on 2024, we have 12,000. It's
9 increased again. Same thing, we
10 got 70 million last year, I
11 believe, right from soda taxes.
12 But from that, we spent 32 millions
13 for alcoholic disease.

14 Around the country, we
15 have 19,000 cities and only 8 of
16 them have soda taxes, one of them
17 Philadelphia. How pay another
18 19,000 cities for park and
19 recreations, for PreK for another.
20 They found another sources. Do we
21 have that sources? Yes, of course.
22 Philadelphia is a big city;
23 1,500,000 people live right here.

24 And people who's sitting

1 on the chair seats right here or
2 who got the signs like small taxes,
3 but big differences, I want to
4 explain to you guys what that
5 means. Few minutes ago, the CEO of
6 Pepsi or Coca company, he said, we
7 got increased 40% of prices for
8 soda, right. Who paid that, big
9 companies. No, I'm a owner of
10 restaurant. I will tell you, you
11 guys who hold the sign, you pay the
12 taxes from your pocket. Because I
13 live on the border of Philadelphia
14 and out of Philadelphia, Bensalem.
15 Every month I spend \$2,000 for food
16 only for my family of four people,
17 2000 monthly.

18 Of course, in my food
19 basket I have some beverage too.
20 It's not only Coke or Pepsi. It's
21 another, Powerade, Gatorade. It's
22 sweets, another non-alcoholic
23 beverage, it's so many of them.
24 Now, last five, six years I spent

1 that money in Bensalem because it's
2 two minutes away from my home.

3 What happened finally?

4 We have 2 million population in
5 Philadelphia, 2 million population.
6 Annually, every people use 144
7 liters non-alcoholic beverage.
8 That money now spending in out of
9 Philly. We don't lose only 2000
10 jobs. We lose so many things,
11 logistics, delivery, jobs,
12 restaurants.

13 In my restaurants, few
14 minutes from my restaurant in
15 Benalem they sell two-liter soda
16 for \$2. I must sell that for \$4.
17 Where I get that money? From you,
18 from customers, from people. Same
19 big company who produced another
20 non-alcoholic beverage. You think
21 they pay that money? No, I pay
22 that taxes, because in Bensalem I
23 can get for a 1.50 two-liter soda.
24 In Philadelphia, it's \$3. Who pay

1 that 1.50 extra? I pay from my
2 pocket. That's why it's very
3 important.

4 Once again, we not
5 against that all social projects.
6 Everyone who adequate people
7 sitting here, we support the
8 projects, PreK, Parks & Recreation
9 and other. What about other city,
10 for example, San Antonio in Texas?
11 Same amount of population,
12 1,500,000. They have soda taxes?
13 No. How much they spend for parks
14 and recreations? 100 million
15 yearly. How much we spend right
16 here, 5 million. Differences, big
17 differences. They got soda taxes?
18 No, they didn't. That's the
19 problem.

20 This is the reason why
21 we have to stop by that because
22 it's not affected to us. Soda
23 taxes doesn't make equal
24 competition for me and Bensalem

1 residents. We have two different
2 conditions. I got that money from
3 your pocket because I pay that soda
4 taxes. They not. That's why so
5 many in Asian American community,
6 lot of people decide to open
7 businesses, restaurants, grocery
8 stores and other businesses out of
9 Philadelphia. We lost millions
10 from my analysis. We lost about
11 like 700 million annually. We make
12 70 million, but we lost from sales
13 700 million. But specialists have
14 to make more clearly that amount.
15 Thank you so much.

16 FORMER COUNCILMAN OH:
17 All right. Thank you very much.
18 My name is David Oh and I want to
19 first thank you for holding this
20 hearing, really looking at the idea
21 of how can you sustain this program
22 over a long period of time. I
23 think it's a very important
24 question.

1 The perspective that I'd
2 like to present is that of the
3 Asian American Business Alliance of
4 Greater Philadelphia. We are an
5 umbrella group that represents many
6 restaurants, corner stores, take-
7 out restaurants and other types of
8 businesses that deal directly with
9 the neighborhoods, communities and
10 others, spanning from the Middle
11 East to the Pacific Rim, so a very
12 broad organization.

13 We are tri-state. And
14 so, we're not only in Philadelphia.
15 And so, my comments are related to
16 that perspective and it is because
17 myself, having been a legislator
18 once, I know that you need to get
19 the best possible information to
20 make your decisions in the best
21 interest of this city. So I'll try
22 to be direct about this.

23 The soda tax is a very
24 disliked tax. What I mean is

1 disliked by businesses. Whether
2 they benefit or they are harmed by
3 it, they don't like the tax. That
4 means our businesses just outside
5 of Philadelphia like the tax in the
6 sense they benefit from it. They
7 don't like the tax because they
8 don't want that tax to happen in
9 their county, in their township.
10 They don't think it's a wise or
11 smart tax.

12 They do appreciate the
13 Philadelphia tax because they've
14 seen an equal amount of increase in
15 their sales as we have seen a
16 decrease in our sales, greater
17 employment, other things. I doubt
18 they've seen an increase in
19 cavities or obesity commensurate
20 with the increase in their sales
21 quite frankly.

22 Our businesses in the
23 city truly dislike that tax.
24 There's many other issues they may

1 have, but that tax is very
2 representative of this. If you are
3 going to fund PreK, if you are
4 going to provide a benefit to the
5 children, doesn't that fall upon
6 the public in general, everybody.
7 Not just one small sector of the
8 community, not just those
9 businesses, retailers who sell to
10 people and in this case, sell to
11 mostly the poorest people in our
12 city.

13 So now, they're
14 increasing cost to them. It
15 creates a lot of problems, a lot of
16 animosity and they don't like to do
17 that, but they are kind of forced
18 to do that. These businesses would
19 rather be able to reduce or repeal
20 that tax, as you said, what is
21 going to replace it.

22 But if you spread the
23 tax or the fees across, you would
24 have more money, more sustainable

1 over a long period of time. So
2 what our business organization,
3 very clearly in our board we voted
4 against the funding of PreK through
5 solely the soda tax.

6 We are very much
7 standing with you in the sense you
8 have to find a more sustainable,
9 broad-based way that you can really
10 do this. Because the result of the
11 tax is this: When the tax first
12 occurs, yes, there is revenues but
13 over time, not only is there a
14 decline, there's an increased loss
15 of jobs and there's an increased
16 movement of business outside of the
17 city.

18 The type of jobs that
19 people in these communities need,
20 they are for the most part not
21 going to get a high-paying job at
22 Comcast. Hopefully they'll be
23 manufacturing jobs, but small
24 business jobs are the jobs that

1 need to be created in most of our
2 neighborhoods where people can find
3 real employment and develop
4 themselves from there.

5 So for us and our board
6 and our organization, we would urge
7 this Council to do what you're
8 doing, find an alternative to a
9 very particular, narrow, hard-
10 hitting tax that has caused the
11 loss of jobs, loss of opening
12 businesses and has really burdened
13 the poorest people the most. Thank
14 you.

15 MS. CHEESEBORO: Thank
16 you. Good afternoon, everybody.
17 I'm going to hurry up and rush this
18 along because we hungry. My name
19 is Laverne Cheeseboro and I'm the
20 owner of Heavenly Made Creations in
21 Southwest Philadelphia, a family
22 group child care program and a
23 proud PHL PreK provider that has
24 been serving since this program

1 started in 2017.

2 I am a mother of two
3 adult sons, but I want to emphasize
4 this program funds our children,
5 not just mine, but our children.
6 This is an investment in our
7 children. If the General Fund has
8 to be used in addition, whatever
9 fund has to be used, this is an
10 investment in our children. They
11 are not a charity. It is a
12 lifeline for our children, our
13 families and our early education
14 programs.

15 Serving our children is
16 essential. During the pandemic, we
17 were considered essential but we
18 continue to not be a priority when
19 it comes time to planning in these
20 budgets. The PHL PreK program is
21 not child care. It is an early
22 education that has opened doors for
23 families that value education and
24 understand it begins before

1 kindergarten. It has ensured
2 children have a safe and nurturing
3 environment to learn and grow and
4 strengthen neighborhoods by
5 investing in the youngest learners.

6 And for providers like
7 myself, PHL has allowed us to
8 continue to do the work with
9 excellence and sustainability.
10 This is not about soda. The
11 beverage tax is a concern, but
12 charging those in poverty for brown
13 bags is not?

14 This is not about
15 children. Don't look to take away
16 the needs of our children. They
17 are not a charity. They are our
18 future. Finding funding for SEPTA
19 has been priority, but without
20 funding for PreK the SEPTA
21 employees can't go to work.

22 With cost of living
23 increasing, they too can't afford
24 the true cost of early education.

1 We must invest in our children.
2 They are our priority. They are
3 our future. And I'm going to stop
4 right there. Thank you for hearing
5 my testimony.

6 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
7 (Inaudible). Thank you, everybody.
8 Colleagues, do you have
9 any questions for this panel?

10 COUNCILWOMAN LOZADA I
11 don't have a question. I just want
12 to say thank you so much for your
13 input. Thank you for your patience
14 and for staying so long, for
15 sharing your perspectives. I think
16 that as a result of testimonies
17 like yours we will continue the
18 conversation and figure out what
19 are the best options, right.

20 Again, this is not about
21 this or that. We need to figure
22 out how we do this and that because
23 both are extremely important. So I
24 just want to say thank you so much

1 for being with us today and for
2 your patience. It's been a long
3 day. It's been a long hearing.
4 And so, sometimes folks pick up and
5 go and we don't get to benefit from
6 testimonies like yours.

7 MS. CHEESEBORO: And
8 I'll just add just bring us to the
9 table, because we definitely cannot
10 have this conversation about what
11 sources and resources we can use to
12 continue to fund and keep this
13 program going if we are not at the
14 table so that you all understand
15 how this program is ran and how we
16 need the resources that we do to
17 continue to sustain it.

18 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
19 Absolutely. You definitely -- the
20 people doing the work should
21 definitely be in the room when
22 we're making decisions. That's for
23 sure. Look, it was brought up,
24 this became something over the

1 years. When they first started
2 this, I was around for it. I
3 remember the inside politics of how
4 this happened.

5 In the beginning, this
6 was supposed to be a container tax
7 or a sugary products tax, which
8 would have pushed it instead of
9 4400 products over millions of
10 products, which in turn would have
11 been able to be less on the
12 consumer and still bring in more
13 money for the schools.

14 The fact of the matter
15 is that if we would have done it
16 that way, as you heard stated,
17 nobody's going to complain about a
18 couple percentage points on a
19 dollar. They are complaining about
20 \$0.38 on a dollar, you know what
21 I'm saying. So if we getting the
22 ideas and bringing -- this is why
23 we want to do this, because the
24 fact of the matter is this is not

1 abstainable. We need to do
2 something because I'm scared for
3 our kids. I don't want this
4 happening.

5 And again, I said it
6 before, I may not be here. This is
7 going to be -- that shouldn't be
8 the way it is. That's what
9 happens. So many times in this
10 building and others bureaucracy
11 checks in, you understand, and
12 nobody wants to admit when
13 something is wrong or something
14 needs to be changed, especially the
15 people who did it.

16 So what we need to do is
17 bring everybody together in the
18 room for a real conversation on how
19 we bring this to the future for all
20 our kids in Philadelphia. Because
21 me, I said it in the beginning, I
22 believe the state should be paying
23 for this just like the other six,
24 seven states that I mentioned are

1 doing. This is part of education.
2 We already know the studies show
3 that if you start them before
4 kindergarten, they have a much
5 better chance of succeeding. We
6 need to get there. I believe that
7 we should be paying for it. The
8 question is how do we pay for it.
9 That's it.

10 Do we have more
11 witnesses?

12 THE CLERK: Yes.

13 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

14 Thank you for your testimony.

15 THE CLERK: Layla Reed,
16 Latonya Godbom(ph), Donna Cooper.

17 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

18 Donna's still here.

19 (Witnesses approached
20 witness table.)

21 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

22 Thank you for your patience.

23 MS. COOPER: No problem.

24 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: I

1 don't understand. We should have
2 had you on one of the panels, but
3 it's okay.

4 MS. COOPER: That's
5 okay. It's freezing in here so I
6 have my coat on. Sorry. Thank you
7 for the opportunity to speak. And
8 I want to thank you, Councilman
9 Harrity, for pointing out the fact
10 that you were here when this
11 happened.

12 One of the things I
13 wanted to get on the record --

14 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
15 Well, I wasn't actually in Council
16 when it happened. I was an
17 operative --

18 MS. COOPER: Yeah,
19 exactly. And Councilwoman Brooks
20 is very familiar with the creation
21 of the soda tax and what happened.
22 And I just want to get on the
23 record that Council had 18 hours of
24 hearings. The soda industry, the

1 Chambers, the early childhood
2 community were deeply involved in
3 the conversation and
4 philanthropists. In fact, the
5 conversation about Harold
6 Honickman, he was in this Council.

7 And he was asked point
8 blank, if we don't pass the soda
9 tax, will you come up with the \$50
10 million that's needed? And he's
11 like, what are you guys crazy. I
12 mean, even the largest contribution
13 to Project HOME, beloved Project
14 HOME is \$5 million a year. And
15 collectively, they raise less than
16 20% of their budget from
17 contributions. So the idea that
18 philanthropy is going to be a way
19 that we fund a \$67 million set of
20 investments in kids, I think is not
21 a realistic starting point.

22 I also want to say that
23 those 18 hours of hearings were
24 predated by a commission that met

1 for 18 months, on which Marita
2 Crawford sat as did I, and we
3 worked through revenue options, and
4 this was the consensus of that
5 commission as a viable revenue
6 option, knowing that once it was
7 instituted, the amount of revenue
8 would decline.

9 But in spite of you're
10 claiming that it is not working, we
11 are generating 83% of expected
12 revenue. We thought we'd get 80.
13 We're at 67. That's 83%. That's a
14 pretty good return on something
15 that was expected to decline much
16 more rapidly. Should we do more?
17 Absolutely. But the idea that
18 we're going to solve this with a
19 tax credit for contributions and
20 charity is the way our kids are
21 going to get a good start in life,
22 I would urge us to think otherwise.

23 Now, the real reason I
24 wanted to be here today is because

1 there are many studies that point
2 out that when the soda tax was
3 enacted, the soda industry
4 increased the price of soda greater
5 than the amount of tax immediately.
6 The tax was \$0.015 an ounce, the
7 amount that was jacked up on the
8 prices was a 30% increase in soda
9 above the tax.

10 So for Pepsi and Coke
11 and the union to come here today
12 and say that they lost jobs because
13 of the tax, that may be true, we
14 don't know, because they increased
15 the price more than the price of
16 the tax. So we can't say, oh, it's
17 the tax that caused this problem.
18 There are industry patterns,
19 particularly in taking advantage of
20 the passage of the tax that may
21 have contributed to whatever job
22 declines that they have suggested.

23 But I would urge you,
24 Councilman, to ask for the evidence

1 of that job decline because you
2 cannot see it in public data,
3 Bureau of Labor Statistics,
4 unemployment. There is no change
5 in the distribution or in the
6 retail sector that anybody can
7 identify that comes anywhere near
8 the numbers that the soda industry
9 is claiming.

10 If they were able to
11 show a thousand job losses over
12 eight years, that would be 200 jobs
13 a year. I don't know what that
14 means. I don't know what that data
15 is. I don't think anybody does
16 because I don't think that data
17 exists. But if it does, they
18 should show it. And then contrast
19 that to the 1350 jobs created in
20 PreK, sadly at a lower pay rate.
21 But I would ask us to think more
22 carefully about the jobs claims,
23 the soda sale claims and the reason
24 that that happened.

1 Now, Councilwoman
2 Brooks, thank you very much for
3 asking about the sugary drink
4 versus unsugary drink price. When
5 soda was enacted, I went to my
6 corner store. Sweetened and
7 unsweetened beverages went up the
8 exact same price.

9 I last weekend went to
10 18 stores. Every one of them had
11 sweetened and unsweetened at
12 exactly the same price. So that
13 means if we've generated \$67
14 million in unsweetened beverages,
15 I'd love to know what they've
16 generated -- I'm sorry, on
17 sweetened beverages. I would love
18 to know what they've generated on
19 unsweetened beverages and explain
20 to me how that sort of extra
21 windfall didn't do something for
22 them to enable them to continue to
23 employ their employees.

24 So there's a lot of data

1 here that if you are going to bring
2 people together, please recognize
3 we will be dogged to demand
4 industry evidence, to demand that
5 they open their books, to demand
6 that they show where these job
7 losses are and to demand they show
8 us where the money that they built
9 Philadelphians out of on
10 unsweetened beverages, where that
11 money went and maybe we should be
12 thinking about a beverage tax as
13 opposed to an all sugar tax,
14 because we've already got that
15 industry showing that they can make
16 a ton of money and continue to
17 employ people.

18 They told the
19 Councilwoman, who was Councilwoman
20 Maria Quinones, they were going to
21 close her soda plant right away,
22 right, the bottling plant -- and
23 you live near there -- and that
24 bottling plant is still there. So

1 the fact of the matter is we were
2 told the sky was going to fall. I
3 believe the soda industry has made
4 more money off of this tax than
5 they expected.

6 I think we are doing a
7 very good job with collections,
8 getting 83% of the revenue and it
9 is having the desired impact. If
10 we're going to bring people
11 together, let's start with the
12 facts, get them to give us evidence
13 and then think about how we do
14 more. That's all I came to say to
15 you today. Thank you.

16 APP.

17 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

18 (Inaudible). Okay. There we go.
19 Sorry about the technical
20 difficulties. I thank you for
21 staying all day and being around.
22 And I agree -- because people think
23 I got involved in this to have the
24 hearing because of the unions, and

1 that was not the case.

2 It's because I live on a
3 little tiny street in Kensington
4 and every night when I get home, my
5 neighbors are there to beat me up
6 about everything that's going on in
7 my neighborhood. Now, most of the
8 time that's about the drug dealers
9 on the corner or other issues that
10 we have.

11 But one day I get home
12 and Mrs. Parker down the street
13 comes running up to me, I got to
14 talk to you. And I thought she was
15 going to yell about something that
16 happened on the corner and all
17 that. And she comes up to me and
18 says, I'm tired of this. She says,
19 my \$0.99 bottle of soda went from
20 \$0.99 to \$5. Now, it's only
21 supposed to be 3.20, but come to
22 find out the store was putting a
23 surcharge on top of it.

24 MS. COOPER: Exactly.

1 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: So
2 that's exactly why I did this. A,
3 we got to start enforcing what we
4 got going on already. B, I get it,
5 80% of the money coming in, okay.
6 But the fact of the matter is next
7 year it's going to be 70%, the
8 following year it's going to be 60,
9 50, 30, until it's gone. We can't
10 wait until then. I don't want to
11 wait. I want to find out what the
12 answer is to this now.

13 Again, having good ideas
14 here that came out with people
15 saying, and I heard this in the
16 beginning, when they first posted
17 this, it wasn't supposed to be a
18 soda tax. It was supposed to be
19 either a carton tax or a products
20 tax along all sugary products,
21 which would have been over millions
22 of products and would have been
23 pennies, as it goes to \$0.32 or
24 \$0.38 on a dollar, it would have

1 been \$.03 to \$0.05 on a dollar, if
2 that, and we would have made the
3 same amount of money, if not more,
4 without the impact that it was
5 having. That's what we're trying
6 to get at. I need to find out how
7 do I keep this going for the kids
8 for generations down the line.

9 MS. COOPER: Councilman,
10 thank you so much for saying that,
11 but I think you need some evidence
12 of the impact --

13 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: On
14 both sides. That's what I'm
15 saying. And that's why we need to
16 do it and I --

17 MS. COOPER: Yeah,
18 right.

19 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: I
20 mean, I'm not just taking the side
21 of Coca-Cola just saying that they
22 lost as many jobs or whatever. I
23 see it. You know you see it.
24 Stores are closing down. That's

1 what I want to know. How do we
2 stop that?

3 Jeff Brown himself said
4 one store closed of his, right. No
5 big deal. But we're on the brink
6 of maybe two more in food deserts.
7 My thing is I don't have any stores
8 in my neighborhood. We don't have
9 a supermarket. We don't.

10 MS. COOPER: Right.

11 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: My
12 neighbors have to take two buses
13 sometimes to get to a supermarket.

14 MS. COOPER: Right.

15 COUNCILMAN HARRITY: We
16 need more, not less. So bringing
17 this together was supposed to get
18 people in the room, hear
19 everybody's different side of that
20 story so that we can get some ideas
21 on how we move forward with this.
22 The numbers don't lie. 73 million
23 in 2023; 2024, 69, almost \$3
24 million. Same thing for this year,

1 almost \$3 million, you know what
2 I'm saying. At that level, we got
3 to figure something out quick. And
4 with this food stamp, I mean, my
5 neighbors are hurting already.
6 This is going to hurt them even
7 more.

8 So I thank you for
9 spending all day here and helping
10 us out. And hopefully, we can get
11 you involved with me and my
12 colleagues if we decide what we're
13 going to do with this, whether it's
14 making a working group to look at
15 what our options are.

16 Because the fact of the
17 matter is, it's not a question --
18 it's only a question of when we're
19 going to have, you know. There's
20 no option. We have to do
21 something. Because if we want to
22 fund this thing through the future,
23 something has to happen. All
24 right.

1 Again, this Mayor is
2 great. Her priorities are to fund
3 this. So she's going to do what it
4 takes to do it, take it out of the
5 General Fund. And I'm all with
6 that too. I believe that we should
7 be paying for it. I believe we
8 should throw 100 million at it and
9 expand it to 8000 to 9000 kids from
10 5200 because God knows we need it.

11 MS. COOPER: Well, we'd
12 be very happy to work with you on
13 that.

14 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:
15 Right, exactly. But that's the
16 point, we can't expand it now. All
17 we can do eventually is start to
18 cut it, and that's not going to
19 work. So thank you for your time.
20 Thank you everybody for your time.

21 Mr. Kunkel, is that it?

22 THE CLERK: There are no
23 more testifiers for public comment.

24 COUNCILMAN HARRITY:

1 There are no more testifiers for
2 public comment. All right. Thank
3 you everybody for your testimony.
4 This concludes our hearing today.
5 Thank you so much for attending.

6 (Committee on Labor and
7 Civil Service concluded at
8 2:25 p.m.)

9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24

C E R T I F I C A T I O N

I, hereby certify that the proceedings
and evidence noted are contained fully and
accurately in the stenographic notes taken by
me in the foregoing matter, and that this is a
correct transcript of the same.

A handwritten signature in cursive script, reading "Taneha Carroll", is written over a horizontal line.

TANEHA CARROLL
Court Reporter - Notary Public

(The foregoing certification of this
transcript does not apply to any reproduction
of the same by any means, unless under the
direct control and/or supervision of the
certifying reporter.)

	\$144	246:11	\$67	262:12	16
\$	217:17	\$5	277:19	1.5	156:10,
\$.01	\$15	277:14	281:13	27:19	12
244:5	39:20	284:20	\$68	96:21	179:4
\$.02	\$1850	\$5.39	45:18	1.50	104%
244:5	197:20	218:15	217:2	261:23	97:23
\$.03	\$190	\$50	\$69.6	262:1	10th
286:1	225:3	277:9	25:22	1/10	157:14
\$0.015	\$2	\$50,000	\$71.2	49:4	11
279:6	51:18	122:23	25:24	10	30:2
\$0.05	218:17	188:21	\$73.4	10:4	35:19
286:1	249:7,	194:6	25:22	64:3	11,000
\$0.25	10	197:14	\$76	94:10	259:7
189:15	261:16	\$55	217:14	104:21	110
\$0.30	\$2,000	100:10	\$77	152:23	34:23
218:24	260:15	\$55,000	27:24	157:15	110%
248:4,	\$2,400	100:8	\$83	220:19	59:12
20,22	197:19	\$6.9	47:13	258:11,	12
\$0.32	\$2.16	205:1	\$90	23	85:14
285:23	247:13,	\$60	30:4	10,000	94:11
\$0.38	15	36:17		187:20	192:8
273:20	\$20	\$60,000	0	100	218:11,
285:24	38:2	122:23	0	9:7	18
\$0.99	\$250	123:6	180:11,	205:2	12,000
284:19,	123:7	188:21	16	262:14	259:8
20	\$3	194:6	181:6	289:8	12-pack
\$1	261:24	197:14,	187:12	100%	247:12
89:3	287:23	18		46:9	249:11
\$1,000	288:1	\$60-	1	182:5	12-packs
194:14	\$300	somethin	1	210:2	249:12
\$10	51:5	g	9:6	213:8	123
194:3	\$300,000	62:11	215:21	224:5	211:15
\$100,000	8:7	\$620	243:24	1000	13,000
121:21	\$4	28:19	1%	100:3,7	29:15
122:3	205:15	\$64.6	174:6	110:2,	13-year
\$13	217:21	26:2	1,500,	5,6,9,	48:13
194:3	261:16	\$65.7	000	21	1350
	\$4.50	25:23	259:23	146:23	280:19
				147:1	
				148:14,	

14	19	29:13	104:18	26	213:10
30:6	85:10	36:23	116:17,	53:10	279:8
182:8	19,000	140:23	21	27%	30,000
189:1	259:3,	187:19	128:5,6	223:6	29:6
224:7	15,18	20%	134:22	2:25	3000
140	19124	93:20	141:2	290:8	242:7
242:11	189:4	106:18,	258:8		3100
1400	1952	23	269:1	3	211:16
187:9	242:5	112:3	2020	3	32
144	1957	277:16	97:20	29:3	259:12
261:6	225:16	20,000	2023	31:24	32%
15	228:13	14:17	25:22	34:16	218:9
257:16	1998	58:3,10	287:23	58:11	35%
15,000	207:2	59:15,	2024	59:21	144:5,
187:23	1st	18	217:8,	78:14	13
150	182:13	178:1	18	176:3	171:15
8:5		20-ounce	259:8	3-	350,000
16	2	213:7	287:23	14:18	242:9
12:20	2	218:23	2025	58:12	3800
224:13	31:24	200	58:8	59:3,19	182:12
16,000	85:14	191:12	22%	60:6,13	3rd
59:1,23	143:9	280:12	144:24	3.20	202:24
182:7	161:13	200,000	23	284:21	224:10
194:23	243:24	213:6	31:23	3.6	
17%	245:24	2000	23,000	217:21	4
214:23	246:11	150:16	35:21	3.80	4
17,000	261:4,5	260:17	24	218:20	29:4
58:9	2%	261:9	31:23	30	58:11
17,500	217:18	2015	25	188:24	78:14
259:1	251:23	15:3	25:23	189:19	173:15,
1776	252:2	2016	30:3	194:7	17
80:15	2.47	259:1,7	31:23	285:9	4%
130:17	218:23	2017	194:7	30%	174:9
18	2.77	14:17	250028	91:11	4-year-olds
276:23	218:24	27:18	26:14	94:2	14:18
277:23	2.80	29:5	175:13	107:1	58:13
278:1	218:20	81:9	181:3	112:4	59:4,
281:10	20	96:20	200:15	144:22	
		98:1	254:10	202:12	

19, 21 60:7, 13			63:15 278:13	231:1	9000 289:9
40	5	6	68	8	912
86:5	85:15	107:4	28:6	8	188:7
130:16	180:11,	217:20	31:9, 10	249:12	938
40%	16	60	42:17	259:15	195:1
218:9,	181:6,	200:12	46:15	80	9th
15	12	285:8	68.2	278:12	224:8
223:3	187:12	60%	31:2	80%	
252:3	262:16	99:4	69	15:2	A
260:7	5%	60,000	287:23	285:5	ABA
40,000	216:2, 4	104:2		8000	98:23
58:12	50	189:16	7	289:9	99:5
59:3,	197:17	600	7	83	ability
16, 19	285:9	211:22	205:16	34:13,	19:21
60:4	50%	242:7	7.55	18, 19	20:13
40-	239:4	6000	218:15	36:3, 9	21:22
somethin	243:6	58:20	70	46:16	83:4
g	50,000	183:4	259:10	61:7	160:17
62:18	104:1	61	263:12	63:16	174:1
41	189:16	118:18	70%	205:21	244:10
29:24	5000	610-733-	285:7	83%	absolute
43%	80:21	1857	700	278:11,	223:2
97:23	176:18	200:23	263:11,	13	absolute
4400	177:1,	64	13	283:8	ly
96:8	23	28:10	71	830	56:14
273:9	5200	65	221:20	95:7	67:24
442,000	6:24	36:3	71.2	96:17	131:17
257:4	34:6, 9	183:11	31:7	99:20	141:20
45	58:24	66	73	100:3,	158:24
194:10	187:4	36:10	34:10	8, 9	209:1
45%	289:10	66.7	37:17	101:12	212:17
214:16	5250	31:7	46:16	9	219:12
46.8%	56:11	67	287:22	9	220:12,
98:7	58:17	36:4	75%	35:19	16
4th	58.3%	61:8	239:7	90	222:23
234:12	98:5	62:15,	7th	216:4	224:4,
		17	229:12		15
					225:9

230:22	accompli	9,14,	113:21,	262:6	admit
244:16	shing	16,21,	24	adjust	274:12
272:19	164:17	22	230:4	101:17	adult
278:17	account	acquired	242:20	216:7	269:3
absorb	152:9	108:11	248:4	adjusted	adults
21:15	153:13	across-	272:8	112:15,	145:1
83:4,	accounta	the-	added	17	advance
19,23	bility	board	5:17	adjustme	20:10
244:10	201:6	201:13	112:20	nt	advancin
absorbed	accounta	act	218:18	119:15	g
217:2	nt	226:17	241:9	adjustme	132:10
241:3	61:11	action	adding	nts	advantag
abstaina	226:20	184:7	42:19	111:12	e
ble	accounti	active	139:14	169:21	84:17
274:1	ng	117:2	addition	Admin	130:24
abuse	54:19	actively	81:17	136:13	279:19
192:2	205:2	237:17	97:24	administ	adverse
academic	226:19	activist	160:13	ered	98:17
ally	accrue	13:16	217:12	130:21	100:12
176:13	239:20	120:6,8	221:14	administ	adversel
accelera	accurate	activiti	256:19	ration	y
te	222:23	es	257:12	9:4	243:13
220:24	acid	229:11	269:8	49:9,	advocacy
Acceptin	160:9	activity	addition	14,15	81:19
g	acknowle	5:8	15:21	50:18	advocate
241:9	dge	actor	30:6	51:24	118:1
access	144:12	83:23	89:9	57:14	175:17
5:16	256:4	84:2	199:11	117:24	178:5
28:24	acknowle	actual	address	165:14	193:9
83:11	dged	20:22	163:18	178:13	advocate
177:22	240:14	37:18	addressi	221:5	s
179:22	acknowle	54:20	ng	251:16	202:18
199:12	dgement	166:15	73:18	252:10	advocati
239:15	99:7	167:16	adds	Administ	ng
accessib	Acme	247:17	75:5	ration's	242:3
le	81:4	add	adequate	106:24	Affairs
176:11	82:21	34:11,	193:21	administ	97:20
	247:5,	14,22	197:3	rations	
				227:3	

affect	200:7	62:3,6	33:16	112:1	217:14
106:14	211:5	72:1	allowed	163:12	261:6
123:12	237:8	159:17,	270:7	165:17	263:11
affected	241:18	18	allowing	166:1	answers
105:21	256:13,	162:16	20:6,10	258:9	79:20
106:15	14	164:23	140:19	262:11	Anthony
108:1	268:16	236:5	ally	263:14	55:22
109:5	aftersch	aimed	191:18	265:14	75:17
141:22	ool	8:21	alternat	278:7	111:3
147:23	230:21	air	ive	279:5,7	anti-
148:5	age	10:20	268:8	286:3	232:1
174:7	59:18	alcohol	alternat	amounts	anti-
259:4	224:12	249:18	ives	166:15	violence
262:22	agents	alcoholi	5:3	analysis	20:20
affects	97:4	c	altogeth	42:14	anticipa
126:10	aggressi	258:11	er	44:15	ted
affirmat	ve	259:13	5:5	55:10,	40:5
ively	232:14	Alianna	60:5	16 77:4	Antonio
172:4	agree	176:2,	100:5	134:11	262:10
affluent	18:2	12	amazing	160:20	anymore
215:3	32:16	177:19	164:13	163:1,	63:22
afford	33:17	alignmen	America	6,21	108:9
36:19	76:1	t	225:3	217:7	133:4
93:8	78:19	208:20	American	263:10	analyze
97:15	118:17	aligns	98:21	analyze	APP
100:21,	129:23	28:12	181:20	162:20	283:16
22	201:14	238:1	254:5	163:13	Applause
189:12	283:22	Alliance	256:20,	anecdote	17:3,17
270:23	Ahmad	256:21	22	s	18:12
affordab	13:11	264:3	263:5	142:1	19:14,
le	18:16,	allocate	264:3	animal	24
5:16	17	32:12	American	205:24	21:18
83:17	19:15	allocate	s	animosit	23:19
177:4	20:1	d	257:2,4	y	25:6
African	21:19	32:6	Ammons	266:16	43:3
181:20	40:8,	240:24	108:6	annual	75:12
afternoon	12,23	allocati	amount	28:16	124:24
175:10	43:4	ng	11:11	98:12	127:6
	44:14	32:15		annually	129:11
	45:2				146:17

150:12	189:3	Asians	authoriz	back	baked
167:1	257:5	257:12	es	5:4	99:18
191:19	areas	assistan	26:15	42:18	150:22
200:2	14:2	ce	autism	44:24	balance
203:13	107:16	189:7	233:11	51:10	70:19
208:16	150:2	associat	automati	55:17	117:19
applicat	151:13	ion	c	60:23	240:8,
ion	223:5	98:22	120:14	81:8	18
114:15,	argue	242:2, 6	Avenue	102:11	balanced
16	232:14	254:5	190:15	108:21	38:19
applies	258:5	assume	246:6	113:16	114:6
96:3	arguing	143:2	average	127:24	Baltimor
apply	156:15	Athletic	35:18	128:5	e
218:10	204:4	212:7	48:14	137:4	171:17
approach	argument	attack	90:12	183:23	banner
55:8	246:14	258:20	100:7	189:11	232:3
84:7	251:15	attempt	103:20	214:19	bar
approach	Arthur	247:2	218:14	217:8,	160:2
ed	254:1	attended	243:23	23, 24	
80:6	articula	14:19	averages	222:18	bare
140:10	ted	attending	105:19	227:24	27:14
175:5	164:13	g	averagin	231:21	barely
210:19	articula	111:8	g	237:2	61:24
255:12,	tors	290:5	31:22	backbone	bargaini
20	230:3	attract	avoid	192:15	ng
275:19	artifici	67:10	14:12	backgrou	81:2
approved	al	attribut	90:17	nd	109:8
259:1	96:23	e	215:12	35:13	barriers
approxim	101:3	142:17	220:5	65:7	29:11
ately	artifici	145:7	aware	backward	bars
100:2	ally	attribut	85:18	s	156:23
April	96:4	ed	98:16	173:4	base
189:11	asap	142:24		221:12	20:3
area	210:6	158:23	B	bad	42:11
49:12	Asian	193:11	Bachelor	4:16, 22	115:15
85:11	256:20	audience	's	12:21	based
102:22	257:4	233:1	190:17	83:22	48:10,
103:4	263:5		194:8	bags	13
186:18	264:3			270:13	113:21
					130:11

187:10	4,5	benefici	7:20	28:2,	150:19
219:2,	began	aries	24:24	14,18	180:4
10	28:18	32:14,	82:14	33:7	184:1
243:17	begging	18	83:17	35:7	211:11
basic	23:13	33:19	84:12,	36:16	213:18
69:22	begin	benefit	18	37:10,	214:15,
70:17	26:8	13:24	85:21	13	17
basicall	200:4	24:14,	98:13	43:11	217:1,
y	210:23	17	104:14	46:3,17	13,16
111:19	222:2	43:13,	106:10,	51:1	218:9
151:8	237:5	15	11	56:5,8,	219:5
154:7	beginnin	44:4,6	109:3,	12	220:17
169:7	g	55:5,10	14,15,	72:6,15	221:16,
215:14	27:18	56:9	18,19	73:10	17,19
basket	37:8	82:3	126:4,	78:15	222:9
215:15,	87:2	109:17	20	81:8,17	223:8
18	230:10	122:14,	128:12	83:7,21	225:21
251:2	273:5	17	130:18	84:9,14	237:14
260:19	274:21	160:3	141:7	88:18	239:14
bat	285:16	162:6,	146:14	89:11,	240:22
30:23	begins	14	156:16,	14	242:4
battery	269:24	232:19	17	94:6,8	243:6
231:19	behalf	234:1	164:4,	95:12,	247:8,9
battle	101:11	236:16	14	22	250:9
5:2	237:13	239:19	182:20	96:2,8,	253:24
bay	241:24	265:2,6	204:5	14,22	260:19,
117:5	244:20	266:4	238:24	98:3,7,	23
bear	belief	272:5	Bensalem	22	261:7,
142:21	98:15	benefite	260:14	99:11,	20
bearing	212:14	d	261:1,	23	270:11
166:12	believer	16:15	22	100:1,	282:12
beat	87:1,12	19:12,	262:24	6,19	beverage
284:5	beloved	16	beverage	101:19	s
beautifu	277:13	44:17	5:18	104:19	96:3,6
l	Benalem	benefiti	15:9	108:17,	97:1,13
186:2	261:15	ng	19:12	20	99:5
202:2	benefici	23:17	26:17,	109:2,7	112:6,8
beautify	al	24:6	24	111:10,	144:7
186:1,	42:20	benefits	27:13,	16	216:3
		5:21	14,20,	113:13,	218:8
			23	15	219:21
				141:1	

238:14	bill	board	border	44:18	23 85:4
245:7,	8:14	14:1	9:11	61:3	102:7
8,12	231:24	44:23	76:19	63:1	134:13
250:13	billion	74:4	171:19	79:18	155:15
281:7,	205:1	128:12	223:9	84:19	158:20
14,17,	206:24	162:22	260:13	127:2	185:2
19	bills	224:22	borderin	132:5	190:3
282:10	89:2	267:3	g	139:17	202:17
bias	birth	268:5	169:14	204:22	230:13
168:12	202:22	bodegas	borderli	206:8	234:1
Bicarbon	bit	96:10	ne	bottomed	236:18
ic	59:5	135:23	88:20	100:2	255:8
160:9	173:2	219:18	born	bought	272:8
big	213:24	238:7	58:3,10	16:22	273:12
10:18	218:6	body	181:18	89:7	274:17,
21:11,	247:4	6:7	186:18	108:6	19
21 26:1	251:21	120:21	borne	Brady's	282:1
89:24	black	134:5,9	240:11	32:10	283:10
113:2	220:22	bond	boroughs	branch	bringing
133:11,	244:4	206:1	211:20	257:1	19:10
17	blame	207:1	borrow	brave	25:1
139:5	108:16	bonds	12:16	177:17	36:10
149:6	blank	12:18	48:9	break	37:18
154:3	277:8	36:2	borrowin	54:20	137:6
177:20	blatantl	48:6	g	89:13	142:20
188:2	y	49:7	12:17	101:14	205:20
205:12	100:19	50:1,3	48:4	196:2	273:22
246:1	blessing	61:22	bottle	255:1,3	287:16
259:22	184:2	books	9:18,24	breakfas	brink
260:3,8	189:16	214:12	218:19,	t	128:18
261:19	190:24	282:5	22,23	99:18	287:5
262:16	blinks	Boone	284:19	breaks	broad
287:5	252:2	175:4	bottles	194:24	82:10
bigger	blue	200:6,8	213:7,9	brighter	264:12
7:18	43:21	202:21	bottling	19:3	broad-
189:9	blueprin	boosts	282:22,	bring	130:10
199:3	t	14:7	24	11:6	broad-
251:22	192:9	boot	bottom	44:20	based
biggest		192:9	7:11	60:11,	130:5
48:24					251:20

252:7, 11 267:9 broader 178:6 227:16 broker 226:17 Brooks 13:12, 13 17:4, 18 52:7, 8, 11, 20 53:3, 8, 17 54:6 68:1 111:4 119:20, 22 124:11 125:1 127:7 131:5 134:6 244:22 248:5, 24 249:14 250:3, 17 252:18, 22 276:19 281:2 brothers 85:16 186:24 brought 31:9	131:9 134:23 233:6 272:23 brown 80:5 85:6, 7, 9 105:3 106:8, 17 107:13, 18 108:2 111:14, 15 114:10, 11 115:18 116:11 129:12 140:3 158:10, 15 184:14 215:16 218:21 220:9 242:17 252:6 270:12 287:3 Brown's 76:16 Bruno 85:15 brunt 99:24 bucks 9:12, 20 216:17	249:13 budget 5:22 7:10 11:1, 14 12:6 48:5, 10 49:3, 21, 22, 23 50:1, 6 69:9, 10, 13 75:15 89:15 91:9, 11 92:8 94:2 107:5 128:15 139:22 204:24 277:16 budgets 51:19 269:20 buffetin g 73:1 build 11:12, 17 74:13 176:13 199:8 201:23 234:13 building 18:3, 10 241:15	274:10 built 53:5 165:10, 18 187:11 282:8 bulk 12:7 bunch 7:2 91:7 119:24 120:3 127:10, 11 burden 5:19 7:18 15:11, 13 65:1 107:7 133:19 139:14 240:11, 20 burdened 268:12 burdens 6:1 Bureau 280:3 bureaucr acy 274:10 buses 287:12 business 21:13	38:21, 23, 24 39:2 41:9, 18, 20 72:8, 16, 22, 23, 24 77:6 85:21 87:15 88:23 96:15 101:13 106:9, 12 108:14 111:11 114:8 115:12 117:24 121:12, 15, 20, 22 126:12 135:1 137:13, 14 138:7, 11 150:4 178:8, 12 183:7 188:2 202:19 209:12 212:15 213:20 219:24 220:1 223:12	225:15 237:23 240:4, 20 241:5 256:20 257:8, 9 258:1 264:3 267:2, 16, 24 business es 4:24 5:1 9:16 19:19, 20 40:17 41:3 74:22 87:8, 11 135:11 139:6 142:2 147:22 154:24 219:16, 19 220:2 222:9 223:18 224:24 230:17 235:20 238:4 239:23 240:12 241:3, 8 242:13 243:10
---	---	---	---	--	--

263:7, 8	calculat	50:1, 6	3, 18, 22	222:11	causal
264:8	ion	51:19	125:12,	223:9	169:7
265:1,	42:5	82:1	14	carriers	causally
4, 22	call	253:16	129:8	213:5	150:10
266:9,	11:5	capture	130:18	carry	151:5
18	25:10	55:20	133:5	82:24	cause-
268:12	47:11	captured	137:17	cars	and-
buttress	80:1	148:10	138:21	10:10	effect
ing	81:15	168:8	162:9	90:20	167:20
73:11	140:5	capturin	177:4,	215:4	caused
buy	174:22	g	22	cart	268:10
93:6	210:10	55:19	179:9	9:19	279:17
112:9	233:5	car	180:12,	220:7	causing
125:21	254:21	90:13	13, 14,	carton	21:6
126:24	255:15	220:6	17	285:19	143:3
167:10	called	carbon	181:8	case	160:11
179:21	49:22,	160:10	17	147:3	167:23,
182:22,	23	carbonat	191:13	152:7	24
23	58:23	ion	192:13	167:12	170:17
218:14	calling	160:8	197:17	189:3	cavities
245:6	50:5	care	207:10	266:10	143:13
246:2	caloric	13:19	233:12,	284:1	144:23
249:11	27:15	14:14	13, 15	cases	202:13
buying	candy	15:14,	268:22	11:13	265:19
9:23	99:18	24 16:2	269:21	191:10,	CCIS
10:16	146:10	20:9	cared	11	68:13,
43:18	156:23	21:16	232:5, 6	215:21	17
167:9,	cans	34:7	carefull	216:5	ceilings
12	218:12	36:5	y	252:1	17:14
168:4	capacity	61:4, 8,	150:1	259:2, 7	cells
247:11	76:22	14 62:1	280:22	cast	234:13
252:4	capital	72:9	caretake	14:24	center
c	11:1, 14	92:16	rs	categori	16:15,
cakes	12:5	93:2	123:22	es	19
125:11	30:8	116:3	caries	99:13	140:8
calculat	48:2, 5,	121:14,	168:3,	148:11	175:3
e	10, 21	15, 23	18	category	180:23
44:5	49:3, 5,	123:17,	171:13	145:12	182:23,
	10, 21,	21	Carolina		24
	22	124:1,			

184:20	45:4	Chambers	Charles	36:5	16:8
185:18	66:5	277:1	175:1	61:4, 8,	197:3, 5
190:14	211:5	champion	180:21	14 62:1	childhood
191:11	225:2	195:17,	cheaper	118:1	d
194:18	256:24	18	133:15	121:14,	6:3
212:8	260:1	198:4	cheat	23	57:21
228:5, 9	chairman	champion	23:8	123:6,	114:9
centers	85:8	s	check	17, 21	175:20
17:11	111:6	195:16	124:8	124:1,	178:15
23:2	119:18	chance	checks	3, 18, 21	187:5
29:19	224:22	275:5	274:11	125:14	239:24
53:4	231:9	change	cheerleader	133:5	277:1
66:21	232:9	21:12,	191:16	137:17	children
76:10	234:16	14 72:8	Cheeseboro	177:22	6:17
164:2	236:22	94:12	255:19	178:17	13:20
186:2	253:5	119:16	268:15,	179:9	14:9
192:13	256:22	141:20	19	181:8,	16:6
Central	Chairperson	154:3	272:7	11, 12	20:8, 19
257:12	26:10	173:15	Cheltenham	183:14	22:14
cents	challenge	174:3	am	184:14,	23:3, 4,
27:19	e	215:9	246:22	15	5, 9, 11
96:21	167:19	280:4	248:22	185:4,	24:9, 19
CEO	244:8	changed	Cherry	5, 6, 16,	29:3, 6
211:8	challenges	104:20	216:20	20	30:11
237:9	91:18	274:14	Chicago	186:6,	42:13
256:17	240:3	changing	142:8	11	56:8
260:5	challenging	20:5	221:16	188:14,	57:23
cereal	103:7	charge	Chief	16	58:3, 10
150:23	104:4, 8	231:18	57:21	191:7, 8	73:13
156:23	chamber	charging	200:8	192:13	74:2, 9,
cereals	135:9,	270:12	222:6	196:4	15
99:19	10	charitable	child	197:17,	94:21
chain	210:17	227:5	14:14	21	118:19
144:2	231:21	charity	15:14,	198:18,	119:2, 4
242:14	237:11	228:19	24 16:2	23	123:1,
243:1	256:23	269:11	34:7	268:22	17
chair		270:17	35:19	269:21	124:17
18:18		278:20		child's	128:21
23:18				181:8	135:2
43:5				childcare	144:24
				e	175:21

176:18	255:18	14	176:20	228:1	claim
177:5,	Christin	56:16	177:15,	233:14	141:15,
11,18,	a	57:17	20	234:1	21
24	140:7,	58:15	178:3,	242:15	148:22
178:2,	13	65:1	24	247:5,	149:8
10	Christy	66:22	179:13,	6,7,12,	150:11
179:18,	32:9	67:9,11	14	23	claiming
21	cigarett	70:2,5	182:8	248:1,	278:10
180:9	e	71:6	184:4,	2,3,20,	280:9
184:3	249:17	72:10	22	21	claims
185:1	circumst	73:23	185:3	249:17	147:6
187:4,	ances	79:7	186:18,	251:24	158:9,
23	113:18	80:17,	23	253:21	10,13,
195:14	cities	22,24	187:10,	259:22	19
198:5,	98:4	81:3,18	23	262:9	161:6
13,16	145:22	83:9	188:16	264:21	280:22,
199:19	146:5	84:7,21	191:1	265:23	23
203:4,	198:15	85:12,	192:15	266:12	clarific
11	259:15,	13,19	193:4	267:17	ation
207:9	18	90:1	198:14	city's	226:23
208:15	citizens	95:16	201:2	14:18	clarifie
224:8	23:14	97:13	202:3,	30:8	d
229:15	86:17,	101:9	16	57:21	96:1
230:20	22	106:18	203:9	95:11,	clarify
253:18	100:20	108:10	211:23	17	171:14
266:5	101:9	112:8	212:1	96:15	251:14
269:4,	city	114:7	214:18	180:10	clarity
5,7,10,	5:4 6:9	115:5,	215:3,	215:13	245:2
12,15	8:11	14	5,7	240:2	246:14,
270:2,	11:15	116:12,	216:13,	city-	24
15,16	14:5	17	14,15	designat	249:3
271:1	17:1,7,	118:5,	217:5,	ed	class
Children	22 21:8	12	20	29:13	232:23
's	24:11	121:22	219:13	citywide	classroo
212:11	29:8,22	130:2,5	220:6,	187:23	ms
choices	32:6	132:1	13	civic	179:3
179:2	41:8	139:4	221:4,	18:23	clean
CHOP	42:24	144:22	9,15	Civil	196:23
144:18	49:9	158:1	223:4	26:16	
Christie	53:11,	168:16	225:6	290:7	
		171:18	226:16		
		172:21	227:14		

cleaning	157:17	coach	220:12	242:8	Commerce
73:5	282:21	191:16	229:7	277:15	210:18
94:20	closed	coat	233:22	collects	237:11
clear	92:15	276:6	260:20	217:5	256:23
6:6	105:11	Coca	279:10	college	Commerce
19:16	111:18	260:6	Cola	191:3,4	s
20:7	112:4	Coca-	211:5	color	135:10
41:20	188:8	211:4	216:3	97:14	Commerci
53:23	195:1	216:2	collater	Columbia	al
56:3	209:14	Coca-	al	7:6	147:15
71:18	287:4	cola	126:16	combinat	commissi
131:18	closely	137:8	colleagu	ion	on
145:24	50:14	181:21,	e	29:20	277:24
180:2	98:20	23	61:15	37:9	278:5
Clerk	closes	210:13	72:3	138:24	commit
4:1,5	149:4	211:3,	105:2	217:15	84:21
25:9,12	closing	9,12	163:3	combine	commitme
80:3	179:2	213:2	231:5	139:9	nt
140:7	286:24	219:11	256:4	Comcast	199:22
174:24	closures	286:21	colleagu	267:22	committe
210:12	5:7	code	es	commend	d
253:4,	83:13	189:5	71:2	81:18	219:12
12,16	102:17	codes	79:10	224:18	220:13
255:10,	clung	214:22	138:17	commensu	committe
17	98:14	Coe	159:15	rate	e
275:12,	Co-	180:20,	208:22	265:19	26:11,
15	executiv	21	271:8	comment	15 43:6
289:22	e	191:20	288:12	35:16	55:18
cliff	175:2	208:17	collect	203:18	69:19
71:19	co-	209:3	226:18	253:3	211:7
clinics	founder	coffees	collecti	254:12,	231:10
169:8,	211:8	97:3	ons	18,22	241:18
12	co-	coffin	63:9	255:5,9	290:6
clobbere	located	107:10	226:20	289:23	common
d	22:12,	coincide	283:7	290:2	67:14
111:18	18	159:5	collecti	comments	244:24
close	co-	Coke	vely	241:23	commonly
76:19	sponsor	180:3	60:6	254:23	95:22
86:5	8:14	215:19		264:15	
135:24					

commonse	29:7, 14	213:13	comparis	complete	98:24
nse	34:11	214:5,	on	ly	conclude
135:5	46:18	7, 9	11:21	224:17	254:8
Commonwe	47:15	238:23	144:21	complica	conclude
alth	52:14	240:20	150:1,	ted	d
58:22	53:9	241:12	5, 9	59:6	290:7
242:5	54:1	263:5	151:13	componen	conclude
communic	66:9	266:8	170:15,	t	s
ation	70:11	277:2	22	33:9	290:4
210:7	76:8	companie	171:22	comprehe	conclusi
257:10	89:22	s	compensa	nsive	on
communit	90:1	98:21	tion	142:9	93:13
ies	120:6	99:5	82:18	comprehe	169:7
5:9, 14	121:4	103:9	104:13	nsively	199:5
6:13	164:1	110:23	competit	77:22	conditio
17:2, 21	165:1	133:11,	ion	compromi	ns
19:13,	178:17	17	262:24	se	84:13
17	182:12,	141:24	competit	241:8,	263:2
24:9, 17	24	142:22	ive	14	conducte
29:10	183:6	148:8	111:14	concentr	d
68:10	184:4,	154:4	221:8	ate	238:2
73:24	16	219:6	competit	27:14	confirm
143:21	185:18	222:7, 8	or	concept	229:7
161:15,	186:1,	223:8	88:21,	236:10	confront
24	2, 5, 7,	228:11	23	concern	ation
162:14	11, 12,	260:9	competit	187:24	127:23
211:14	13, 15	company	ors	239:6	confused
213:21	187:6,	211:24	83:2	270:11	245:18
238:12	19	225:7	85:23	concerne	246:18,
239:21	188:4	260:6	complain	d	19
240:13	190:1,	261:19	273:17	125:5, 6	257:19
264:9	4, 6, 10	compare	complain	182:14,	258:14
267:19	193:19	169:11	ing	15	confusin
communit	194:17,	179:23	273:19	256:3	g
y	19	compared	complete	concerns	247:4
4:14, 20	195:20,	82:15	30:6	238:1	confusio
16:14	22	171:16	complete	concerte	n
20:16	196:14	comparin	d	d	254:15
22:6, 8,	208:22	g	30:1, 3		
18 27:2	212:5,	171:8			
	16, 19,				
	23				

connecte d 43:10	construc tion 29:17	66:20 82:5 128:22	contradi cting 223:1	convene 200:24	21 132:3, 24
Connecti cut 211:19	101:23	134:1	contrast 280:18	convenie nce 242:12	134:4, 7, 24
conscien ce 20:8	Consulti ng 256:18	177:11, 17 195:3, 24	contribu te 143:9, 10, 11, 12	243:12	136:6, 8, 11
consensu s 278:4	consumed 150:21	196:1 198:12	contribu ted 279:21	convenie nt 112:12	185:13, 19
consequ nces 4:15	consumer 97:9	220:20 221:1	198:4 209:8	convenin g 95:10	188:2 189:10
consider able 163:12	111:20 219:4	269:18 270:8	contribu ting 20:2	conversa tion 44:2	192:3, 21
consider ation 127:17	248:16 273:12	271:17 272:12, 17	contribu tion 277:12	66:17 67:20	193:2 203:7
consider ed 14:21	consumer s 96:14	281:22 282:16	contribu tions 234:3	68:17, 20	227:1, 4, 8, 17
20:12	97:12, 22 99:1	continue d 28:16	contribu tions 236:20	69:23 70:17	271:18 272:10
269:17	130:4 215:10	continue s 67:5, 18	Contribu ter 32:9	71:10 72:11	274:18 277:3, 5
consiste nt 229:24	consumpt ion 28:14	95:14 193:19	Controll er 47:19	77:5, 18 117:16	conversa tions 69:4, 16
constant 153:24	99:15 143:19	239:20	277:17 278:19	118:4 120:12, 18, 19	72:4 116:11
constitu ents 5:19	161:17, 18	continui ng 16:10	Controll er's 31:6, 14	122:5, 8, 16	135:8, 16
Constitu tion 212:8	containe r 273:6	118:5 244:17	253:22	123:13 124:20	198:6 208:19
	contamin ating 171:22	contract 130:17, 20	Control ler's 227:15	125:23, 24	209:4 230:11
	context 173:24	contract s 103:23 197:11	controls 49:2	126:7, 11, 19	convince 147:7
	continue 32:1			127:5, 20	cookies 125:12
				128:22 129:2,	Cooper 275:16, 23 276:4,

18	correlat	costs	277:6	10,19	146:18
284:24	ed	12:4,	Councilm	58:14	147:9
286:9,	167:16	17,18	an	59:14,	148:12
17	correlat	15:14,	4:3,7,9	22	149:1,
287:10,	ion	17,24	8:15,17	60:3,	18
14	146:24	21:5	13:3,4	14,18,	150:15
289:11	163:2	32:23	18:13	21,22	152:2
cooperat	167:8,	34:12,	23:20	61:15	154:12,
ively	24	23,24	25:7,	62:13	21
257:14	Corridor	38:17	13,17	63:10	158:14
corner	196:20	39:15	30:21	65:20	159:3
96:9	cost	45:19,	31:5,	66:2	167:2
264:6	33:2	21	13,19,	75:13,	168:20
281:6	34:10,	83:1,23	21	19,20,	170:18
284:9,	13	84:5	33:13	21,22,	171:6,
16	36:16	89:3	34:4,	23 78:2	23
corporat	46:16,	111:24	15,19	80:8	172:5,
e	20	218:20	35:4,	101:21	15
21:11,	51:15	219:14	10,17	103:11,	173:5,
21	54:20	238:19	36:22	15,19	11,17,
72:12	55:3	244:10	37:15	104:16	20
corporat	65:15	couch	38:9,20	105:13	174:11,
ions	83:4,20	233:17	39:5,	106:6	14,19
246:16	96:13	Council	12,23	107:11,	200:3
correct	107:1	6:7	40:10	15,23	203:14
53:1,2,	111:20	8:11	44:19	108:24	208:10,
6,7,16	179:24	9:4	45:6,7,	110:4,	24
54:4	205:19	10:23	8,14,22	10,19	210:3,
60:2	218:14,	80:17	46:2,7,	111:1,5	21
110:17,	20,23	84:8,21	13,23	113:20	222:1
19	241:4,9	88:8,9	47:5	115:16,	225:22
160:4	266:14	95:5,10	48:15,	19	226:21
226:11	270:22,	120:21	19	116:23	227:7,
227:24	24	138:17	51:8,17	117:10	19
correcte	cost-	202:16	52:4	118:16	228:15
d	55:9	206:20,	53:20	119:17,	231:4,
235:8,	cost-	23	55:21,	19	6,8
18	benefit	221:4	23	124:9	235:1,
	160:20	268:7	56:13,	131:8	7,11,
		276:15,	24	136:18,	17,23
		23	57:6,8,	24	236:8,
				140:4	23,24

237:1, 4	Councilm	66:3, 4	256:15	95:16	Crawford
252:20,	embers	69:2, 14	counselo	145:23	278:2
24	50:15	71:23	rs	146:4	crazy
253:6	51:21	72:1	207:12	172:22	277:11
254:6	Councilm	75:17	count	259:14	create
255:14,	en	76:1	20:23	counts	65:23
22	256:14	119:20,	61:19	58:23	84:14
256:6	Councilp	21, 22	96:7	59:20	134:8,
263:16	eople	124:11	108:3	142:12,	11
271:6	94:14	125:1	157:7	16	165:15
272:18	119:7,	127:7	191:12	157:6	185:24
275:13,	10	129:13	194:10	county	196:13
17, 21,	131:22	131:5	217:19	9:21	240:17
24	Councilp	133:21,	244:20	76:15,	created
276:8,	erson	23	counterp	16	105:12
14	213:14	136:19	art	170:21,	128:5
279:24	Councilw	159:18	187:14	24	184:16
283:17	oman	162:16	counterp	173:7	187:9
285:1	13:10,	164:23	arts	184:20	268:1
286:9,	11, 13	201:12	82:16	216:18	280:19
13, 19	17:4, 18	213:11	counties	265:9	creates
287:11,	18:14,	223:16	9:12	couple	14:13
15	16, 17	228:24	10:14	50:11	74:24
289:14,	19:15	229:5,	141:16	51:11	83:21
24	20:1	22	170:13	69:7	266:15
Councilm	21:19	235:19	171:9	111:9	creation
ember	23:22	236:2	173:16	155:12	276:20
4:2, 6	25:8	244:22	counting	156:6, 8	Creation
13:14	40:8,	248:5,	176:4	205:12	s
23:21	12, 23	24	203:11	273:18	268:20
49:1	43:4	249:14	205:22	cover	credit
54:6, 21	44:14	250:3,	countles	45:10,	278:19
68:1	45:2	17	s	15	crime
119:23	52:6, 8,	252:18,	150:21	178:14	14:12
134:5	11, 20	22	countrie	covering	70:3, 5,
175:13	53:3, 8,	271:10	s	46:17,	7
200:16	17, 21,	276:19	145:20	20	criminal
208:18	22	281:1	country	132:22	88:2
236:4	54:5, 13	282:19	23:12	COVID	91:19
244:13	62:3, 6	Councilw			
		omen			

crisis	cute	7,10	202:14	77:9	decrease
5:22	248:12	153:22	208:12	201:11	67:19
73:16	cuts	154:9,	222:17	263:6	125:17
128:18	112:21	13,15	232:6	288:12	153:6,7
172:21	113:11	158:12	272:3	decided	243:6
critical	121:22	161:3	283:21	11:12	265:16
6:7	125:6	162:12	284:11	decision	decrease
29:17	cutting	163:1,	288:9	24:16	d
cross-	5:4	13	daycare	89:5	28:4
border	78:12	166:19	42:13	177:9	98:7
144:10	128:17	168:12	130:15	decision	243:11
171:21	cycle	169:8,	days	s	decreasi
curb	19:22	12	51:11	24:13	ng
6:3		170:6	deal	64:21,	58:4,7
current	D	171:2	93:5	23 84:3	decrepit
125:7	D.C.	202:10	205:13	126:9	17:13
126:8	7:7	214:11,	207:1	192:22	dedicati
Curtis	198:8	12,23	264:8	230:7	on
231:6	dads	280:2,	287:5	264:20	199:18
customer	178:22	14,16	dealers	272:22	deductio
226:10	Daler	281:24	284:8	decline	n
238:18	255:17	date	dealing	28:16	133:13
customer	256:15	29:24	116:1	31:22	138:10
s	damage	dated	deals	32:2	deeply
5:3	126:16	31:16,	206:1	144:13	141:6
86:8,12	damn	20	dear	154:23	211:24
93:24	191:24	David	14:23	214:16	238:11
242:16	dandy	256:5	256:14	221:1	277:2
261:18	37:16	263:18	deaths	243:9	defense
cut	data	day	174:8	267:14	207:8
7:19	142:3,	9:2	debate	278:8,	deficit
47:18	20	20:3	18:2	15	36:7
84:5	144:3,	42:21	164:7	declines	degree
105:5,6	8,17,18	43:22	debating	279:22	15:19
133:19	146:4	59:2	204:4	declinin	194:8
139:19	147:6,	93:5	decades	g	degreed
216:9	11	126:15	15:4	74:12	190:17
234:6	148:23	127:24	decide	75:7	DeLaware
289:18	149:5,	130:18	11:6	220:20	211:18
		138:21			
		199:17			

257:7 deliver 98:11 delivery 216:11 261:11 demand 282:3, 4,5,7 demograp hically 171:18 dent 173:2 dental 144:18 160:12 161:14 168:3, 18 171:13 dentitio n 160:9 departme nt 30:12 49:2 55:4 57:17 253:19, 20 departme nt's 75:15 departme nts 26:19	depend 68:10 dependin g 122:24 depends 106:9 188:16 depleted 160:13 desert 107:17, 19 deserts 5:15 88:15 93:4 287:6 deserve 7:24 17:9 deserves 176:7, 12 design 29:17 151:6 desired 283:9 dessert 43:21 destabil izing 201:19 detail 27:7 218:7	determin e 181:10 devastat ing 179:2 develop 187:19 268:3 develope d 23:7 184:5 developm ent 187:6 DHS 55:1 191:10 Di 85:15 diabetes 143:9 146:3 159:23 161:13 258:10, 20 259:7 dice 46:12 50:22 diet 98:18 180:3 216:1 249:23 250:14	differen ce 26:1 174:5 236:17 244:3 246:4,7 differen ces 260:3 262:16, 17 differen tly 93:19 difficul t 8:19 110:22 177:9 230:6 241:7 difficul ties 283:20 dig 200:20 dioxide 160:10 direct 29:22 32:8 238:17 264:22 directly 56:9 141:22 147:14 148:5	167:15 169:3 241:2 264:8 Director 26:12 80:15 175:2 180:22 disabili ty 181:11 197:22 discount ing 200:18 discover ed 188:19 discuss 66:18 71:15 227:11 discusse d 26:24 discussi on 49:12 50:7 60:11 244:18 257:19 discussi ons 68:21 disease 143:11 258:10,	11,12, 17,20 259:2, 13 diseases 161:21 disheart ening 185:4 dislike 265:23 disliked 264:24 265:1 disparit ies 14:2 dispropo rtionate ly 161:23 dispute 202:10 dissemin ate 167:4 172:18 dissolve d 160:11 distribu ted 27:20 distribu tion 27:12 280:5
---	--	--	--	---	---

distribu	dollar	double	143:6,	31:4,	82:23
tor	89:6	197:23	7, 14, 20	10, 16	83:24
97:8	196:2,	doubles	144:13	32:19	84:4
distribu	3, 5	197:22	161:19	34:2, 8,	100:5
tors	218:21	doubt	216:1	17, 21	102:17
97:22	244:6	207:7	drive	35:7, 15	109:18
district	273:19,	265:17	102:13	36:11	dynamic
7:6	20	dozens	160:22	37:6	149:16
10:24	285:24	145:19,	249:6	38:7, 16	
29:9	286:1	20	251:10	39:1,	E
51:20	dollars	dramatic	drivers	11, 22	Eagles
66:12,	15:22,	144:5	216:15	40:3,	209:20
14	23	154:10	drives	15, 20	earlier
70:14	50:19	drastic	105:5	44:10	28:7
76:13,	73:17	251:1	driving	45:5,	113:23
14, 20	205:12	draw	100:22	12, 17	121:11
181:14	206:24	153:18	130:4	46:1,	223:17
233:22	228:18	169:6	170:17	10, 19	237:20
district	domestic	drink	252:16	47:3	242:17
s	192:2	43:18	drop	48:12,	early
67:1, 7	donate	153:20	22:13	17	29:1
70:7	227:21	162:3	153:20	50:10	32:24
dive	donating	165:8	168:7,	51:16	57:21
77:8	138:9	179:24	14	52:1,	114:9
divide	228:12	224:24	171:15	10, 17	175:20
118:5	donation	281:3, 4	173:6	53:2, 7,	176:6,
dividend	133:14	drinker	dropped	16, 19	10
s	Donna	246:1	156:6, 7	54:4, 11	178:8,
74:4	275:16	drinking	dropping	55:14	14
Division	Donna's	42:23	173:13	56:10,	180:1
80:14	275:18	90:9	drug	18 57:4	187:5
divorces	door	166:3	284:8	62:8	191:13
100:17	16:2	168:5,	dual	63:4	200:10,
Doctor	doors	13, 17,	175:16	65:9, 22	11
146:20	19:19	24	Dubow	68:19	239:24
154:14	209:14	drinks	25:12,	69:6	269:13,
210:4	243:21	96:5, 6	15, 19	71:14	21
dogged	269:22	97:4, 5	26:9, 12	75:11	270:24
282:3		99:2	30:22	166:10	277:1
				due	
				5:21	

earn 16:4 190:14	241:6	84:24	19:6	213:17	eloquent
easier 33:22 88:11 162:23	economic s 20:5	87:23 114:10 128:11, 17	53:13 educator 193:4, 13	eighth 157:13 elect 117:8	ly 240:16
easing 240:19	economy 129:5 178:7	175:20 176:6, 22	educator s 192:23 202:17 208:14	elected 120:5 electron ic 144:17	ELRC 122:18 embedded 238:11
East 264:11	ecosyste m 41:3	178:9, 15 179:11, 23	effect 5:6 27:24 100:13 106:10 141:14 147:13 151:1, 17 152:9 169:11 170:1 243:8	eliminat e 107:1 127:19 224:5 eliminat ed 249:21 eliminat ing 122:16 125:20 126:23 eliminat ion 81:16 120:20 126:19 128:23 Elizabeth h 254:3 255:10	emission s 213:10 emotiona l 176:14 empathiz e 117:17 emphasiz e 5:10 71:16 239:12 240:10 269:3 employ 66:13 211:16, 22 242:8 281:23 282:17 employee s 86:4 103:17 130:13, 19, 23 148:14, 16 155:1
easy 91:21 227:11	ecosyste ms 196:13	180:11 182:3 184:18, 19 185:7, 10 186:10 190:19, 21 191:3 192:12 195:16 196:5 197:13 198:5 199:15 200:10 203:1 224:9, 10 239:16 240:1 253:18 269:13, 22, 23 270:24 275:1	effectiv eness 84:8 effects 98:17 141:3 145:14 154:6 170:17 238:18 effort 20:20 98:24 99:3 112:17 efforts 139:1		
eat 182:17	educate 35:12, 19 98:24 187:11 190:2 192:24 194:22, 23				
eating 168:9	educated 182:7				
ECE 181:16 188:4 192:19 193:8, 18 196:12 208:21	educatin g 187:3 educatio n 6:8 7:23 13:16, 19 30:11 57:22 66:6 82:4				
economic 5:7 14:8 19:18, 22 20:22 44:9 105:7 141:9 142:10, 21 160:18 233:24 236:20		educatio nal			

196:18	68:23	237:18	22	241:15	289:17
213:21	116:21	enlighte	environm	269:16,	everybod
228:2	157:8	ning	ent	17	y's
234:20	165:2	189:10	83:19	establis	7:19
238:10	214:15	enormous	270:3	hing	198:19
270:21	279:3	9:10	envy	244:14	287:19
281:23	281:5	65:23	11:19	establis	everyday
employer	enactmen	enrolled	epidemic	hment	22:3
86:6	t	34:6	43:24	52:15	101:13
102:21	81:7	176:19	equal	estimate	everythi
212:4	89:11	enrollme	41:19	105:14	ng's
employer	encapsul	nt	262:23	110:6	197:1
s	ating	176:8	265:14	estimate	evidence
82:24	242:19	ensured	equally	d	141:20
83:23	encourag	270:1	245:8,	28:5	142:5
84:2, 16	e	ensuring	16	31:2	148:20
102:24	203:6	177:6	246:15	155:13	149:9
103:3	end	199:12	equitabl	estimati	163:17
109:9	28:9	entering	e	ng	279:24
employin	30:7	181:13	6:11	34:9	282:4
g	37:23	enterpri	114:6	ethnic	283:12
242:14	38:2	ses	equitabl	257:17	286:11
employeme	42:20	238:5	y	ethnics	evident
nt	47:16	entire	240:23	257:16	95:19
86:18	64:7	11:14	equity	evade	exact
88:7	99:10	55:2	176:23	100:22	105:24
124:16	101:16	81:24	error	evaluate	106:3
142:12	122:1	213:9	205:3	82:17	112:1
265:17	126:15	215:15,	251:24	evenly	281:8
268:3	232:6	18	essence	11:2	examines
employs	240:21	216:3	69:11	events	84:8
86:21	ending	entities	187:22	229:11	excel
enable	244:4	21:21	190:5	eventual	189:24
186:3	energy	entitled	essentia	ly	excellen
281:22	97:4	185:6	l	33:4	ce
enabling	enforcin	entitlem	192:14	36:14	270:9
177:1	g	ents	221:7	60:11	excellen
enacted	285:3	90:21,	239:19	207:20	t
28:2	engaging		240:18		20:17

22:15	53:15	expect	147:24	14	82:23
exceptio	68:3	145:13	151:3	134:20	137:11
n	97:2	170:3	213:23	271:23	146:7
242:22	existed	expected	260:4	eyes	148:13
excess	52:22	33:11	281:19	233:7	156:18
98:18	existenc	278:11,	exploita		160:5
exclude	e	15	tion	F	189:1
122:7	108:18	283:5	83:24	fabulous	196:10
excluded	existing	expects	explore	77:16	202:22
120:13	37:11	30:5	6:10	face	209:15
excludin	exists	129:14	explorin		223:2
g	280:17	expendit	g	5:20	226:8
124:21	expand	ures	26:17	8:21	238:20
exclusio	65:3,5	254:1	express	23:16	273:14,
n	78:8,9	expense	239:5	122:1	24
99:12	79:6	12:11	expunged	179:1	276:9
101:1	125:15,	expensiv	88:5	192:10	277:4
exclusiv	17	e	extended	faced	283:1
e	132:2	111:22,	20:13	73:23	285:6
197:11	133:7	23	53:12	faciliti	288:16
exclusiv	137:20	experien	extent	es	factor
ely	146:10	ce	9:13	116:2	197:19
197:5	153:11	11:24	extra	121:14	factored
excuse	155:3	242:22	5:18	212:20	126:6
97:17	201:23	experien	194:14	facility	factors
147:10	203:23	ced	205:15	181:9	42:15
Executiv	204:1	67:16	233:12	facing	44:16
e	208:1	176:16	247:13,	5:2	facts
85:8	236:14	214:16	14	71:19	159:21
180:21	239:14	experien	248:17,	73:1	202:11
200:9	289:9,	cing	20	fact	222:12,
exemptin	16	103:5	249:7	7:17	13,22
g	expanded	expert	262:1	15:11	283:12
121:21	123:5	230:2	281:20	18:3	failed
Exhibit	155:21	expertis	extremel	20:24	12:8
25:2	g	e	y	21:1,3	98:11
exist	125:10	134:13	24:7	37:19	202:20
52:18	137:18	explain	67:5	43:16	fair
			70:12,	61:6	11:11
				64:4	77:23

221:6	family	192:7	fees	135:22	filled
224:13	91:20	federal	266:23	136:2,	114:15
241:14	92:21	5:21	felt	14	final
fall	108:7	7:16	99:20	137:15,	244:19
129:18	123:1	58:17,	100:1	19	finally
266:5	176:4, 8	19	fewer	167:20	258:22
283:2	178:17	59:8,	238:10	172:16	261:3
falling	183:1	13, 23	fiasco	195:9,	Finance
17:15	189:21	65:17	10:5	21	26:12
familiar	191:6	89:15	field	204:20	financia
276:20	202:8	90:3	83:22	205:7	l
families	207:12	91:8, 10	fight	225:11,	4:22
13:23	224:10	92:8	82:5	20	5:17, 24
15:20	225:15	94:2	88:4	232:10,	14:3
17:5	260:16	112:21	117:9	11	59:10
21:23	268:21	115:6	136:12,	234:4	109:5
22:11	family's	128:10,	13	245:4,	256:18
24:18	89:5	16	210:1	10	financia
30:12	family-	139:20	fighter	271:18,	ls
59:2	sustaini	201:21	117:21	21	100:14
91:6	ng	Federati	fighting	288:3	find
129:9	85:1	on	209:23,	155:17	8:24
135:2	Farwell	254:3	24	246:10	41:11
176:9	255:11	feds	258:16	figures	62:14
177:1,	fast	132:22	fights	214:19	65:2
12, 24	172:2	feed	209:13	figuring	78:5, 6
178:11,	father	182:12	figure	50:19	86:18
18, 19	183:15	183:1	6:19	131:14	102:21,
179:7,	224:9	185:23	7:12	182:11	23
12, 19	favor	202:9	66:16	filing	103:7, 8
180:10	241:22	feedback	67:21	147:6	110:14
182:12	fear	237:22,	70:1, 18	filings	113:24
183:4,	125:19	24	72:23	141:15,	201:1
12, 23	feasible	feel	78:18	21	230:13
185:23	37:21	43:10	93:18	148:22	267:8
198:24	77:10	127:19	118:2	149:9	268:2, 8
219:15	132:7	161:2	125:18	fill	284:22
253:19	fed	feels	129:15	75:6	285:11
269:13,	183:4	173:3	134:14		286:6
23					

finding 116:14 270:18	flipped 33:5	243:1, 24	forum 257:1	110:21	frustrat
fine 37:16 81:5 244:9	Florida 7:4	260:15, 18	forward 65:16	Frankfor	ed 134:20
fingers 202:5	fly-by- night 166:7	287:6 288:4	85:3 133:5 136:9 287:21	189:2 190:15	fulfilli
firm 86:21 88:4	focus 12:10 66:24	foot 234:5 243:11	fosterin g 241:16	Franklin 212:9	ng 73:12
firstthan d 4:14	focused 143:7	force 230:12 244:15	found 259:20	frankly 222:20 249:8 252:1 265:21	full 27:22 49:18 81:16 88:7 104:13 115:22 173:21 249:24
fiscal 28:17	folks 15:10 22:24	forced 266:17	foundati on 14:10 176:14	free 13:23 14:6,19 15:1,12 16:7 29:2 30:9 58:18 59:1,7 190:22 191:1 253:20	full- 59:1 83:11
fit 178:11	123:5 128:20 183:8 189:24 223:10 245:5 272:4	forces 149:16	foundati onal 240:1	16:7 29:2 30:9 58:18 59:1,7 190:22 191:1 253:20	full-day 59:8
fix 12:22 206:12 230:8	food 5:14,16 22:1 85:10	foreclos ures 100:17	founder 85:8 180:22	16:7 29:2 30:9 58:18 59:1,7 190:22 191:1 253:20	full- 59:1 83:11
flavored 97:5	food 5:14,16 22:1 85:10	forever 11:3 12:2	fourth 157:11	16:7 29:2 30:9 58:18 59:1,7 190:22 191:1 253:20	full-day 59:8
fleet 213:10	88:14, 15,17 93:3 107:17 126:1, 20 140:8, 22 147:14 182:22 242:1, 3,7,13	forget 61:16 62:21 156:17	frame 152:20 163:16	16:7 29:2 30:9 58:18 59:1,7 190:22 191:1 253:20	full- 59:1 83:11
flex 223:18 235:22	88:14, 15,17 93:3 107:17 126:1, 20 140:8, 22 147:14 182:22 242:1, 3,7,13	form 27:15 97:10 138:24 210:5	Fran 210:12 222:22	16:7 29:2 30:9 58:18 59:1,7 190:22 191:1 253:20	full- 59:1 83:11
flexed 223:20	88:14, 15,17 93:3 107:17 126:1, 20 140:8, 22 147:14 182:22 242:1, 3,7,13	formal 237:16	franchis e 211:17 216:4	16:7 29:2 30:9 58:18 59:1,7 190:22 191:1 253:20	full- 59:1 83:11
flexing 232:18 234:18 235:21	88:14, 15,17 93:3 107:17 126:1, 20 140:8, 22 147:14 182:22 242:1, 3,7,13	formed 86:15	Francis 211:2,4	16:7 29:2 30:9 58:18 59:1,7 190:22 191:1 253:20	full- 59:1 83:11
flip 33:4	88:14, 15,17 93:3 107:17 126:1, 20 140:8, 22 147:14 182:22 242:1, 3,7,13	formula 48:16 113:4	frank	16:7 29:2 30:9 58:18 59:1,7 190:22 191:1 253:20	full- 59:1 83:11

6:4	220:14	15, 19,	FY18	gave	generate
28:22	266:3	21	27:22	108:7	d
32:7,	269:7, 9	202:15	FY24	152:21	27:8, 24
13, 16	272:12	240:5	25:22	174:20	28:6, 19
33:9,	277:19	267:4	33:4	202:22	31:2
16, 21,	288:22	270:18,	FY25	general	33:7
23 35:8	289:2, 5	20	28:7	32:7,	40:16
36:8, 14	fundamen	funds	31:3	12, 15	45:18
37:3, 9,	tal	26:24	FY26	33:9,	75:6
12	74:1	27:5, 10	26:2	16, 21	281:13,
38:5,	funded	53:5	28:11,	35:8	16, 18
13, 18	11:22	56:9	15 30:7	36:8, 14	generate
39:9,	38:10	115:17,	34:9	38:13	s
15, 18,	58:19	23	FY35	39:18,	45:19
20 40:4	63:5, 6	116:5	28:15	20 40:4	generati
41:2, 5	71:17,	153:5		41:1, 5	ng
46:4, 22	21	180:6	G	46:4, 21	35:2
47:10	114:16	241:2	gain	47:10	42:7
49:10	178:3	269:4	168:2	50:2, 4	278:11
50:2, 4	201:18	future	gaining	61:18	generati
54:9	funding	19:4	121:19	62:23	ons
56:15	6:8, 10,	20:18	gallon	74:20	74:5
59:21	12, 20	65:1	249:7	78:21,	286:8
60:15	7:8, 22	79:17	gap	22	gentlema
61:18	32:8	108:15	69:12	94:20,	n
62:23	51:1	119:2, 4	75:6	22	188:21
64:18	52:13,	166:17	gas	114:1	gestatio
69:10	19 62:2	180:10	96:10	115:13	nal
73:3, 5	64:11	204:11,	249:8	121:17	146:3
74:20	71:20	13	gather	126:24	159:23
78:21,	78:6	205:8	163:13	128:17	get all
22	81:19,	207:17	237:21	147:20	63:12
79:16	22	209:9	Gatorade	162:17	162:24
93:19	84:23	240:2	260:21	187:8	get-go
94:17,	179:1	270:18	gauge	226:1	8:20
20, 22	186:4	271:3	160:17	229:17	give
114:1	188:9	274:19	Gauthier	266:6	7:23
128:14	193:21	288:22	236:4	269:7	19:7
131:4	194:21	FY		289:5	21:7
146:7	199:10	25:23		generate	
165:15	201:1,			28:10	
207:17					

27:6	289:10	129:4	71:4	grandmom	Green
41:5	God's	150:17	90:4	175:18	231:24
75:4	78:22	163:19	115:6	176:1	grew
77:2, 11	Godbom(	174:20	123:15	granted	214:1
79:20	ph)	175:8,	128:11,	64:22	224:7,
102:1	275:16	10	16	grants	11, 14
108:22	Goins	177:18	135:15	29:20	grocer
113:17	210:14	182:3	139:20	183:9,	76:14
157:8	222:4, 5	192:11	189:7	10	81:5
159:13	227:23	200:6	GPHCC	241:5	83:15
194:13	234:23	207:15	237:15	graph	87:20
227:24	235:3,	211:5	grade	153:17	grocerie
246:23	9, 19	216:19	202:24	grave	s
251:16	236:6	235:20	224:9,	146:15	10:17
255:1	249:10,	237:7	10	great	89:7
283:12	22	241:17	234:12	18:20	155:19
giving	250:7,	252:21	gradual	24:2	220:8
23:16	21	256:9,	153:5	25:5	Grocers
41:22	252:12	12, 13	graduall	54:16	85:15
42:8	good	268:16	y	55:12	grocery
73:20	4:16	278:14,	28:3	72:10	81:10
77:15	18:19	21	graduate	102:8	82:20
137:2	24:14	283:7	91:22	146:11	96:9
187:4	25:14,	285:13	graduate	156:18	112:10
228:12,	15 26:9	goods	d	159:6	196:11
17	40:14,	99:18	224:12	169:2	220:7
glad	21 52:9	150:22	grandchi	182:4	242:12
25:19	57:18	244:11	ldren	199:24	243:12,
95:3	60:11	governin	118:20	207:16	16
131:6, 9	74:2	g	granddau	289:2	244:3
132:23	80:15	227:13	ghter	greater	263:7
goal	81:5	governme	176:2	24:14	ground
99:16	84:2, 12	nt	grandkid	199:12	244:24
164:17	85:6	7:16	s	210:16	group
181:22	86:18	41:19	232:20	225:3	116:18
186:20	95:4	43:8	233:2,	237:10	117:23
239:16	113:19	58:20	8, 15, 16	256:21	134:9
goals	127:22,	59:24	234:8	264:4	138:20
239:13	23	60:1		265:16	206:20
God	128:3	65:18		279:4	210:6,
		67:16			

15	gun	hall	273:4	harder	40:10
230:12	21:1	102:1, 5	276:11,	107:7	44:19
244:15	guy	110:12	16, 21	hardest	45:6
264:5	63:24	124:10,	280:24	185:12	46:2
268:22	101:23	12, 13	284:16	191:23	52:4
288:14	190:7	188:16	happenin	193:2	53:20
groups	232:2, 4	hallway	g	hardship	55:21
229:12	guys	232:17	44:6	105:12	57:8
257:17	64:10	234:17	79:11	harm	60:22
grow	93:14	237:2	142:1	6:12	62:13
24:19	110:11	hand-in-	144:11,	91:7	63:10
70:10	120:17	hand	12	harmed	65:20
129:5	131:6	109:12	148:7, 9	265:2	66:2
176:12	155:3	handedly	149:16	harmful	75:13,
213:23	207:9	182:7	151:19	118:14	21 78:2
270:3	208:13,	handle	152:1	145:12	80:8
growing	18	108:9	169:19	Harold	101:21
129:8	209:1	206:11	229:14	277:5	103:11,
221:9,	228:17	hanging	274:4	Harrity	15, 19
11	229:3	107:8	happy	4:9	104:16
growth	234:1	112:19	30:18	13:3	105:13
137:18	236:20	happen	68:19	18:13	106:6
guarante	260:4,	21:14	69:1	23:20	107:11,
e	11	36:13	71:14	25:7,	15, 23
188:15	277:11	77:5	118:3	13, 17	108:24
guarante	H	119:14	120:16	26:10	110:4,
ed	half	153:3	200:24	30:21	10
103:12,	60:15	165:4,	289:12	31:5,	111:1
14	61:13	10, 24	hard	13, 19,	119:19
guess	62:19	170:4	43:9, 12	21	124:9
66:16	63:18	201:16	64:21,	33:13	131:8
182:18	76:13	245:1	23	34:4,	136:18,
190:20	189:3, 5	265:8	88:16	15, 19	24
192:5	205:19	288:23	198:6	35:4,	140:4
233:2	218:17	happened	229:20	10, 17	146:18
guidelin	219:24	150:4,	hard-	36:22	147:9
es	247:17	7, 8	268:9	37:15	148:12
227:13	halfway	155:16	hard-	38:9, 20	149:1,
	86:20	157:10	working	39:5,	18
		261:3	101:8	12, 23	150:15
					152:2
					154:12,

21	271:6	91:9	hear	256:1	helps
158:14	272:18	97:19	10:22	263:20	151:22
159:3	275:13,	98:12,	93:11	271:4	hey
167:2	17, 21,	17	108:13	272:3	148:6
168:20	24	99:1, 9,	158:15	283:24	250:10
170:18	276:9,	16	229:23	290:4	high
171:6,	14	109:3,	287:18	hearings	14:21
23	283:17	11, 21	heard	26:16	24:12
172:5,	285:1	140:15	4:19, 23	69:20	91:22
15	286:13,	141:11	158:16	95:11	224:12
173:5,	19	143:5,	179:4	276:24	239:15
11, 17,	287:11,	24	188:20	277:23	high-
20	15	144:15,	201:7,	heart	176:5
174:11,	289:14,	17, 19	20	14:24	185:9
14, 19	24	145:14	202:12	143:11	high-
175:14	harsh	151:9	204:6	180:14	paying
200:3,	78:10	156:16	215:14,	194:24	267:21
16	haven	159:22	16	254:5	high-
203:14	192:14	160:3,	218:4	258:10,	quality
208:10,	head	12, 19	219:8	20	177:22
24	108:3	161:8	245:5	259:2	179:22
210:3,	172:4	162:9	273:16	Heavenly	185:7
21		164:3,	285:15	268:20	186:9,
211:6	headquar	14, 20	hearing	heavily	16
222:1	tered	167:18	4:13	212:19	187:5
225:22	95:8	168:2,	19:1	hell	191:2
226:21	heads	7, 10	24:2	90:10	192:18
227:7,	203:7	171:1	25:5	191:17	197:13
19	Headstar	172:21	81:7	206:6	higher
228:15	t	174:1,	85:4	helped	82:13
231:4	58:17	4, 9, 10	117:12	86:23	83:1
232:9	59:9, 20	178:13	118:9	163:22	85:22
235:11	health	202:12	120:23	helpful	97:10
236:23	14:3	253:19	127:13	40:24	161:13,
237:4	18:24	Health-	135:20	151:3	16, 18
252:20,	19:5	fare(	211:11	171:14	162:3
24	24:8	sic)	231:14	helping	199:14
253:6	30:13	109:13	242:24	208:14	220:3
254:6	43:5,	healthy	250:18	225:13	highest
255:14,	14, 24	83:18	254:9,	288:9	85:24
22	44:7, 11	117:19	17		
256:13					

95:15	121:20	homework	113:3,6	124:1	278:17
98:2,6	123:3,8	177:21	276:23	human	ideas
143:19	128:19	honest	277:23	180:12	85:3
highlight	hitting	78:22	house	189:2	273:22
t	268:10	Honestly	8:6	hundred	285:13
82:9	hold	251:23	183:23	156:6,8	287:20
160:14	13:5	Honickma	212:11	hungry	identify
178:5	26:16	n	househol	268:18	181:11
highligh	237:16	210:14	d	hurdles	199:9
ts	253:8	222:7,8	8:7	84:15	221:5
27:9	260:11	225:14	14:8	hurry	280:7
Hill	holding	228:4,	217:9	268:17	Illinois
216:20	263:19	9,11	236:18	hurt	142:8
hire	holistic	277:6	househol	87:17	illustri
66:13	54:22	honored	ds	88:18	ous
105:19	55:7	225:19	218:2	89:8	202:2
135:24	178:15	honoring	houses	225:8	imagine
155:1	home	241:13	86:20	243:22	10:8
hiring	16:4	hop	how's	288:6	152:11
83:9	100:16	220:5	153:11	hurting	immediat
102:5	160:22	hope	Howell	204:17	ely
106:16	228:8	230:11	241:17,	288:5	153:21
107:24	261:2	241:10	19	hurts	279:5
110:12	277:13,	hoping	Howells	5:8	immutabl
Hispanic	14	135:19	210:15	10:9	e
181:21	284:4,	hospital	huge	Hyman	163:22
210:17	11	178:20	121:20	231:15	impact
237:10	homeboun	212:12	123:8,	hypothes	20:22
Hispanic	d	228:4	18	is	42:3
-owned	10:11	host	126:20	75:8	81:9
239:22	homeless	175:23	154:10		82:9
historic	55:1	hostile	172:20	I	83:3
ally	225:5	118:7,8	174:4,	iced	105:8
108:4	homeowne	hours	10	97:2	111:10
history	rs	83:10	246:6,	idea	123:18
96:19	183:22	102:13,	16	77:15	127:1,3
hit	homes	14	251:17,	263:20	134:16,
87:4	183:21	104:5,9	18	277:17	18
106:2,4		105:5,6	hugely		141:10,

11	143:5	164:19	227:12	30:2	251:19
142:6	144:1	179:20	229:17	96:4	265:14,
150:24	148:21	202:6,	230:23	132:11	18,20
151:6	153:19	7,8	231:2	197:21	279:8
159:22	202:12	212:22	236:15	211:19	increase
163:4	implemen	220:14	239:6	inclusiv	d
164:6	ted	243:15	244:23	e	214:23
174:2	96:20	262:3	249:2	127:8	218:8
178:6	98:1	263:23	271:7	176:7	258:13
200:21	111:16	271:23	283:18	inclusiv	259:3,9
213:20	114:20	importan	incarcer	ity	260:7
217:3	145:21	tly	ation	241:16	267:14,
237:19	155:23	133:7	75:3	income	15
238:17	implicat	239:6	inceptio	17:8,9	279:4,
239:3	ions	improve	n	59:11	14
251:5	237:20	13:22	29:5	107:21	increase
283:9	implore	99:15	32:6	122:3	s
286:4,	202:16	improvem	171:10	123:8	28:24
12	importan	ent	include	132:16,	increasi
impacted	ce	160:19	123:5	20	ng
42:6	200:19	238:21	126:14,	158:3	266:14
85:2	240:9	improvem	18	161:15	270:23
102:12	importan	ents	153:12	188:22	incredib
109:2	t	29:18	155:4	189:15,	le
124:4	6:4	239:8	178:20	22	86:21
145:9	13:21	improvin	238:7	197:15	144:14
243:14	14:15	g	included	217:9	145:17
impactin	24:7	14:1	122:10	220:3	164:15
g	54:7,18	164:20	130:19	incomes	175:2
68:8	55:7	inaudibl	155:7	14:8	180:23
135:1,	66:12	e	253:23	increase	184:16
14	67:5,6	40:9	includes	10:3	incredib
161:23	70:12,	43:8	38:17	22:16	ly
impacts	15 76:3	57:9	65:14	98:3	164:19
76:23	94:24	62:7	85:14	125:16	indirect
83:5	95:10	145:12	96:11	201:2	238:17
89:16	131:7	164:10	104:11	218:16,	individu
96:24	137:17	181:18	includin	17,22	al
124:1	142:19	194:15	g	219:1,2	117:13
128:9	161:2	199:2	27:1	223:6	
142:11					

130:8	135:12,	226:8	inspire	interest	271:1
135:6	15	256:2	199:19	ed	invested
171:2	149:13	264:19	instance	118:10	40:18
243:19	158:8	informed	167:5	interest	investin
individu	217:1	191:11,	instance	ing	g
alized	221:10	13	s	51:21	13:19
176:15	242:4,	infrastr	83:13	113:12	74:7, 10
individu	19	ucture	105:9	internal	212:19
als	243:17	19:18	Institut	214:11	240:9
171:5	251:6	179:17	e	interrup	270:5
190:18	256:23	ingredie	212:10	tion	investme
indulgin	276:24	nt	institut	35:14	nt
g	279:3,	27:17	ed	65:8	19:17
234:15	18	initiall	278:7	interven	29:23
industri	280:8	y	instruct	tion	30:5
es	282:4,	68:23	ion	191:13	41:22
84:11	15	initiate	176:15	intricat	42:17
85:2	283:3	d	instrume	e	55:13
141:22	industry	237:21	ntal	129:3	67:2
148:4	's	initiati	181:7,	intrigui	68:14
industry	99:7	ng	15	ng	74:17
72:5, 15	infant	112:16	insuranc	114:4	164:16
81:11	60:9	initiati	e	introduc	240:2
82:11,	197:19	ve	91:10	ed	241:12
15, 20	infants	27:3	intake	4:12	269:6,
83:15	96:12	29:16	162:4	9:3	10
85:24	influenc	58:18	intended	175:13	investme
96:15	e	initiati	6:3	200:15	nts
99:12,	101:16	ves	32:13,	intuitiv	16:24
23	influenc	53:24	18	e	17:20
101:1	ed	199:11	33:18	151:8	187:16
102:13	109:7	input	36:20	invaluab	213:17
104:6	informat	271:13	interact	le	277:20
108:23	ion	inside	257:14	27:1	invisibl
121:18	159:7,	169:8	interest	invest	e
123:24	13	273:3	81:6	41:21	93:10
126:12	162:20	insight	264:21	42:2	invoice
129:4,	172:17,	125:8		66:21	219:4, 7
6, 7	18			177:11	226:14
130:9	174:20				247:21

involved	22	Jefferso	280:1,	11	jump
18:23	items	n	11	261:10,	118:16
49:17	93:7	228:3	282:6	11	143:1
72:14	130:2, 3	Jennifer	283:7	267:15,	220:6
84:22	243:11	210:16	jobs	18, 23,	jumping
277:2	249:19	237:8	9:13, 15	24	62:24
283:23	250:5	jeopardy	14:13	268:11	Juniata
288:11	iteratio	201:21	20:11	279:12	212:24
involves	n	Jersey	42:12	280:12,	justifie
137:23	121:5	100:23	66:9	19, 22	d
Iowa		216:21	67:9, 10	286:22	47:22
7:4	J	224:1	68:8	John	
ironic	Jack	234:21	70:13	80:4	K
178:9	216:11	235:13	85:1	95:5	K-12
isolate	218:4	257:6	105:15,	204:23	180:15,
150:23	229:6	Jevs	22	join	18
issuance	jacked	189:2	110:7	44:24	keeping
12:18	279:7	Jimmy	136:17	joined	139:13
issue	Jacob	232:23	146:23	13:10	Kendra
74:1	254:4	job	147:1	26:18	13:12
81:14	jail	4:21	150:16	joining	52:5, 6
116:8,	21:5	9:23	152:13	253:11	111:4
16	Jeff	10:6	153:3,	Jones	Kenney
119:9	76:16	12:3, 5,	6, 14	231:6, 8	227:3
171:20	80:4	15	156:7,	235:1,	232:24
189:9	85:7	15:18	8, 11, 12	7, 17, 23	Kensingt
issues	102:11	102:2	158:3,	236:8	on
14:23	105:3	105:16	16	237:1	284:3
43:24	120:1	109:21	179:5,	Journal	key
64:16	131:9	110:13,	7, 10	97:20	50:24
73:24	158:9,	16	183:5	joy	87:6
114:2	15	124:8	185:24	90:9	194:11
117:4	215:16	149:12	187:8, 9	juices	Keystone
129:3	218:21	158:6, 7	202:5,	97:3	181:17
161:14	220:9	189:13	6, 7	215:24	keyword
265:24	242:17	191:23	216:9,	219:22	192:23
284:9	252:6	198:19	22, 23	July	Khamidov
item	287:3	242:18	233:13,	97:20	255:18
251:2,		267:21	15		
17, 19,		279:21	246:20		
			251:6,		

256:12, 16 kid 234:11 kids 6:24 7:23 16:23 17:16 34:6,9 35:12 38:6 39:13 66:7 78:7 79:4,16 119:1 124:14 130:14 132:11, 12 137:16 138:4 175:3 180:23 182:7, 16 184:10, 17,21 185:22 187:22 192:6, 7,11 195:6 197:12 204:10, 11 207:18 232:5,7 234:9 236:12,	15 274:3, 20 277:20 278:20 286:7 289:9 kill 115:11 130:8 223:12 killer 10:6 kind 6:23 34:2 50:22 89:23 90:23, 24 105:14 108:5 121:7 126:9 146:20 151:6 168:11 181:10 245:18 252:9, 12,13, 14 266:17 kinderga rten 58:1 177:8 270:1 275:4 kinds	20:11 22:10 72:18 257:16 knew 120:2 knowing 24:21 278:6 Kunkel 79:24 140:5 174:21 210:9 253:2 254:7, 13,20 289:21 L label 50:23 labor 4:20 26:15 81:24 82:7 83:1 84:5 106:16 117:24 178:12 211:6 280:3 290:6 lack 5:15 100:6 109:18, 19	184:23 210:7 lacking 186:13 lady 92:13, 18 lagging 162:19 163:9 laid 100:4 101:24 102:3 Landau 23:21, 22 53:21, 22 54:5,13 large 4:23 9:13 24:11 largely 84:3 larger 65:18 83:3 84:15 249:5 largest 81:2 97:11 213:2 277:12 lasting 213:19	lastly 42:22 Latonya 275:16 Laverne 255:19 268:19 law 88:4 219:2, 10 226:9, 14,15 247:20 laws 64:15 laying 154:5 Layla 275:15 layman's 196:3 layoffs 4:21 102:16 142:23 lead 102:16 241:11 leader 9:17 134:6 212:22 leaders 187:9, 11 188:3 212:5 257:11	leading 86:16 100:15 149:3 151:11 169:10 League 212:7 leaning 250:6 learn 70:11 182:18 270:3 learners 200:22 270:5 learning 29:1,11 175:3 176:10 180:1, 23 200:11 228:9 leave 16:4 64:24 90:14 91:1 101:9 112:7 129:13 186:10 215:2 234:24 252:19 leaving 190:1 233:16
--	---	--	---	--	---

led	191:14	180:7	link	23	locally
83:8	198:8	181:8	150:10,	85:19	213:18
left	199:21	278:21	18	118:19,	located
45:23	246:21	life-	links	20	102:22
90:18	288:2	changing	201:5	190:24	238:5
187:14	levels	16:9	liquid	211:22	location
211:7	132:16,	lifeline	143:15,	252:23	105:10
223:10	20	180:5	18	259:23	location
234:20	levied	269:12	Lisa	260:13	s
leg-up	96:7	lifelong	255:18	282:23	106:13
6:18	97:8	118:18	list	284:2	locked
8:1	liberate	180:1	51:12	lives	197:2
legislat	d	lifesave	222:13	20:6	logistic
ion	231:13	r	253:13	24:23	s
128:3	Liberty	176:24	listen	86:23	261:11
138:19	210:13	lifetime	207:20	92:22	long
legislat	211:3,	74:6	237:3	living	38:24
ive	4,9	lift	listenin	5:14	71:4
134:5,9	215:19	84:10	g	104:22	86:2
legislat	216:2	lifting	222:18	257:5	95:19
or	219:11	15:13	231:14	270:22	145:16
264:17	220:12	light	lists	loans	162:7
legislat	229:7	12:24	27:15	61:17,	202:14
ure	librarie	lights	liter	21	222:17
81:20	s	194:15	89:4	206:1	231:13
lens	29:18	likes	111:21	local	236:10,
174:9	76:10	230:2	literacy	4:24	11
Leonard	164:3	Limekiln	14:3	60:1	256:1
80:3,13	239:10	246:5	literall	80:15	263:22
Let alon	Library	limit	y	95:7	267:1
e	30:10	48:8,13	231:20	96:17	271:14
194:9	253:21	254:22	liters	99:20	272:2,3
level	lie	limited	261:7	100:3,	long-
11:7	287:22	244:9	live	8,9	lasting
59:13	life	limits	17:21	101:12	225:12
77:4	13:22	220:6	23:12	106:2	long-
146:9	19:7	lines	39:13	130:17	term
170:24	74:3	119:11	68:10	135:24	107:3
171:3	112:12		80:22,	178:7	221:6
				196:11	

longer	91:9	113:16	133:9	115:2	
106:22	113:8	146:23	139:5	161:24	M
143:18	179:10,	147:1	158:23	164:22	made
189:13	17	152:15	165:3	low-wage	10:19,
193:13	187:7	153:14	167:21	84:11	20
198:14	207:19	158:16	175:20,	lower	24:16
223:21	246:19	179:5, 7	23	107:21	92:4
longer -	251:6,	181:15	214:8	108:3	98:16,
term	11	185:20	216:21	150:19	24
170:2	loss	191:11	218:3	280:20	158:19
looked	4:21	217:3,	225:4	lower -	166:10
26:5	5:20	4, 13,	227:24	161:14	173:2
141:14,	9:17	15, 16	243:20	lowest -	192:22
18, 19	12:15	219:23	247:4	income	203:17
142:4	106:11,	234:16	251:7	143:20	213:7,
148:18	13	263:9,	252:1	145:3	17
lose	113:2,	10, 12	256:1	loyal	230:7
90:22	5, 6, 9	279:12	263:6	108:10	232:16
91:13	128:11	286:22	266:15	Lozada	241:9
92:24	137:12,	lot	281:24	66:3, 4	268:20
93:16	14	32:4	lots	69:2, 14	283:3
94:3	153:3	47:23	68:21	71:23	286:2
109:21	158:2, 3	49:16	142:24	76:2	Mahal
110:16	217:9	70:3	love	119:21	16:18
115:11,	241:10	83:20	117:22	133:23	Mahals
12	267:14	87:7	124:19	213:12	11:12
136:4	268:11	88:11,	128:21	228:24	17:19
138:12	losses	22	156:18	229:5,	18:4, 11
152:13	149:12	91:18,	199:12	22	22:23
179:16	280:11	21	233:14,	236:2	maintain
188:10	282:7	93:23	16	244:13	38:19
195:24	lost	94:13	281:15,	271:10	major
196:1, 4	68:7	104:4	17	lucky	13:24
198:14	70:3	112:21	low	194:8,	95:16
261:9,	88:17	113:8	17:8	10	148:21
10	100:7,	115:1	82:11	luxury	221:15
loses	10	119:9	low -	183:22	majority
110:13	105:17	130:6,	income		55:11
losing	109:16	13, 18,	5:23		82:19
78:14	110:7	23	97:14		85:11
	112:3, 4	132:8			

make	163:1, 2	133:24	margin	175:1,	MBA
6:6, 15	166:5,	138:13	243:18,	7, 8	202:21
8:11	21	171:7	23	matter	Mcdonald
10:16	169:22	174:4	margins	7:17	212:11
11:18	183:5	188:24	244:8	37:19	Mcgorry
17:1	184:17	194:7	Maria	47:17,	210:13
21:15,	186:20	making	282:20	18, 20	211:1,
20	187:12	8:5, 10	Marita	61:6	2, 4
22:9,	188:3	19:3, 4,	278:1	64:5	222:15
11, 16	189:8	5 69:12	marital	137:11	226:12,
23:10	195:9	73:16	100:15	184:11	24
24:5, 13	196:14	74:2	marked	195:6,	227:10
55:18	198:11,	129:7	214:22	7, 11	229:19
61:24	20	133:13	market	201:8,	247:1
64:20	201:16	143:8	105:16	10	248:8
67:13,	203:22	146:12	216:7,	202:14	249:4
21	204:21	158:9,	10	255:7	251:13
71:18	206:4,	10	220:23	273:14,	MD
72:15	5, 7, 14	163:4	markets	24	180:21
73:11	208:2	169:21	81:4	283:1	meals
74:14	209:5,	189:19	96:9	285:6	43:23
77:12	24	193:18	214:21	288:17	182:19
79:1	221:7	194:6	markup	mattered	meaning
84:2	231:2, 5	272:22	247:15	184:9	100:9
88:11	233:4	288:14	married	matters	165:7
90:3	236:21	male	15:16	97:11	meaningful
97:11	243:21	193:7	mascot	201:5	145:5
100:24	244:6,	manageable	191:16	mayor	241:11
103:6,	24	le	mass	37:1	means
21	262:23	12:11	144:4	78:13	43:17
111:12	263:11,	manufacturers	Master's	117:3	191:6
122:22	14	66:11	190:17	202:2	193:21
128:7	264:20	70:13	194:9	230:2	197:6
129:17	282:15	136:1	math	232:23	260:5
131:15,	makes	230:17	107:2	289:1	265:4
17	12:13	manufacturing	215:22	Mayor's	280:14
132:21	51:2	68:6	217:18	30:10	281:13
135:22	72:5	267:23	Matos	37:24	meant
142:19	124:22			54:3	166:2
154:4	126:9			253:17	
158:7	130:6				
162:22					

meantime	104:23	mentione	241:19	259:10	121:17
165:12	105:7, 8	d	milks	261:4, 5	134:6
measures	109:4,	68:1	97:5	262:14,	minutes
227:5	16	105:1	million	16	254:23
mechanis	122:12,	122:20	25:22,	263:11,	260:5
ms	14, 22	125:11	23	12, 13	261:2,
241:6	123:16	216:12	26:1, 2	277:10,	14
Medicaid	127:20	238:20	28:1, 6,	14, 19	misnamed
145:2	128:1	243:5	11, 19	281:14	96:2
medical	134:16	274:24	30:4	287:22,	misnomer
109:22	184:8	mentor	31:3, 8,	24	219:8
209:11	211:6	204:23	24	288:1	misrepre
Medicine	231:10	menu	34:11,	289:8	sentatio
140:16	237:13,	156:23	14, 16,	millions	n
medium	18, 22,	merchand	20, 24	73:17	98:19
118:3	23	isers	36:3, 4,	144:2	missed
meeting	239:17	144:4	9, 10,	174:7	22:21
77:20	240:7	merchand	18, 23	228:17,	missing
208:23	241:18	ising	37:17	18	254:14
mega	242:7,	216:22	38:3	242:16	mission
10:21	11, 24	Merchant	39:20	259:12	209:17
member	members'	s	42:18	263:9	mistake
98:21	100:11,	242:1	45:18	273:9	8:20
100:3	13	met	46:15	285:21	10:1
109:20	membersh	277:24	47:13	mind	146:16
232:9	ip	methods	51:5, 18	16:12	misunder
members	82:13	167:21	61:7, 8	90:5	standing
4:22	100:10	metropol	62:11	227:9	250:2
26:11	109:12	itan	63:15,	246:9	misunder
80:16,	110:1,	58:5	16	mine	stood
21	20	mic	78:15	67:1, 7	235:10
81:10	119:1	211:1	94:11	269:5	mitigate
82:2, 21	127:3	Michael	100:11	mines	116:14
83:7, 9	mental	210:15	205:2,	182:21	mixed
84:20	100:14	middle	15, 21	minimum	239:1, 4
91:20	mention	16:19	215:21	11:7	mixers
100:3, 8	64:12	264:10	216:5	98:16	97:3
102:3,	130:12	Mike	217:2,	152:15	
15	202:20		14, 17,	minority	
	243:3		22	87:8, 11	
			225:4		

mobility	21:5	258:15,	57:19	193:3	109:9
14:9	25:21	19	80:16		negotiat
model	32:4, 7,	261:1,	85:7	N	ion
21:13	17	8, 17, 21	95:5	nail	120:24
22:15	33:18	263:2	175:8,	107:9	123:16,
72:8,	35:8	266:24	22	narrow	20
16, 24	36:7, 17	273:13	192:4	268:9	124:20
73:8	37:10,	282:8,	200:7	nation	125:9,
151:18	14	11, 16	Morrow	98:8	19
160:18	38:12	283:4	255:18	national	negotiat
165:11,	42:19	285:5	mother	28:13	ions
15, 23	45:23	286:3	13:15	212:8	138:6
170:1	48:7, 23	money's	183:14	nations	neighbor
176:8	49:13	63:21	224:8	257:17	hood
modeled	61:23	94:15	269:2	nature	17:13
161:11	62:20	206:14	mouthful	104:7	29:24
modeling	67:22	Montgome	140:18	nearby	39:14
161:8	73:20	ry	move	100:23	92:16
162:12	78:19	9:12, 21	48:21	238:22	284:7
moderate	87:14	76:15,	79:12	neck	287:8
17:8	90:2	16	133:4	88:3	neighbor
modest	91:1, 4	216:18	136:8	needed	hoods
28:16	94:1	month	205:5	22:8	5:15
mom	113:8	93:23	225:24	34:5	54:17
191:24	114:23	155:17	253:1	47:13	68:15
257:23	115:4	237:20	287:21	56:15	88:9
mom-and-	121:19	260:15	moved	119:11	107:12
pop	129:7	monthly	216:15	180:16	131:20
4:24	132:8	260:17	235:2	235:15	212:2
moment	133:18	months	movement	277:10	217:11
109:15	138:4, 9	155:12	81:24	negative	238:6
151:16	140:1	278:1	267:16	83:3	264:9
moms	162:7	moon	moving	142:5	268:2
178:22	204:21	43:21	101:11	negotiat	270:4
money	205:5, 6	morning	multiple	e	neighbor
9:9	206:15,	18:19	141:3	138:8	ing
11:9,	22	25:14,	146:14	negotiat	211:14
13, 18	207:19,	16	172:23	ing	s
12:16	24	26:10	MVP		78:1
	225:17	52:9, 10			
	227:21				
	245:15				

284:5	non-	November	106:5		10, 21
287:12	union	89:18	146:21	0	171:9
288:5	82:16,	93:22	152:6,	O'NEILL	172:1, 7
netting	23	106:20	22	4:2, 3	173:10
144:9	nonprofi	126:21	156:10	8:15, 17	174:2
neutral	t	182:13	157:4	45:7, 8,	265:19
73:20	29:21	number	159:9,	14, 22	observed
104:18	86:16	28:8	14	46:7,	238:21
nice	88:4	31:6,	161:11	13, 23	observin
242:18	200:10	11, 12,	168:23	47:5	g
night	224:23	15	170:20	48:15,	149:5
284:4	225:4	58:3, 6	171:8,	19	obstacle
nightmar	noose	74:19	10	51:8, 17	101:10
e	88:2	75:1	216:8	54:21	occur
189:23	North	81:14	220:18	61:15	113:11
Nina	16:19	86:22	243:21	O'ROURKE	occurs
18:16	17:6, 23	89:24	280:8	80:4	182:13
159:17	92:22	105:24	287:22	95:4, 6	267:12
ninth	219:17	106:3	numbers-	109:1,	offering
157:14	222:10	123:11	wise	10	29:1
no-	223:9	143:4	56:2	110:8,	office
brainer	238:6	154:24	Numerous	18	30:9,
177:10	Northeas	200:22	98:9	116:20	10, 11
nobody's	t	201:17	nurture	117:1	31:6
209:12	17:22	215:1	199:19	118:15	37:2
273:17	190:14	246:12	nurturin	obesity	38:1
nodding	196:20	numbers	g	6:4	49:16
172:3	notably	26:3, 4,	270:2	143:10	51:10
non-	238:20	6 31:18	nutritio	145:5	120:5,
alcoholi	note	37:5, 22	n	146:2	10
c	221:13	38:22	140:9,	150:20	124:16
27:12	231:5	39:7	23	151:10,	227:15
260:22	noted	44:3	nutritio	19	231:15,
261:7,	238:16	51:22	nal	156:19	16
20	notes	61:10	143:15	167:5,	253:17,
non-food	125:2	63:2, 3,	nuts	15	18
107:19	notion	24 64:5	143:17	168:3,	officer
	18:10	70:24	Nutter	8, 15	87:24
		74:17	227:2	169:1	200:9
		75:9		170:8,	222:7
		79:21			

officers 178:21	269:22	26:13	288:15	ounce 27:19	owner 257:9
offset 238:15	opening 4:11	30:17	oral 143:12	96:22	258:1
Ogontz 246:6	8:16	175:9,	order 24:22	218:17	260:9
Ohio 80:20	74:22	11	47:4	247:17	268:20
Oklahoma 7:4	268:11	176:10	93:7	279:6	owners 77:7
older 235:24	opens 49:11	178:16	112:10	out-of-school-time 17:10	96:16
Olympics 212:10	operate 41:10	179:12	124:12,	53:12	101:13
one's 98:18	85:9	181:1	15	201:9	178:8
156:15	222:9	182:16,	133:5,	outcome 168:2	240:4
onerous 95:18	223:7	17	18	outcomes 14:1	257:8
101:18	242:11	187:2,	155:22	44:7	Oxford 217:7
ongoing 5:22	operates 238:9	19	227:21	72:18	Ozer 254:4
77:20	operatin g	200:13	230:22	167:18	P
ongoingl y	41:18	201:6	organic 233:5	174:1	p.m. 290:8
116:18	48:7, 23	211:10	organiza tion	outdated 95:18	PA 5:22
onus 72:14	49:8	225:11	175:19	outrageo us	Pacific 264:11
open 16:2	222:6	237:12	180:24	208:5	pack 218:12,
120:17	230:18	240:22	182:6	overdue 95:19	18
194:18	operativ e	241:1,	229:9	overfund ed	packages 82:18
214:13	276:17	20	264:12	11:22	packs 249:5
263:6	operator s	276:7	267:2	overnigh t	paid 33:21
282:5	87:5, 6,	opposed 150:3	268:6	overpric ed	49:7
opened 19:19	19	151:24	organiza tions	18:5	50:1, 3
93:3	opinion 104:21	282:13	29:22	overstat ing	74:23
	117:14	oppositi on	118:2	151:1	91:5
	opioid 73:15	opting 5:3	212:6		130:20
	opportun ity	226:5	257:11		
	20:17	278:6	organize r		
	21:24	288:20	120:6, 8		
		options 59:2	original 233:6		
		131:10	238:2		
		135:18	239:13		
		271:19			
		278:3			

190:21	paramete	13	particip	97:9	6 52:19
206:3	rs	parochia	ate	111:19,	60:6
260:8	101:17	l	19:22	24	61:14,
pain	132:15	118:23	177:2	219:9	24
97:8	227:13	part	parties	passing	65:3,
99:21	pardons	12:15	201:1	219:9	11, 13
palatabl	88:6	22:21	partner	passiona	73:6, 7
e	parent	45:20	134:12	te	74:4
130:7	16:5	48:24	partneri	212:18	78:6
252:8	183:16	54:2	ng	passthro	79:3
pandemic	185:19	69:9, 17	137:21	ugh	85:21
87:4	189:11	72:11	213:12	97:21	89:2
183:3	191:17	75:14	partners	past	93:8
188:7,	parents	76:20	68:6	119:3	94:19
9, 20	14:6	87:6	82:6	181:12	95:2
195:2	15:15,	92:2	99:23	182:8	114:18
269:16	16	122:5	212:5	200:12	115:7
panel	16:3, 11	123:13	partners	path	122:2
25:10	20:6, 10	125:23	hip	14:11	125:13
55:12	42:7	130:16	29:8	117:6, 7	138:4
57:7, 12	74:21	132:18	partners	163:19	139:23
136:22	191:20,	143:6, 7	hips	195:4	205:7
140:6	22	151:3	29:21	patience	206:24
174:22	202:21	157:1	212:13	255:23	207:21
178:11,	207:8	192:20	parts	271:13	219:5
12, 13	park	193:1, 3	80:19	272:2	247:22,
208:8	186:8	214:4	pass	275:22	23
210:10	259:18	245:24	7:10	patient	259:17
245:3	Parker	267:20	43:9, 12	185:15	260:11
271:9	284:12	275:1	219:1	255:3	261:21,
panels	parks	part-	226:9,	28:13	24
276:2	17:11	time	13	patterns	262:1
paper	29:18	104:7	277:8	279:18	263:3
142:14	30:9	part-	passage	pay	275:8
paperboa	48:3	timers	279:20	34:5	280:20
rd	238:22	104:5	passed	35:5,	paycheck
213:5	239:9	particip	10:4	11, 21	16:4
papers	253:20	ant	64:15	36:1, 4,	paying
141:3	258:3	209:10	84:4	9 40:3,	6:16
	262:8,				15:21
					35:18

36:15	108:5,	44:11,	139:5	251:10	percenta
42:8, 9,	13	22	145:3	252:17	ge
10	penetrat	50:12	155:17	253:13	56:4
46:24	ion	53:14	165:8	257:13	107:21
47:9, 20	107:22	55:19	166:3, 5	259:23,	125:17,
48:3, 5	pennies	56:16	167:9,	24	18
49:24	285:23	68:9, 16	12	260:16	173:6,
61:4, 5	Pennsylv	70:4, 9	168:24	261:6,	15, 19,
64:7	ania	71:8	171:4	18	21
78:23	58:22	76:3	177:14,	262:6	251:18
79:8	80:14,	80:1	16	263:6	273:18
83:16	19	86:1	178:23	266:10,	Perelman
90:18	115:24	87:20,	187:7	11	140:15
92:23	116:5	23	189:5,	267:19	period
94:7	140:17	88:1,	17	268:2,	151:15
126:5	169:14	15, 24	190:3	13	169:16
131:24	242:1	89:17	192:24	272:20	263:22
159:12	256:24	90:5,	193:3	274:15	267:1
204:15	Pennsylv	11, 13,	195:18	282:2,	Perkins
216:16,	anians	18, 19	204:17,	17	57:16,
17	242:9	91:1,	18	283:10,	18, 20
218:3	penny	12, 16	208:20	22	58:16
248:17,	218:16	92:1, 10	211:16,	285:14	59:17
22	247:17	93:10	22	287:18	60:2, 8,
249:23	pension	97:1, 14	215:2	people's	17
250:1	104:15	103:16	216:8	99:9, 14	perpetra
274:22	people	105:9,	218:13	Pepsi	tors
275:7	6:15	19, 21	220:21	9:14	21:3, 4
289:7	8:9	106:20	221:23	137:9	persiste
pays	10:9,	107:19	222:24	233:20	d
61:23	11, 14	114:12	223:20	260:6,	144:7
90:12	11:7	120:13	224:21	20	person
92:20	17:2	123:12	225:8,	279:10	8:6
190:22	18:8	126:14	13, 18	perceive	25:20
peanuts	21:20	128:19	228:6,	d	90:12
160:2	24:4, 18	129:6	10, 12,	5:12	117:18,
Pedialyt	41:11,	132:23	14	percent	21
e	21	133:2	235:12,	244:1	183:6
96:11	43:14,	137:9,	16	251:18,	191:5
peers	17	21	236:13	22	196:6
		138:7,	243:20		
		21	249:6, 8		

203:17	18:1	16	224:3	Philadel	19, 23
personal	19:23	142:16	225:14,	phians	111:3, 5
100:13	21:8	145:6	19	22:3, 4	113:20
personal	24:22	158:1	228:13	86:10	115:16,
ly	27:21	162:1	233:14	101:14	19
11:23	29:3, 9	166:4	234:20	164:21	116:23
16:21	41:8	167:14	237:10,	177:7	117:10
155:5	43:1	169:9,	14	224:20	119:17
persons	54:17	13, 15	238:6	282:9	Philly
202:19	56:17	170:14,	242:10	philanth	17:23,
perspect	57:24	21	243:7	ropic	24 27:2
ive	58:2,	173:8	246:17,	72:13	88:20
19:2	15, 21	177:16,	20, 23	89:22	89:1
114:3	65:2	18	251:12	90:1	92:22,
120:9	66:23	181:13,	252:17	225:17	23
144:15	70:2	18	253:21	philanth	107:14
264:1,	71:7	183:18	254:2	ropical	144:5,
16	73:23	184:6,	256:17,	139:1	20
perspect	76:21	13	21	226:5	168:4, 5
ives	79:8	186:19	257:3, 6	philanth	170:9,
271:15	80:16,	198:17	259:17,	ropists	11
Pew	22	201:3	22	277:4	171:19
63:24	81:1, 18	210:17	260:13,	philanth	173:16
PFMA	83:10	211:13,	14	ropy	175:24
210:15	85:10,	21, 23	261:5,	137:22	176:4,
242:2,	16	212:1, 9	24	277:18	7, 19
10	87:10	213:22	263:9	Phillips	177:9,
244:20	95:9, 14	214:2,	264:4,	4:6, 7	24
pharmaci	97:18	3, 4, 7,	14	55:22,	178:6,
es	98:2	8, 17	265:5,	23	19
144:3	100:18	215:23	13	56:13,	179:16
Philadel	103:4	216:10	268:21	24	202:3
phia	106:18	217:1,	274:20	57:6,	203:8
9:15, 22	108:8	11	Philadel	10, 19	219:17
10:13	116:12	218:2	phia's	58:14	261:9
13:18	121:17	220:22	81:21	59:14,	PHL
15:2, 6	122:18	221:8,	Philadel	22	59:20
16:7, 20	123:4	14, 23	phian	60:3,	187:3, 8
17:6, 7	130:23	223:4,	118:18	14, 18	190:21
	132:13	7, 10,	186:20	75:18,	268:23
	139:4	14, 21,			269:20
	141:1,	22, 23			

270:7 PHLPREK 186:3 phone 200:22 physical 215:21 physicia n 181:6 185:12 193:10 pick 32:1 115:10 149:7 251:17 272:4 picked 215:6 216:14 232:3 picket 119:11 127:15 picking 50:15 piggybac k 72:2 159:21 pike 64:13 127:10 128:10 139:16, 19 246:5	pile 220:8 piss 17:14 pivot 21:12, 22, 24 22:2 pivots 72:16 place 32:20 41:14 63:1 70:9 110:15 121:3 124:19 129:4 169:1 207:4 223:3 placemen ts 55:1 places 17:10, 15 66:7 71:8 136:3 145:8 151:20 169:20 224:3 plan 28:15 38:17, 19 40:7 51:4 63:7, 8	65:12, 14 71:17, 22 106:23, 24 137:8, 23 139:12 planning 269:19 plant 9:14 212:24 213:1 219:18 233:21 282:21, 22, 24 plastic 213:4, 6, 7 plastic- recycled 213:8 play 17:16 61:1 70:10 99:8 226:19 playgrou nd 11:15, 17 playgrou nds 11:2, 6, 10, 20 49:11	54:2, 16 playing 83:22 plug 74:19 231:17 pocket 126:5 260:12 262:2 263:3 pockets 162:8 point 8:23 38:3 41:4 63:19 64:20 78:10 91:2 95:13 102:8 117:8 159:1 160:22 162:23 163:3, 8 164:24 166:22 173:15, 19, 21 202:4 244:14 245:20 246:18 277:7, 21 279:1 289:16	pointing 250:8 276:9 points 141:5 223:1 273:18 police 55:4 70:7 75:2 178:21 212:7 policies 140:23 142:23 172:24 policy 140:9, 15 145:10 172:10 173:1 241:4 politics 273:3 poor 10:11 92:21 128:20 204:17 224:14 poorer 224:14 poorest 5:14 91:5 266:11 268:13	popular 15:3 populati on 145:2 174:6 261:4, 5 262:11 populati ons 169:22 portion 36:15 216:19 241:1 portions 216:20 position 81:13 187:13 195:23 237:16 position s 83:12 113:7 positive 141:7 202:11 239:5 positive ly 131:17 post 163:4 posted 285:16 pot 245:16
--	--	--	--	--	---

potential 163:15 171:21	predicated 27:4	66:6,19 76:7 77:2,15	220:16 224:6, 11,16	19 prescribed 247:16	prevalence 145:6 151:10, 20
potentially 165:13 194:18	predict 166:16	79:6,9 87:1,4, 18 92:5	230:20 233:9 236:12, 14,16	prescribes 247:20	168:8, 15 173:10
pounds 213:6	predominantly 218:14	93:17 114:2, 12,14,	239:10, 15	present 4:8	prevent 15:17 18:7
poverty 24:12 59:13 189:21 194:5 270:12	preference 215:10	16,20 118:24 121:3	252:14 258:1 259:19	156:9 162:12, 21	previous 51:23
power 109:8 203:1 215:13 217:10	Prek 6:5,8, 17 7:3, 24 8:3 10:1,2, 3 12:10	122:18 123:4 129:18 130:15 131:16, 19	262:8 266:3 267:4 268:23 269:20 270:20 280:20	163:14 229:10 264:2 presented 159:22 258:8	previously 200:17
Powerade 260:21	13:18, 23 14:6 15:1,6, 12 16:1 20:14 27:2 28:24 29:2,5 32:8 35:5, 11,22 45:11 46:18 47:6, 14,23 52:14, 24 54:1 56:6, 17,19 57:16 58:23 59:20 62:20	138:22 163:24 164:10 175:24 176:4, 19 177:10, 24 178:6, 19 179:16 180:9 187:3, 8,24 188:11 190:21 191:2, 14 192:18 193:22 199:16 200:19 201:2,8 208:4	Prek's 176:7 Preliminary 237:24 preschool 14:19 58:18 59:2,8 184:19, 20 197:4 232:21, 23 preschooler 197:20 prescribe 247:18,	preserve 66:19 67:9 136:15, 16 preserving 116:13 President 125:7 126:8 222:6 237:9 254:2 pressure 112:22 pretty 217:24 278:14	price 98:3 184:13 218:7 245:13, 20 246:3,7 279:4, 15 281:4, 8,12 priced 245:9, 20 246:8, 15,21 248:6 prices 97:10 236:19 238:15 260:7 279:8

pricing 111:13	prison 234:12	261:19	9 13:18	272:13, 15	182:21
pride 95:14 212:3	private 72:4, 22 184:18	product 72:17 219:23 224:6, 11	15:4, 7, 12 16:1, 17 30:9 32:5, 20 33:1 47:9, 22, 23 48:2 49:5	program' s 29:5	184:24 185:22, 23, 24 186:3 187:17, 24
primarily 121:16 238:5	problem 69:18, 20 77:21 103:1 107:6 112:7, 11 114:7 116:4, 7 130:1 230:3, 8 250:20 262:19 275:23 279:17	producti on 213:1		programm ing 29:2 186:16	190:11 195:1 196:12 197:10 198:12 199:13 200:12 201:9 220:15 221:7 230:21 239:11 253:17 269:14
primary 99:16		products 96:8 99:6, 19 101:2 111:23 126:24 138:2 146:12 150:22 215:23 243:19 273:7, 9, 10 285:19, 20, 22	51:14 53:13 58:23 63:22 64:18 65:3, 4 67:6 78:14 79:16 114:14 121:2 122:18, 19 123:3 139:13 176:21 180:6 181:16, 17 185:8 190:23 196:18 197:8 204:22 205:8 207:16 263:21 268:22, 24 269:4, 20	programs 27:1, 4, 9 28:22 32:22 33:3, 6 35:1 36:19 37:13 38:14 45:20 46:11, 21 52:13, 21, 22 53:9, 13 55:6 62:10 65:15 66:20 67:23 68:2, 12 69:8 70:8 71:16, 21 93:17 118:11 122:15 124:3 134:17 136:15 177:13	
prior 19:21 52:15 114:13 117:2					
prioriti es 54:3 79:2, 3 205:4 289:2	problems 93:6 100:16 108:19 143:12, 22 230:5 266:15	professi onal 238:8			prohibit ion 243:8
prioriti ze 136:7		professi ons 14:16			project 37:7 51:12, 15 63:8 120:7 220:19 228:8 277:13
prioriti zed 70:22 71:11 136:7	proceed 80:10 229:2	Professo r 140:14 159:19			
priority 78:13 92:6 95:1 193:16 240:6 269:18 270:19 271:2	process 18:23 69:9 114:21	profound 213:19			Project- by- 51:14
	produce 145:13	program 11:4 12:1, 8,			projecte d 25:24
	produced 74:18				

28:1, 10	67:8	268:23	22	pushed	73:17
33:12	136:15,	provider	255:5, 9	273:8	112:21
36:13	16	s	266:6	put	132:8
98:11	180:8	14:14,	280:2	4:21	284:22
101:6	230:16	21	289:23	5:18	
165:24	protecti	121:23	290:2	7:18	Q
projecti	ng	178:9	publicly	22:1	qualify
on	67:23	179:1	147:5	32:20	68:13,
31:7	85:1	197:4	publishe	39:17	16
165:19	99:9	238:9	d	47:1, 4,	115:3
projecti	180:9	270:6	97:19	6 55:15	122:20
ons	proud	providin	142:4,	58:16	123:2
48:1	175:17	g	14	63:15,	178:3
63:12	186:19	36:20	publishi	17	189:14,
166:10	208:3	53:11	ng	88:14	19
projects	213:3	83:17	141:2	105:15	197:16
10:21	214:3, 9	150:3	pulse	133:1	quality
28:15	268:23	psychiat	88:1	138:20	13:22
30:2, 6	proudly	ric	punishes	183:20	14:21
50:16	190:16	109:23	100:20	203:7	16:18
258:3, 5	211:13	public	purchase	205:11,	17:10,
262:5, 8	prove	6:5	s	14	20
promise	75:9	29:19	100:24	219:3, 6	23:1, 2
189:21	proven	30:13	pure	223:3,	29:1
promised	98:10	35:20	42:23	23	176:6
98:13	provide	43:5	160:2	224:1	185:2,
promotio	16:1	81:21,	Purnell	226:14	3, 10
n	18:7	22 82:3	80:4,	247:21	200:11
189:12	176:5	84:24	12, 13	250:23	239:15
192:1	181:1	98:16	102:7	puts	question
properly	197:5	118:22	103:13,	14:11	33:14,
94:14	200:14	174:4,	18, 22	47:8	15
proposed	241:20	9, 10	104:24	58:22	40:21
238:3	266:4	239:9	105:23	92:19	41:24
prosperi	provided	240:9,	131:3	putting	45:9
ty	26:20	18	purpose	37:24	52:12
19:8	253:13	253:2,	10:18	38:2, 12	54:8
protect	provider	14	180:13	42:18	56:1, 19
66:19	193:8	254:9,		47:6	57:3, 22
	200:11	12, 18,		61:12	62:5
				62:19	

65:19	142:21	186:19	ready	reason	61:5,
66:16	159:16	238:1	64:14	99:10	16, 19,
67:11,	161:2	raising	121:24	101:8	20
17 68:5	174:12	238:15	177:7	113:19	62:21
73:19	208:8	ran	188:10	132:19	67:4
110:6	245:1	121:16	221:3	134:22	77:3
116:9	271:9	234:17	reaffirm	135:3	114:2
139:23,	Quetcy	272:15	229:8	140:21	121:4
24	213:11	randomly	real	154:1	205:23
152:3	quick	126:9	39:7	162:13	220:17
157:19	27:8	ranges	46:14	183:2	252:15
161:1	45:9	97:22	86:2	196:15,	rebuilt
167:3	225:23	215:24	101:3	21	16:16
168:22	229:1	rapidly	159:9	198:17	rec
171:24	288:3	58:4	163:17	262:20	29:19
199:4, 6	Quinones	278:16	199:5	278:23	30:9
226:2	282:20	rate	219:14	280:23	53:4
229:1, 3	quit	24:12	225:23	reasons	76:9
247:3	100:4	95:15	227:1,	142:22	164:2
249:2	quo	170:12	4, 8	Rebuild	253:20
263:24	132:9	197:22	244:7	11:5, 24	receding
271:11	quote	280:20	268:3	12:4, 8,	165:7
275:8	158:16	rated	274:18	13	receipt
288:17,	234:22	239:4	278:23	16:14,	27:5
18		rates	realisti	17	receipts
question	R	78:17	c	22:21	28:3
s	race	150:20	128:8	27:3	receive
26:22	84:18	161:13	277:21	29:15	82:13
30:16,	races	162:3	reality	30:2, 5	176:15
18	209:16	reach	63:14	34:22	194:3
44:21	raise	88:7	78:10	36:2	received
56:21	193:24	191:5	124:21	45:16,	30:1
95:3	277:15	react	126:1	24 46:8	193:24
111:9	raised	9:16	127:16	47:1, 9,	receivin
120:1, 3	15:8	read	226:6	12, 17,	g
121:7,	16:6	233:10	realize	20 49:5	74:20
10	87:14	234:11	184:7	50:2, 13	101:20
123:10	161:3	253:12	reap	51:13	recently
127:11	181:19		84:18	52:2, 14	68:24
133:21				53:5	
136:22				54:1	

recipients 190:13	recreation 16:15, 18 17:11 23:2 48:3 49:2 66:21 262:8	reduction 54:23, 24 55:2 105:4 107:4 144:6, 23,24 145:5 168:18 202:13 215:20	regional 96:14 regions 58:5 214:18 register 248:6 regressive 8:23,24 9:6,7,8 10:7,8 12:14 91:3 95:20 161:20, 22	reliable 177:3 232:12 relief 108:22 113:17 reluctantly 100:4 rely 91:12 178:18 remain 111:14 240:5 remained 104:18 remains 219:12 remarks 4:11 13:12 remember 93:9 231:15 273:3 remind 121:13 remodeled 86:2 remove 29:10 removing 134:17 reopened 195:3	repeal 146:16 266:19 repealed 221:16, 21 repealing 201:17 repetitive 134:2 218:5 replace 165:13 266:21 replaced 213:4 replenish 74:14 reported 238:15 reports 52:2 represent 9:11 70:5 80:21 103:10 135:10 representative 266:2 representatives 26:18
reconcile 92:3	recreations 258:4 259:19 262:14	reductions 83:11 103:5 146:1,2	Reed 275:15 reflect 212:14 reflects 214:14 215:8 217:13 refrigeration 16:23 refrigerator 16:22 43:20 Reginald 210:14 222:5 Reginald's 227:23	regular 52:2 250:14 reinstated 126:22 reinvested 241:2 reiterated 19:2 78:4 related 34:12, 23 264:15 relates 71:7 relative 151:20	reconcile 92:3 record 56:4 72:21 80:10 81:12 88:2 144:17 165:22 166:5 168:7 171:1 200:23 226:18 236:3 253:15 276:13, 23 records 88:5 91:19 recourse 64:9 recovered 110:20
red 12:3 244:5 reduce 95:17 258:9, 19 266:19 reduced 5:7 28:13 42:24 43:17 213:5, 10 243:9 reduces 217:9 reducing 14:2 73:9 99:14 165:16 201:18					

30:15, 20 represent ts 10:24 30:4 242:6 264:5 required 235:14 requirem ent 59:10 requirem ents 91:15 94:5 research 15:5 141:5, 12 145:24 research er 145:15 Research ers 142:7 resident 256:16 resident s 4:18 5:23 114:15 115:2,3 220:4 242:15 263:1	resoluti on 4:13 26:14 175:12 181:2 200:15 254:9 resolve 117:5 119:8 resolved 91:11 94:2 resource 6:5 36:21 150:18 185:17 191:8 resource s 6:12 20:14 22:18 37:11 89:23 165:5 190:4 191:21, 22 193:20 272:11, 16 respect 199:22 236:19 243:23	respectf ully 71:9 101:15 136:14 respond 70:20 230:6, 19 responde d 238:4 responde nt 238:21 240:15 responde nts 239:7 response 73:15 136:23 174:13 208:9 response s 239:3 responsi bility 72:7 rest 27:6 131:21 restate 222:16 restaura nt 260:10 261:14	restaura nts 238:7 261:12, 13 263:7 264:6,7 restruct ure 209:10 result 5:5 56:7 70:4 103:5 135:20 267:10 271:16 resulted 215:20 resultin g 109:17 results 238:24 retail 27:20 81:10 82:12, 20 83:14 97:10 103:3, 20 218:7 238:8 242:7 243:24 248:2 280:6	retailer 144:3 219:3 226:13 247:19 retailer s 248:10 266:9 rethink 94:17 retireme nt 82:14 return 164:15 278:14 returnin g 86:17, 22 reused 213:8 revenue 15:8 20:3 21:7 27:8 33:2 40:16 41:23 42:5,11 43:17 44:18 51:6 56:5 67:19 73:5,9, 19 74:11,	12,18, 21,24 75:5 94:10 98:12 106:19 113:2, 4,6 136:4 146:11 154:20 180:5 215:13 240:16 241:10 243:9 244:6 245:11, 19,23 252:13 253:24 278:3, 5,7,12 283:8 revenues 28:20, 21 39:3 46:4 48:11 49:8 93:20, 21 101:7 155:13 267:12 rich 88:24 Richards on 223:17 235:20
--	--	---	---	--	---

236:5	39:8	237:7, 8	Roseanna		102:12,
rid	44:20	role	's	S	14
76:6	45:9	99:8	184:24	sacrific	105:2,
79:5	46:14	175:16	roster	e	4, 6
113:14	52:9	roles	189:3	92:4, 7	107:4
131:16	55:24	117:3	rough	241:11	153:20
172:7	60:24	193:11	106:20	sadly	171:15
203:21	63:11,	Ronald	roughly	280:20	214:17,
204:7,	19	212:11	89:12	safe	20
19	166:10	roof	217:2	17:15	215:5
208:4	Roberto	15:15	rounding	18:7	216:13,
ridiculo	140:8,	155:14	251:24	66:7	19, 23
us	12, 14	room	routes	70:8, 9	217:13,
96:12	147:4	47:7	235:5	71:8	16, 19,
208:6	148:2,	76:4	Roxborou	177:4	23
rights	17	133:2	gh	178:24	218:10
195:17	149:3,	137:5	86:3	179:22	235:5,
Rim	22	138:16,	Rue	192:14	14, 15
264:11	150:13	22	23:21	270:2	243:6,
rings	151:2	172:12	52:5	safeguar	14, 18
213:4	153:15	177:17	53:21	d	251:23
ripple	154:19	182:2	run	18:24	263:12
5:6	158:5,	198:19	117:15	sake	265:15,
rise	18	206:20	127:15	254:24	16, 20
41:23	159:19	241:22	225:1, 4	salaries	sample
risk	160:24	272:21	running	100:10,	145:1
65:17,	164:8	274:18	178:24	11	San
24	166:24	287:18	224:24	109:16	262:10
179:17	167:17	root	284:13	salary	Sandy
201:18	169:5	124:23	rush	100:7	85:20
risks	170:23	185:9	268:17	104:12	86:14
99:1	171:12	rooted	Russian	194:4	sat
Rites	172:3,	211:24	257:15	197:18	232:24
85:14	9, 19	roots	Russian-	sale	278:2
road	173:9,	136:3	speaking	144:6	save
206:19	14, 18,	Rosanna	257:13	280:23	185:22
Rob	23	174:24	ruthless	sales	saved
25:12	174:17	175:8,	90:24	98:7	89:5
26:11	Rodrigue	15		100:2, 6	saving
	z				15:22
	210:16				

savings	46:18	209:8	sense	211:13	setting
55:3	47:15	260:1	40:15	239:22	193:23
162:9	52:14	secondar	67:13,	service	199:14
scale	53:9	y	14	26:16	204:12
32:22,	54:1	164:18	129:17	189:2	settled
23	76:9	sector	134:1	221:22	107:5
174:4,	81:21	72:13	138:14	238:9	seventh
10	121:4	137:22	171:7	290:7	157:13
scared	164:1	180:17	265:6	services	severe
274:2	165:1	266:7	267:7	8:3	69:21
schedule	187:20	280:6	senseles	13:7	shaking
209:11	239:10	sectors	s	21:7	120:1
scholar	273:13	72:12	203:5	22:7,	share
181:21	science	178:14	separate	10,12	88:10
186:22	167:19	secure	33:23	41:6	147:8
scholars	scientif	6:10	65:10	73:4,7	sharing
181:23	ic	81:19	257:21	74:15	271:15
school	162:18	84:12,	separate	75:4	sheet
14:7,11	scientis	23	d	109:4	254:14
22:14	t	security	183:14	124:6	shelf
29:9,10	145:14	196:24	SEPTA	239:9	248:7,
35:20	scraps	selectin	178:20	240:10,	9,19
78:7	23:13	g	196:22	19	shelter
81:22	scrimp	150:1	270:18,	256:18	183:12,
91:22	23:8	sell	20	serving	13,19
116:2	script	72:19	series	7:1	192:5
118:21,	121:8	219:21	97:16,	29:14	shelters
23	Sean	228:6	18	187:20	55:2
140:16	57:15,	238:13	serve	242:15	225:5
181:14	20	252:9	86:7	268:24	shift
184:18	59:15	261:15,	93:12	269:15	215:8
214:2	seat	16	190:16	session	shifted
224:12	188:4	266:9,	213:22	254:19	216:10,
258:2	209:22	10	219:16	set	12
schools	seats	sells	237:9	104:6	shifting
22:6,9,	14:20	248:1	256:19	128:15	79:9
17,19	56:6	seniors	served	132:15	shifts
27:2	58:17,	119:3	29:6	150:14	10:12
29:7,14	21,24	229:16	189:1	277:19	
34:12			203:4		

shit	40:6	22	single	sixth	170:12
65:5	64:5	192:10	15:15	157:12	small
shocked	65:13	247:8	16:3,5	size	5:1
145:10	156:1,	286:20	20:3	24:11	19:19,
233:3	3,5	287:19	86:5	123:1	20
shop	168:6	sideline	135:14	192:8	40:17
76:14,	188:17	s	178:22	204:24	41:3
21	195:11,	86:14	191:24	skeptica	80:19
85:14	12	sides	single-	l	87:8,11
112:8,	199:18,	67:20	182:6	158:8	96:15
13,14	21	69:24	single-	skeptici	101:12
215:3,4	275:2	71:10	handedly	sm	107:20
shopping	280:11,	133:3	196:12	158:21	114:8
10:12	18	286:14	sink	skill	121:12,
144:10	282:6,7	sign	87:21	150:14	15
171:21	showed	260:11	sir	sky	130:6
215:11,	24:3	signific	60:17	283:2	145:4
18	183:9	ant	sisters	slapped	174:3
223:11	showing	4:20	186:24	96:21	178:8
Shoprite	166:20	96:18	sit	121:24	219:15,
76:15	195:13	signs	93:18	slice	18
81:4	282:15	260:2	193:24	46:12	220:1
82:21	shown	silent	sites	50:22	230:17
shops	38:8	127:22	30:1	Slightly	238:5
5:1	shows	similar	144:21	110:9	240:4,
147:16	38:18	93:14	sitting	slots	11
238:8	73:9	145:8	185:15	52:23	241:5
short	215:10	151:21	194:12	56:11,	257:8,
150:16	shut	169:22	222:18	12,15	9,24
short-	77:23	171:18	231:16	59:23	260:2
term	194:16	222:14	259:24	slow	266:7
106:22	5:21	similarl	262:7	46:14	267:23
shot	sick	y	situatio	slow-	smaller
224:13	91:20	73:8	n	down	47:24
shoulder	143:8	115:24	102:10	83:8	smart
s	146:13	simple	situatio	slowed	94:16
193:18	side	70:16	ns	172:7	203:10
show	76:5	sin	4:23	slower	265:11
37:5,23	88:20,	249:19			smarter
					220:21

smelling	society	155:8,9	267:5	230:14	211:18
17:14	184:8	159:12	270:10	solve	223:24
Smith	soda	160:5	276:21,	77:21	234:21
255:19	6:22	165:9,	24	116:7	Southwes
snacks	10:15	17	277:8	278:18	t
16:24	12:7	166:1,3	279:2,	someone'	17:24
150:23	15:22	167:7,	3,4,8	s	107:13
SNAP	38:4,10	10,13	280:8,	126:5	268:21
5:20	43:19	168:4,	23	somethin	space
7:19	45:10	24	281:5	g's	40:19
89:18	47:21,	171:11	282:21	50:8	186:5
91:12	22	179:21	283:3	sons	194:20
93:1,21	49:23,	206:3	284:19	269:3	spaces
94:4,12	24	219:22	285:18	sort	18:8
106:9,	51:13	228:6	sodas	108:7	29:19
14,19,	52:16	231:11	97:2	181:10	66:6
21	61:3	232:2,	216:1	208:21	67:4
107:20,	67:18	4,13	soft	281:20	70:8
22	74:11	234:6	224:24	sorts	82:23
108:18	75:7	235:5,	sold	149:16	163:23
113:11	79:15	24	99:5	sound	spanning
125:22	90:10	236:18	215:23	206:6,7	264:10
126:4	95:23	243:22	216:5	source	spans
146:8	96:13,	245:14	244:12	6:20,21	211:18
182:20	21	246:1	sole	74:11,	speak
snapshot	97:19	249:20,	123:22	13	141:5
217:17	98:4,10	23,24	solely	159:24	237:12
Snickers	99:10,	250:15,	267:5	sources	276:7
143:16	21	20,21	solution	73:5	speaker
160:1	110:24	251:3	84:22	259:20,	254:21
snowball	111:21	258:6,	114:6	21	speakers
152:16	120:7	7,15,	160:11	272:11	254:12
snowball	128:24	23,24	225:13,	sourcing	255:5
s	132:6	259:4,	20	111:13	speaking
205:17	137:13,	6,11,16	solution	Southeas	120:22
social	24	260:8	s	tern	178:4
176:14	141:23	261:15,	86:15	80:14	special
189:4	143:2	23	116:15	Southern	43:20
262:5	146:24	262:12,	192:19		212:10
	147:2	17,22	221:6		
	148:7	263:3			
		264:23			

speciali	spike	stable	standpoi	153:1,2	191:1
st	149:6	6:11,19	nt	155:11	192:15
185:14	Spirit	7:22	225:18	157:17,	193:4
speciali	81:6	37:4	Starbuck	18	200:4
sts	spite	62:2,15	s	269:1	210:23
198:1	278:9	64:11,	92:14,	273:1	222:2
263:13	split	17 78:6	15,19	starting	237:5
specific	11:2	179:1,	start	15:18	274:22
84:15	spoke	11	4:10	210:4	stated
148:11	109:15	201:1	19:6	277:21	222:15
243:10	125:4	staff	27:3	starts	240:16
specific	166:11	121:8	47:12	191:14	273:16
ally	242:17	178:21	74:3	starve	statemen
184:12	spoken	197:23,	78:11	90:6	t
243:3	239:17	24	120:4,	state	8:16
250:13	sports	staffing	15	7:8	35:22
spectrum	97:4	106:16	128:23	14:22	201:12
233:11	215:24	107:24	129:1	25:18	states
spend	spot	111:13	153:5,6	59:24	7:2
11:18	110:14	stamp	154:4,	64:15	58:6
23:4	spread	126:20	16,17	65:17	146:5
32:17	115:14	288:4	170:1	80:9	184:10,
33:5	251:3	stamps	181:5	81:20	11
66:8	266:22	126:2	244:19	82:1	198:15
260:15	spring	stand	256:7,	85:17	274:24
262:13,	41:4	24:22	10	90:2	statewid
15	sprung	86:11	275:3	114:17,	e
spending	40:18	162:5	278:21	24	80:18
5:5	184:6	221:3	283:11	115:6,	stations
33:18	SSP	235:8,	285:3	23	96:10
215:12	95:22	18	289:17	116:5	statisti
217:10	stab	standard	started	122:19	cal
261:8	247:2	199:14	10:6	123:2	169:21
288:9	stabilit	standard	24:1	128:14,	statisti
spent	y	s	25:19	15	cally
11:8	14:4	14:22	47:21	132:21	151:18
49:14	109:6	standing	51:14	139:22	Statisti
259:12	176:23	267:7	91:3	141:17	cs
260:24			101:22	146:8	280:3
			141:2	181:22	
			152:5	186:23	

status 132:9	store 83:13	245:6	stretchi ng 131:11	41:16	138:23
stay 190:11	86:3	263:8	strife 100:16	student 29:12	157:22
staying 208:12	88:17	264:6	strip 197:16	students 29:15	224:17
271:14	90:16	281:10	striving 84:10	82:2	subject 8:19
283:21	102:17	286:24	strong 13:17	187:21	submit 226:15,
stays 153:23	107:6, 19	287:7	stronges t 193:12	studied 140:22	16
steady 154:23	111:17, 18	story 287:20	strongly 239:18	145:15	247:22
Steinber g 254:1	112:4, 15	straight 205:4	struck 226:7	studies 63:23,	submitte d 30:13
stenogra pher 255:2	113:7, 9	strain 5:13, 17	structur e 184:23	24	subsidiz e 47:2
step 77:4	149:4	strategi c 84:7	structur es 21:11	97:18	subsidiz ed 49:6
139:6, 7	182:23	strategy 87:7, 12	struggle 86:13	98:9	subsidy 8:8, 10
173:3	188:23	stream 180:5	struggle d 89:10	162:18	48:6
stick 12:10	244:3	201:19	struggle s 93:11	275:2	189:14,
stood 20:16	281:6	street 204:23	struggli ng	279:1	20
stop 59:7	85:10	284:3, 12		study 141:13	substant ial 218:1
71:20	88:14	streets 73:6		142:10	substitu te 27:17
220:9, 23	89:10, 13 93:3	94:21		151:6	232:12
252:4	96:9	196:23		152:19	suburb 214:21
262:21	104:1	strength en 195:21		153:9, 11, 22	suburban 88:22
271:3	106:12	199:10		155:3, 21	184:15
287:2	107:7	270:4		163:8	186:17
stopped 114:21	112:2, 14, 18, 24	stress 183:16		170:3	suburbs 85:13
stopping 21:1	137:16	stretch 138:1		217:13	90:14,
	196:11			studying 140:24	
	242:8, 12			stuff 63:13	
	243:13			64:12	
				79:10, 22	
				125:22	
				131:11	
				132:17	

16	95:21	273:7	suppleme	15:4	surprise
100:23	96:5, 23	281:3	nting	231:3	d
112:9	97:12	285:20	46:3, 8,	239:8	94:9
130:2	98:6, 18	suggest	22	supporte	surround
186:7	99:6, 15	54:15	supplier	r	ing
224:2	100:18	suggeste	238:19	13:17	10:13
251:10	101:3,	d	supply	Supporte	170:14
succeed	18	279:22	242:14	rs	214:21
14:10	125:10,	suggesti	243:1	98:14	223:5
succeedi	15, 16	ng	support	supporti	246:17
ng	143:16,	146:6	5:24	ng	survey
275:5	18	238:22	15:1	121:12	152:3
success	150:21	suggesti	16:10	199:2	237:21
29:12	155:12,	on	29:11	240:18	238:2
199:9	23	10:2	42:11	supporti	survival
successf	156:21,	suggests	56:6	ve	114:9
ul	22	32:10	82:1	229:11	survives
166:1	160:3,	150:18	84:23	supports	243:17
sucked	7, 13	suicides	109:3	29:16	survivor
108:11	180:3	100:18	114:1	114:8	192:2
sucks	238:14	supermar	175:22	175:19	survivor
186:8	249:24	ket	177:12	179:18	s
sudden	250:4,	102:4	178:16	supposed	231:11
154:2	5, 12,	103:21	179:15	41:7	sustain
169:24	16, 19,	196:16,	188:13	62:4	6:23
sufferin	22, 24	17	196:11	79:20	121:3
g	251:4	197:1	212:6	206:10	201:15
143:21	282:13	250:24	214:10	253:9	221:7
186:15	sugar -	287:9,	228:22	273:6	245:17
suffers	based	13	236:10	284:21	263:21
186:13	sugars	supermar	239:18	285:17,	272:17
233:10	156:24	kets	241:6	18	sustaina
sufficie	sugary	141:23	252:13,	287:17	bility
nt	99:2, 19	144:4	14, 15	surcharg	212:21
52:19	126:24	148:9	258:4	e	232:11
sugar	143:6, 7	Supersto	262:7	284:23	270:9
27:16	153:20	res	supporte	surprise	sustaina
42:24	161:18	85:9	d	165:20	ble
92:19	162:3		9:5	232:22	36:1
	179:24				

129:23	sweetene		34:13,	talking	taste
131:15	r	T	17	17:23	215:9
203:23,	27:16	table	162:19	36:6	tax
24	sweetene	22:2	289:4	44:3	4:15
225:12	rs	66:18	taking	60:9,13	5:12,18
230:14	96:24	70:18	35:3	65:16,	6:3,22
251:9	101:4	80:7	125:3	21 66:1	9:1
266:24	sweeteni	124:2	152:9,	104:10	10:3,8
267:8	ng	128:8	24	117:3	12:7
sustaine	97:3	134:23	153:13	122:15	15:9,11
d	sweets	140:11	173:1,3	125:9,	19:12
154:7	260:22	175:6	198:22	20	24:6
240:5	swim	188:5	215:12,	126:4,	26:18,
sustaini	87:21	202:4	15,17	22	24
ng	switch	209:4,	279:19	128:13,	27:7,
118:11	206:5	22	286:20	16	11,18,
sweetene	sympathe	210:20	talk	135:9,	23,24
d	tic	255:13,	4:11	11,13	28:2,3,
15:8	92:10	21	22:5,20	161:20	5,17,
26:17	syrup	272:9,	30:24	163:16	18,21
27:19	27:13	14	44:12,	182:9	31:1
28:14	system	275:20	13	195:15	33:7
43:11	35:20	tackle	50:13	208:4	35:2,8,
81:8	82:4	161:7	69:7	216:8	24
95:12,	144:19	172:24	141:4,	tangible	36:16
21	181:14	tag	8,10	99:7	37:4,
96:1,3,	183:13	184:13	192:19	tape	10,13
4,5	192:5	248:18,	196:8	12:3	38:4,11
97:12	199:16	19	284:14	target	42:9
98:6	213:2	Taj	talked	147:22	43:7,9,
100:19	systemat	11:12	28:23	targetin	11
101:18	ically	16:17	42:23	g	44:17
104:19	142:20	17:19	87:16	145:11	45:10
180:4	systems	18:3,10	102:11	targets	46:3,17
221:17	183:19	22:22,	103:1	99:11	47:21,
238:14		23	105:3	100:24	23
245:8,		take-	119:7	task	48:10
21		264:6	163:20	115:20	49:23,
281:6,		takes	187:7	230:12	24
11,17		12:2	243:4	244:15	51:2,13
					52:16

54:10	103:2	148:6,	214:15,	3, 7	146:6
56:5, 8,	104:19,	20	19	253:24	216:17
12 61:3	22	149:15	215:12	264:23,	220:24
67:18	106:15	150:2,	217:6,	24	243:22
68:2, 7,	108:20	7, 10, 19	19, 20	265:3,	249:16,
22	109:2,	151:1,	218:9,	5, 7, 8,	18
73:10	5, 7	5, 11,	10	11, 13,	258:6,
74:12	110:24	14, 17,	220:5,	23	7, 15, 24
75:7	111:10,	22, 23	18	266:1,	259:4,
76:6	16, 20	152:13,	221:16,	20, 23	6, 11, 16
78:16	113:13,	14	17, 19	267:5,	260:2,
79:1, 15	14, 15	153:1,	223:3	11	12
81:8, 17	115:10,	19	225:21	268:10	261:22
83:7, 21	12	154:5	232:2,	270:11	262:12,
84:9, 14	116:14,	155:8,	4, 13, 14	273:6, 7	17, 23
88:18	21	9, 12, 23	234:6	276:21	263:4
89:12,	120:7	156:22	236:1	277:9	taxing
14	121:21	158:2,	237:14,	278:19	90:10,
90:13,	125:10,	23	17	279:2,	23
17, 19	16	159:12	238:3,	5, 6, 9,	92:2, 13
91:3	128:24	161:17,	16, 23	13, 16,	99:17
92:20,	130:3, 5	20	239:3,	17, 20	115:9
24	132:6	162:5	8, 14	282:12,	130:2
94:7, 8,	133:12,	165:2,	240:17,	13	143:5
10	15	7, 17	22	283:4	157:1
95:12,	135:14	166:1	244:7	285:18,	250:15,
15, 20,	137:13,	167:8	245:14	19, 20	16
22, 23	24	169:10,	247:8,	taxed	taxpayer
96:2, 7,	138:9,	17, 18,	10, 13,	245:13	12:12
13, 19,	24	24	20	250:15	Teach
21	141:1,	170:6,	248:4,	taxes	190:23
97:7,	7, 13,	12, 16	11, 14,	42:8, 10	teacher
19, 21	17, 18,	171:11	15, 17	64:2	176:17
98:5,	23	180:4, 8	249:18,	82:10	182:4
10, 14,	142:11,	184:1	20, 23	83:2	191:15
15	14, 17	201:5,	250:1,	84:13	193:22
99:10,	143:2	18	4, 5, 9,	95:18	194:7
21	144:1, 6	204:17,	19, 20,	108:17	202:6,
100:1,	145:7, 9	19	22, 23	115:13	23
12, 19	146:8,	206:4, 9	251:20,	122:2	257:23,
101:5,	15, 24	211:11	21, 23	145:21	24
19	147:2	213:18	252:2,		

teachers	148:14	testifie	166:23	115:10	67:12,
19:10	158:17	rs	174:16	121:21	14, 15
74:23	tear	289:23	200:5,	122:4	68:13
82:2	233:7	290:1	14	123:19	77:16
175:21	teas	testify	203:15	125:4	78:12
179:6	97:2	25:11,	210:24	131:23	79:11
188:23	216:1	20	222:3	134:15	88:13
189:6	219:22	26:13	237:6	139:3, 8	94:19
190:12,	technica	30:17	241:21	149:21	104:10
22	l	80:2	253:14	155:4,	113:10
194:14	283:19	140:6,	256:8,	20	115:5
196:9	telling	19	11	157:2, 3	122:9
199:17,	63:6	164:6	271:5	165:1	125:8
24	74:8	174:23	275:14	167:23	127:9,
207:7,	146:22	175:11	290:3	171:13	12, 16
11	148:18	210:11	Texas	203:22	130:7
214:6	term	211:10	262:10	205:13	139:10
254:3	106:22	testimon	Thanksgi	225:6, 7	143:1
teaching	162:7	ies	ving	243:2	151:24
202:23	terms	181:1	90:7	251:9	153:4
team	9:7	271:16	that'll	258:14	158:3
141:12	47:24	272:6	165:9	259:9	165:3
161:6	73:4	testimon	theoreti	287:7,	232:8
209:21	104:4	y	cally	24	233:17
teammate	141:9	22:22	216:9	288:22	250:11
s	142:11	26:6, 20	therapis	thing's	251:4, 8
209:21	148:21	27:6	t	37:21	252:16
Teamster	153:19	30:14,	191:15	things	257:22
146:23	196:3	23 31:1	thin	12:24	259:5
156:11	244:17	32:10	10:20	13:21	261:10
Teamster	terrible	45:10	thing	20:23,	265:17
s	11:20	55:24	39:9	24	276:12
8:22	territor	78:3	48:22	21:14	thinking
95:7	y	79:23	50:24	23:5	64:10
96:16	211:17	80:11	62:15	41:15	122:8
99:20	testamen	101:20	69:22	42:15	166:7
100:9	t	105:1	79:12	47:16	194:13
101:12	19:11	117:12	95:2	50:11	282:12
116:10		140:2	105:20	51:2, 7	thinks
147:16		146:19	113:12	65:10,	172:12
		159:20		13	

thought	thriving	181:7	79:14,	tomorrow	169:19
46:5	183:7	193:23	23	163:11	traditio
57:11	230:18	199:20	81:15	ton	nal
155:14	throw	200:1	99:4	225:17	82:11
224:18	133:18	201:20	111:8	282:16	traffic
235:8	207:24	210:2	117:12	tons	238:19
278:12	289:8	216:24	137:1	11:18	243:12
284:14	Timberla	221:22	140:20	top	trained
thoughtful	nd	231:13	175:12	137:13	86:17
ul	192:9	232:20,	181:2,	240:3	transact
93:15	time	24	22	284:23	ions
thoughts	23:4, 24	233:13	182:1, 3	total	144:2
127:11	37:1	240:6	192:18	28:20	transfor
thousand	49:16	254:24	200:14	56:5	m
280:11	50:8	258:23	210:22	82:17	20:18
thousand	65:14	263:22	211:11	216:2	transfor
s	66:8	267:1,	215:14	totally	med
15:23	68:22	13	219:8	180:17	180:7
171:3	76:2	269:19	220:10	totals	transiti
242:14	83:12	284:8	237:12	98:12	on
threat	86:2	289:19,	239:18	touching	254:18
177:15	94:16	20	241:21,	44:2	translat
three-	98:5	time-	24	tough	ing
state	105:11	pressed	242:5	24:13	168:10
257:5	108:20	112:13	253:11	93:23	translat
threshol	113:15	times	256:6	tougher	ion
d	129:9	12:4, 20	258:5	84:3	13:6
59:11	145:16	231:24	272:1	93:24	transpar
123:4	151:14,	232:2	278:24	town	ency
189:15,	16	274:9	279:11	101:11	32:11
22	152:20	tiny	283:15	township	transpar
197:15	158:24	284:3	290:4	265:9	ent
thrive	160:17	tired	toddlers	toxic	214:13
18:9	162:19	284:18	60:9	136:10	240:23
179:14	163:5,	today	token	track	248:13
193:19	10, 12,	12:23	90:8	171:4, 5	trauma
196:14	15	13:7	told	tracking	185:13
198:13	166:11	16:12	282:18	32:11	193:8
	169:17	24:21	283:2		
	171:5	49:13	toll		
	177:13		100:14		

trauma-	131:4	103:24	54:18	129:20	82:24
191:10,	truth	188:24	underser	understo	84:20
12	78:23	189:18	ved	od	95:7
travel	turn		240:13	75:11	96:16,
80:24	8:13	U	understa	184:5	17
treated	83:5	U.S.	nd	underwri	99:20
199:15	86:23	98:4	15:10	te	100:3,
trend	91:24	221:15	21:20	41:12	5, 9
28:12	176:3	256:17	33:20	unemploy	101:12,
151:18	273:10	UFC	35:5, 16	ed	22, 23
166:18,	two-and-	147:1	61:2	123:9	102:5,
20	a-half	148:15	70:16	124:5	20
170:2	142:13	156:12	71:1, 5	196:10	104:17,
tri-	two-	UFCW	75:16	unemploy	22
state	family	80:15	89:2	ment	106:2
264:13	8:6	110:11	94:18,	141:15,	109:6,
trip	two-	Ukraine	23	21	12
10:12,	liter	ns	117:17	142:15	113:3
16	9:18, 24	257:15	129:19	147:6,	116:10
tripled	218:19	umbrella	133:16	11	122:12,
155:14	261:15,	110:23	143:24	148:22	13
troubles	23	264:5	157:21	149:8	123:15,
109:18	two-year	unanimou	164:18	150:11	16, 20
troublin	163:15	sly	166:6	161:5	124:10,
g	type	10:4	169:4	196:8	12, 13
76:11	134:11	undelive	237:19	280:4	126:13
true	135:5	red	240:8	unfair	127:3
42:1	136:10	101:6	243:16	95:20	130:21
152:12	143:9	underpai	246:13	100:20	147:16
270:24	161:13	d	269:24	unfairly	179:5
279:13	180:12	14:15	272:14	99:11	197:12
Trump	267:18	underpri	274:11	uniform	202:7
106:23	types	vileged	276:1	83:21	279:11
Trump's	82:9	92:21	understa	84:13	union-
106:23	264:7	228:10	nding	union	run
trust	typicall	undersco	43:13	77:7	85:20
241:15	y	re	114:19	80:17,	unionize
trustee	102:8,	21:10	understa	18	d
	19		nds	81:13	122:6
					197:6

unions 102:6 131:1 135:13 283:24	unsugary 281:4	Uzbekist an 256:22	view 223:1	Voluntee rs 225:2	175:10 285:10, 11
unique 149:23 187:1 242:23	unsweete ned 245:7, 12, 22 281:7, 11, 14, 19 282:10	Uzbekist anian 257:2	views 137:2	vote 15:1 101:16 234:17	waiting 258:15
united 58:6 147:14 192:6 202:3 203:8	up-to- date 31:11, 17	v	violence 14:12 18:7 21:1 42:6 54:24	voted 12:19, 20 267:3	walk 192:8
units 81:3	updated 28:8 217:7 237:22	vacuum 227:12	violent 70:4, 6	voters 15:2	walked 233:23
universa l 6:5 7:3 76:7 77:2 209:7	UPENN 140:8 144:19	valuable 184:14	Virginia 7:5 80:20 221:18	votes 231:23	walking 127:13
Universi ty 140:17 142:8	upgraded 213:9	valued 199:15	visible 238:23	vulnerab le 4:18 5:13 6:13 91:6	walls 86:19
unlevel 83:22	uphill 5:2	values 86:9, 10 88:10	visited 233:20	W	Walmart 196:24
unlike 21:22 160:1	upkeep 67:3	varies 103:22	visitors 18:21	wage 42:9 82:11 216:16 217:8, 20 220:24	wanted 4:11 6:6 60:5 72:20 78:4 130:12 132:20 143:23 159:20 160:14, 16 163:23 165:21 166:4, 21 229:2 234:14 236:9 276:13 278:24
unnecess ary 12:9	Uplift 86:15	Vermont 7:4	vital 199:13 220:14	wages 82:14 84:12 104:14 217:3, 4, 15	wars 231:11
unstable 126:8 201:22	Upstate 211:20	versus 141:16 173:16 184:15 251:19 281:4	voice 193:5, 6		
	urge 177:15 180:7 198:2 202:16 268:6 278:22 279:23	viable 278:5	volume 108:21 112:3, 5 113:16 150:11 223:4 224:2 243:4, 18	wait 69:18, 20	
		Vice- chair 256:19	voluntar ily 228:22		
		Vice- presiden t 95:6			
		victims 21:2			

Washingt on 7:7	wears 160:8	whatnot 47:15	window 156:12, 13	123:21, 24 195:17	81:1 83:18 84:21
wasting 12:16	week 123:7 198:9	whatsoev er 160:4	Wine 81:5	women- owned 19:20	86:18, 19 88:16
watch 86:7 124:14, 17 206:18	weekend 281:9	who've 225:15	winning 190:18 191:7 198:16	women- ran 121:18	91:14, 17 94:4 98:20 102:23
watched 86:6	weight 168:2 169:20	Whoever' s 255:16	wins 73:1 190:6 209:6, 7	wonderfu lly 164:12	103:7, 8 120:19 124:22
watching 24:20 93:6	welfare 19:1 24:8 109:11, 14, 22	widely 15:3	Wisconsi n 7:5	wonderin g 57:1 122:12 246:3	130:14 134:19 135:21 137:5 138:7, 22
water 246:2	Welfare- to-work 190:13	wider 115:15	wise 265:10	Wondersp ring 175:4 200:9	162:11 179:8, 13 188:18, 23
waters 97:6	well- prepared 176:16 184:21	wife 85:20 86:14	withdraw 110:1	word 194:11 232:17 244:19	190:10 195:20 196:7, 16, 22
wavering 199:18	well- taken 159:2	willingn ess 137:4	withdraw s 109:20	words 61:2 202:1 206:5 244:2 257:20	197:7, 9 203:2 211:22 213:23 221:4 223:21, 22, 24
Wawa 246:4, 11 247:24 248:1, 19, 21	well-to- do 17:9	win 42:21 186:17 191:8 198:18, 20 202:14 256:3	witnesse s 25:10 80:6 175:5 210:19 253:5, 7, 10 255:12, 20 275:11, 19	work 14:7 20:7 21:6 22:1 50:14 74:21 77:6, 13	203:2 213:23 221:4 223:21, 22, 24 224:1 235:4 243:21 258:18 270:8, 21 272:20
ways 6:10 41:11 76:17 113:24 116:14 133:10 146:14 199:9	West 7:5 17:6, 24 80:20 92:22 107:14 221:18	win-win 164:9 233:18, 19 234:4 236:11	woman 193:12		
wealth 19:8		windfall 281:21	women 121:16		

289:12, 19	working 13:23 16:10 33:11 41:16 63:22 84:13 89:21 91:23 99:3 116:18 117:23 123:9 133:3 134:8 138:20 166:21 177:12 199:7 203:3 210:6 219:15 230:12, 18, 23 244:15 278:10 288:14	worried 112:24 worry 168:11 205:9 worrying 123:23 worse 12:14 97:11 wraparou nd 22:7 writing 79:21 written 26:20 30:14 253:14 wrong 13:1 31:15 153:9 274:13	38:8, 13, 17, 18 40:7 45:18 51:4, 19 58:1, 12 61:9 62:11 63:7, 9, 15 65:12, 14 69:13 71:17 78:15 94:11 103:21 105:20 108:7 122:1 123:7 128:6 141:18, 19 148:19 152:4 153:1, 2 155:10 156:2, 3, 5, 7 157:9, 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 158:11 183:11 195:23 196:1 197:14, 18 205:10, 13, 16,	17 206:24 221:20 242:16 244:4 259:10 277:14 280:13 285:7, 8 287:24 yearly 262:15 years 10:5 11:8 28:4, 17 29:4 32:24 36:24 37:22 49:18 58:11 61:12 62:16 63:17 64:3, 4 69:7 81:14 86:5 104:21 118:18 119:8 126:3 130:16 132:6 140:24 142:13 144:8 149:11 151:10 152:8,	21, 23, 24 153:12, 23 154:2, 8, 9, 13, 15, 22 155:4, 6, 22, 24 157:7, 15 159:4, 11, 14 169:9 170:5, 7 176:3 181:12 182:8 189:1 200:12 211:15 220:19 221:18, 20 258:12, 23 260:24 273:1 280:12 yell 284:15 York 80:20 211:19, 20 222:10 223:8 225:3, 5 young 13:20 18:8, 20
worked 43:9, 12 81:23 116:16 183:4 227:14 278:3 worker 103:21 workers 21:16 72:9 80:23 81:3 82:12 83:16 84:1, 10 86:11 147:15 154:5 178:20 179:5 189:4 197:6 216:11 workforc e 82:19 83:6 84:4, 17 134:17 177:2 179:19 212:3 230:16 workforc es 84:16	works 27:7 55:15 114:13 174:3 178:7 188:15 239:14 world 23:7, 12 74:8 145:19 191:24 193:17	X X-ING 121:1 Y year 15:23 27:23 28:9, 15 31:24 33:4 35:21 36:18, 24			

53:14
56:16
70:4,9
71:7
87:19,
22
186:23

youngest

23:14
177:7
184:8
200:21
224:7
270:5

Z

Zakiyyah

175:3
200:8
202:21

zip

189:4
214:21

Zoo

212:9

Zychick

254:4